Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: October 15, 2020 REVISED: January 22, 2021 ACCEPTED: February 15, 2021 PUBLISHED: April 12, 2021

Local Unitarity: a representation of differential cross-sections that is locally free of infrared singularities at any order

Zeno Capatti, Valentin Hirschi, Andrea Pelloni and Ben Ruijl

ETH Zürich, Rämistrasse 101, 8092 Zürich, Switzerland E-mail: zeno.ca@gmail.com, valentin.hirschi@gmail.com, apelloni90@gmail.com, benruyl@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: We propose a novel representation of differential scattering cross-sections that locally realises the direct cancellation of infrared singularities exhibited by its so-called real-emission and virtual degrees of freedom. We take advantage of the Loop-Tree Duality representation of each individual forward-scattering diagram and we prove that the ensuing expression is locally free of infrared divergences, applies at any perturbative order and for any process without initial-state collinear singularities. Divergences for loop momenta with large magnitudes are regulated using local ultraviolet counterterms that reproduce the usual Lagrangian renormalisation procedure of quantum field theories. Our representation is especially suited for a numerical implementation and we demonstrate its practical potential by computing fully numerically and without any IR counterterm the next-to-leading order accurate differential cross-section for the process $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$. We also show first results beyond next-to-leading order by computing interference terms part of the N⁴LO-accurate inclusive cross-section of a $1 \rightarrow 2 + X$ scalar scattering process.

KEYWORDS: Perturbative QCD, Scattering Amplitudes

ARXIV EPRINT: 2010.01068





Contents

1	Int	roduct	ion	1	
2	Foundations of the Local Unitarity representation				
	2.1 Illustrative example: NLO correction to $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$				
		2.1.1	The double-triangle and self-energy supergraphs	5	
		2.1.2	LTD representation and thresholds of the double-triangle supergraph	8	
		2.1.3	Construction of the cross-section	10	
	2.2	Super	graphs	12	
	2.3	Identi	fication of E-surfaces with cuts	15	
	2.4	Pinch	ed E-surfaces and their properties	17	
	2.5	Local	cancellations for final-state radiation within a toy model	20	
3	Loc	al can	cellations of threshold (IR) singularities	22	
	3.1	Illustr	:ative example: NLO correction to $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$	23	
		3.1.1	Soper's rescaling for solving conservation of on-shell energies	24	
		3.1.2	LU representation of double-triangle interferences	25	
		3.1.3	E-surface cancellations for the double-triangle supergraph	26	
	3.2	Proof	of local cancellations of threshold (IR) singularities	30	
		3.2.1	Causal flows	30	
		3.2.2	Visualisation of the causal flow	32	
		3.2.3	The Local Unitarity representation of differential cross-sections	35	
		3.2.4	Cancellation of pinched surfaces	39	
		3.2.5	IR-safe observables and infrared scales	40	
		3.2.6	Soft scaling from the causal flow	42	
		3.2.7	Power-counting of soft singularities	44	
4	Sel	f-energ	gies and IR cancellations in non-abelian gauge theories	45	
	4.1	Propa	gator renormalisation and IR cancellations	45	
5	Generalisations				
	5.1	First steps towards Local Unitarity applicable to initial-state singularities			
	5.2	UV counterterms and renormalisation			
	5.3	Autor	nation and numerical efficiency	50	
		5.3.1	Process generation	51	
		5.3.2	Graph evaluation	51	
		5.3.3	Numerical stability	51	
		5.3.4	Contour deformation	52	
	5.4	Phase	space sampling and variance reduction	53	
		5.4.1	Multi-channelling	53	
		5.4.2	Advanced adaptive sampling	58	

6	Numerical results				
	6.1	NLO correction to $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$			
		6.1.1 The double-triangle supergraph	59		
		6.1.2 Double-triangle supergraph integrand visualisation	61		
		6.1.3 The self-energy supergraph	70		
		6.1.4 Results for the differential cross-section	71		
	6.2	Individual scalar supergraphs	73		
7	Conclusion				
A	Integrated UV counterterms for the NLO correction to $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$				
	A.1	Double-triangle supergraph	78		
	A.2	Self-energy supergraph	79		

1 Introduction

The ever-increasing need for generic and accurate Monte-Carlo simulations for collider experiments spurred the emergence of an entire subfield of the high energy physics community whose research activities are to a large extent motivated by fulfilling this demand. Over the last three decades, physicists pursued this goal by developing new computational techniques and studying the mathematical structure of perturbative computations in Quantum Field Theories (QFTs).

The 1990s saw the development of the first tools¹ for the automatic evaluation of tree-level scattering amplitudes. These efforts were naturally followed up by independent groups working on the corresponding phase-space integration programs, also called event generators, for automatically computing the associated differential cross-sections.² The following decade then witnessed the push for the automation of the computation of Nextto-Leading-Order (NLO) corrections by many members of the aforecited groups. This resulted in the so-called "NLO revolution" that cemented the arguably artificial divide between the task of computing loop amplitudes³ and that of regulating the infrared (IR) divergences of the phase-space integral by means of dedicated counterterms. Over the years, various strategies have been elaborated to this end, first at NLO [19–21] and then at Next-to-Next-to-Leading Order (NNLO) [22-33]. These efforts have been complemented by advances in the analytic computation of (multi-)loop amplitudes that mostly follow a pipeline of distinct processing steps. Amplitudes are first projected onto scalar form factors that are reduced using integration-by-parts identities [34–55] so as to be expressed in terms of a smaller set of *master* integrals. These irreducible loop integrals are then computed by means of differential equations [56-58] which under certain conditions can be

¹E.g. FORM [1, 2], GRACE [3, 4], FEYNARTS [5], MADGRAPH [6], COMPHEP [7] and AMEGIC [8].

²E.g. WHIZHARD [9], MADEVENT [10], SHERPA [11] and CALCHEP [12].

³E.g. MADLOOP [13, 14], OPENLOOPS [15], BLACKHAT [16], GOSAM [17] and RECOLA [18].

solved numerically [59-61] or by leveraging a detailed understanding of the mathematical structure of iterated integrals [62-70] yielding special functions with efficient numerical representations.

The large body of work cited in this concise summary of the state-of-the-art for the computation of higher-order corrections to differential cross-sections is a testament to its many successes and importance for collider phenomenology. However, its more recent progression also signals that the traditional pipeline is arguably facing a complexity barrier that is unlikely to be overcome by incremental progress. Instead, the situation calls for a radical change in methodology for addressing the root cause of this complexity increase, that is IR divergences, more efficiently than the canonical approach. One such alternative is to part ways with the IR subtraction paradigm and aim at accommodating a more direct cancellation of real and virtual degrees of freedom. A possible avenue in that regard is that of the Reverse Unitarity [71–76] approach. This technique turns the phase-space integrals of real-emission contributions into loop integrals so as to reduce the complete set of higher order contributions down to a small set of master integrals and eventually combine their divergences at the integrated level. This method produced milestone predictions for the $N^{3}LO$ corrections to the Higgs hadro-production cross-section [77] as well as $N^{4}LO$ corrections to inclusive two-body decays [78]. However, because of its reliance on a completely analytical treatment of the loop integrals, reverse-unitarity cannot accommodate arbitrary observable functions or complicated multi-scale processes.

Another possible direction is to turn all loop integrals into phase-space integrals that can be performed numerically if the phase-space measure of resolved and unresolved degrees of freedom can be aligned so as to guarantee a local cancellation of all infrared divergences. This is the main goal of our paper and, perhaps contrary to the expectations of many, we show that it is possible to write the differential cross-section for an arbitrary process (without initial-state singularities) and at any perturbative order as an expression that is locally free of any IR singularities. We refer to this rewriting of the differential crosssection as its *Local Unitarity* (LU) representation. Its *Local* aspect stresses the applicability to arbitrary (IR-safe) observables, whereas *Unitarity* highlights the direct combination of real and virtual degrees of freedom, i.e. emission and no-emission evolutions, into finite transition probabilities.

A first attempt at this programme at NLO accuracy goes back to 1999 with the avantgardist work of D. Soper [79–84] who demonstrated its practical viability by applying it to a particular differential observable of the lepto-production of up to three partonic jets. However, the success of the competing approaches discussed earlier in this introduction diverted attention away from this limited form of Local Unitarity. More importantly, its generalisation to arbitrary perturbative orders and processes as well as the computational techniques and resources necessary for its practical implementation were not available at the time. Our work aims at leveraging recent progresses in the generalisation of the multi-Loop Tree Duality (LTD) relation [85–93], in order to provide solid theoretical foundations to Local Unitarity and demonstrate its potential for numerical applications. In particular, the alternative Manifestly Causal LTD (cLTD) representation recently presented in ref. [93] plays a key role in our proof of local IR cancellations in Local Unitarity. In what follows, we will discuss how the radically different perspective adopted by Local Unitarity allows to not *solve* but rather *avoid* altogether traditional core issues of perturbative computations, of which the regularisation of infrared singularities is a prime example.

Since R. Feynman drew his first eponymous diagram in 1948, his graphical representations have been the cornerstone of perturbative computations. Even seventy years later, the theoretical physics community still leans on Feynman diagrams to guide its intuition, although modern techniques use them mostly as a starting point for building the amplitude integrand which is then subject to heavy symbolic manipulations. Instead, our Local Unitarity representation applies individually to each forward scattering diagram, called a supergraph, which encompasses a particular subset of interferences of Feynman diagrams. The LU representation enjoys a straightforward graphical interpretation as it is constructed entirely from the identification and characterisation of the singular surfaces of each supergraph. The type of post-processing and analytic transformations of the integrand of supergraphs in LU implies that it retains a direct correspondence to the diagrammatic origin of each contribution. For example, this helps identify contributions that are non-abelian, n_f -dependent, planar or of electroweak origin. Moreover, LU is formulated in momentum space which facilitates the study of any particular kinematic regime. we apply LTD to analytically integrate over all loop energies of the supergraph. We show that the resulting expression for each supergraph can be made locally finite, even though it is not gauge invariant nor does it satisfy any of the usual universal factorisation properties [94-107]relating processes of different multiplicities close to infrared limits. By relying solely on energy-momentum conservation, Local Unitarity exposes that the mechanism underlying the cancellation of infrared divergences [108-110] in QFT is of purely kinematic origin.

The LU representation realises local IR cancellation by construction so that there is no need for explicitly listing and regularising all singular limits and their overlaps, thereby rendering it de facto valid for arbitrary perturbative orders, both conceptually and in the practical context of numerical computations. We view this characteristic as unique to Local Unitarity and it is directly responsible for LU's universal applicability as the formalism does not depend on the particular theory, scattering process or observables considered. Another defining property of Local Unitarity is that it does not require dimensional regularisation except for its unavoidable introduction when computing the integrated countertpart of the local UV counterterms and imposing that they reproduce results in the commonly used $\overline{\text{MS}}$ renormalisation scheme. Dimensional regularisation [111–113] is a fundamental development from the 1970s which played an essential role in providing a convenient regulator preserving most symmetries. While it allows one to consistently characterise the divergent pieces entering perturbative computations, considering infinitesimal dimensions obfuscates some core properties of amplitudes such as chiral symmetry and the definition of asymptotic states. It also significantly complicates intermediate results and it is not amenable to numerical computations.

The unorthodox approach of Local Unitarity not only provides new theoretical insights on many aspects of the perturbative expansion of scattering cross-sections but also offers practical prospects for computing deeper perturbative corrections. For each relevant section, we first provide a detailed account of the general concepts introduced for the specific illustrative example of the NLO correction to the scattering process $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$. In section 2, we set our notation and introduce the core concept of organising the computation in terms of supergraphs. We then present our main result in eq. (3.38) of section 3 together with the proof of the cancellation of IR singularities that do not involve initial-state splittings. In section 4 we discuss the regularisation of the remaining UV singularities in the Local Unitarity representation. Section 5 provides details about the future generalisation and automated implementation of our method. In section 6, we give quantitative results about the performance of our numerical implementation of LU for the computation of a next-to-leading accurate differential cross-section. We also explicitly verify local IR cancellations beyond next-to-leading order by computing several scalar supergraphs featuring up to five loops. Finally, we give our conclusion in section 7.

2 Foundations of the Local Unitarity representation

The fundamental object underlying any QFT observable calculated perturbatively is the supergraph [79], an entity that generalizes interference diagrams used in scattering amplitudes. More specifically, the supergraph can be seen as the representative of a class of interference diagrams which we will prove to be IR-finite when summed together.

In the following section we will show

- how to rewrite any differential cross-section as a sum over cuts of supergraphs, and give a local representation of each individual supergraph that provides some first insight on how an equivalent local and IR-finite object can be defined. In particular, we will show how to accommodate a global routing common to all interference diagrams referring to the same supergraph class.
- that there is a direct correspondence between connected subgraphs of a supergraph and its threshold (pinched or non-pinched) singularities. This implies that the singularities of an amplitude can be fully characterised by couplets of connected subgraphs of a supergraph (loosely speaking, one subgraph identifies the Cutkosky cut and the other one the actual singular surface).
- that it is possible to fully characterise the notion of pinching in the LTD formalism by identifying singular surfaces for which no valid causal deformation of the loop kinematics is possible because it would either violate the continuity constraints or the singular surface has no well-defined oriented normal.
- that is it possible to accurately study the pattern of IR cancellations, described in more detail in section 3, by considering a simple functional analogue of interference diagrams. We will show that the sum of this analogue of each interference diagram corresponding to the same supergraph is locally finite.

In each section of our paper, including this one, we choose to first address its content by applying it to the explicit example of the NLO computation of the differential crosssection of the scattering process $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$. We find that this approach facilitates the



Figure 1. The two supergraphs Self-Energy (SE, 1a) and Double-Triangle (DT, 1b) contributing to the NLO QCD correction to the cross-section of the process $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma^* \rightarrow d\bar{d}$.

introduction of our notation and the more abstract concepts presented in later parts of each section. This also provides the reader with some first intuition about the inner workings of the method and of its graphical interpretation.

2.1 Illustrative example: NLO correction to $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$

Our example process only involves two supergraphs from which arise all interferences of Feynman diagrams contributing to the amplitudes. We then analyse the threshold structure of these two supergraphs in their LTD representation, and write a formula for cross-sections using the LTD formalism. A locally regularised expression for the NLO correction to the $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$ cross-section has been studied before in ref. [79] and in refs. [114–116].

2.1.1 The double-triangle and self-energy supergraphs

Our first task is to enumerate all supergraphs contributing to our process of interest. Each supergraph encompasses a number of interference diagrams, and the collection of all interference diagrams stemming from all supergraphs reproduces the complete set of interference diagrams whose sum yields the scattering probability. In the specific case of the NLO correction to the $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma^* \rightarrow d\bar{d}$ cross-section, we identify only two distinct supergraphs, which we refer to as the nested Self-Energy (SE) supergraph and the Double-Triangle (DT) supergraph , shown in figure 1. We note that the self-energy supergraph has two isomorphic occurences which we combine into a single representative weighted by a symmetry factor of two (see details in section 5.3).

The two supergraphs Γ^{SE} and Γ^{DT} can be described formally by a couplet of a graph and a set of incoming edges. More precisely, $\Gamma \in {\Gamma^{\text{SE}}, \Gamma^{\text{DT}}}$ can be rewritten as $\Gamma = (G^{\Gamma}, \mathbf{a}^{\Gamma})$, where $G^{\Gamma} = (\mathbf{v}^{\Gamma}, \mathbf{e}^{\Gamma})$ is a graph and \mathbf{a}^{Γ} is a set of initial states. We encode the graph as a couplet of a set of vertices and oriented edges connecting them. We then write $e^{\Gamma} = e_{\text{int}}^{\Gamma} \cup e_{\text{ext}}^{\Gamma}$ so as to distinguish between exterior edges that are connected to a degree-1 exterior vertex and the other interior edges. Since degree-1 vertices are in one-to-one correspondence with external edges, we will exclude them from \mathbf{v}^{Γ} . In summary, both



Figure 2. All three Cutkosky cuts of the self-energy supergraph (2a, 2b and 2c) and all four cuts of the double-triangle supergraph (2d, 2e, 2f and 2g).

self-energy and double-triangle supergraphs can be characterised as follows:

$$\mathbf{a}^{\Gamma} = \{(1,5), (2,5)\}, \quad \mathbf{v}^{\Gamma} = \{5,6,7,8,9,10\}, \quad \mathbf{e}^{\Gamma}_{\text{ext}} = \{(1,5), (2,5), (10,3), (10,4)\}, \quad (2.1)$$
$$\mathbf{e}^{\Gamma}_{\text{in}} = \begin{cases} \{(5,6), (6,7), (7,8), (8,7), (8,9), (9,6), (9,10)\} \text{ if } \Gamma = \Gamma^{\text{se}} \\ \{(5,6), (6,7), (8,7), (8,6), (7,9), (9,8), (9,10)\} \text{ if } \Gamma = \Gamma^{\text{DT}} \end{cases}$$

Whereas edges in \mathbf{e} can in principle be identified from the two vertex labels they connect, we instead choose the more concise single label specified in figure 1.

Each oriented edge e_i is assigned a four-vector q_{e_i} specifying the momentum it carries. We also define the characteristic vector of a set of edges **x** as follows:

$$\chi^{\mathbf{x}} \in \{0,1\}^{|\mathbf{e}^{\Gamma}|} \quad \chi_{e}^{\mathbf{x}} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } e \in \mathbf{x} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases},$$
(2.3)

as well as the following sets of edges for a given set \mathbf{s} of vertices:

$$\delta^{+}(\mathbf{s}) = \left\{ (v, v') \in \mathbf{e}^{\Gamma} \middle| v \in \mathbf{s}, \ v' \in \mathbf{v}^{\Gamma} \setminus \mathbf{s} \right\}$$
(2.4a)

$$\delta^{-}(\mathbf{s}) = \left\{ (v, v') \in \mathbf{e}^{\Gamma} \middle| v' \in \mathbf{s}, \ v \in \mathbf{v}^{\Gamma} \setminus \mathbf{s} \right\},\tag{2.4b}$$

$$\delta(\mathbf{s}) = \delta^+(\mathbf{s}) \cup \delta^-(\mathbf{s}),\tag{2.4c}$$

$$\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s}) = \left\{ (v, v') \in \mathbf{e}^{\Gamma} \middle| v, v' \in \mathbf{s} \right\}.$$
 (2.4d)

The set $\delta^{\pm}(\mathbf{s})$ consists of all edges of the supergraph with only one of the two vertices it connects being part of the set \mathbf{s} . $\delta^{\pm}(\mathbf{s})$ can loosely be defined as the list of edges "entering" (resp. "exiting") the set of edges \mathbf{s} . $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s})$ consists of all edges connecting two vertices in \mathbf{s} , or loosely speaking the "interior" of \mathbf{s} . The momentum conservation condition reads as follows for the explicit example of the subset of vertices $\mathbf{s} = \{7, 8, 9\}$ of the double-triangle supergraph:

$$\sum_{e \in \mathbf{e}} X_e^{\mathbf{s}} q_e := \sum_{e \in \mathbf{e}} (\chi_e^{\delta^+(\mathbf{s})} - \chi_e^{\delta^-(\mathbf{s})}) q_e = q_{e_6} - q_{e_8} - q_{e_{11}} = 0,$$
(2.5)

which simply expresses the constraint that the momenta of the edges in $\delta(\{7, 8, 9\}) = \{e_6, e_8, e_{11}\}$ have to sum up to zero. More specifically, the momenta of the incoming edges $\delta^+(\{7, 8, 9\}) = \{e_6\}$ must sum up to the momenta of the outgoing edges $\delta^-(\{7, 8, 9\}) = \{e_8, e_{11}\}$.

As mentioned earlier, each supergraph is effectively the representative of a class of interference diagrams, each associated to a particular Cutkosky cut of their reference supergraph. Each Cutkosky cut of the supergraph Γ is then defined using a subset of vertices $\mathbf{s} \subset \mathbf{v}^{\Gamma}$ that identifies two connected subgraphs $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s})$ and $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{v}^{\Gamma} \setminus \mathbf{s})$, with the extra constraint that the initial states are contained in \mathbf{s} , that is $\mathbf{a}^{\Gamma} \cap \delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s}) = \mathbf{a}^{\Gamma}$. Perhaps more intuitively, the Cutkosky cut can equivalently be identified using the set of internal "cut" edges $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}^{\Gamma} = \delta(\mathbf{s}) \setminus \mathbf{a}^{\Gamma}$ whose removal divides the supergraph into two connected amplitude graphs.

Let $\mathcal{E}_{s-ch}^{\Gamma}$ be the set of all possible Cutkosky cuts of a given supergraph Γ . This set reads as follows for the two distinct supergraphs of our example process:

$$\mathcal{E}_{\text{s-ch}}^{\Gamma} = \begin{cases} \{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{v} = \{5,6\}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{v} = \{5,6,7,8\}, \mathbf{s}_{1}^{r} = \{5,6,8\}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{r} = \{5,6,7\}\} & \text{if} \quad \Gamma = \Gamma^{\text{DT}} \\ \{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{v} = \{5,6\}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{v} = \{5,6,7,8\}, \mathbf{s}^{r} = \{5,6,7\}\} & \text{if} \quad \Gamma = \Gamma^{\text{SE}}. \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

Observe that we have intentionally left out the Cutkosky cuts $\{5\}$ and $\mathbf{v} \setminus \{10\}$ as these two contributions are vanishing because, on top of having no phase-space support, they can be thought of as being subject to an observable function that is in this case identically zero on cuts containing γ . Using the definition of $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}^{\Gamma}$, graphically represented as a line crossing

all the edges contained in it, we list in figure 2 the three (resp. four) Cutkosky cuts of the self-energy (resp. double-triangle) supergraph.

In most sections featuring this illustrative example process, we focus on the doubletriangle supergraph only for simplicity in which case we suppress the upper index in Γ^{DT} when not ambiguous.

2.1.2 LTD representation and thresholds of the double-triangle supergraph

Our goal is to demonstrate the local cancellation of the IR soft and collinear divergences of the double-triangle supergraph. To this end, we first identify its IR limits by re-expressing the double-triangle *supergraph* integral using its Loop-Tree Duality (LTD) representation [86, 93], where the energy components of the loop momenta are integrated out analytically using residue theorem:

$$M(p_1^{\mu}, p_2^{\mu}) = \sum_{\mathbf{b} \in \mathcal{B}} \int \frac{d^4 \vec{k}'}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{d^4 \vec{l}'}{(2\pi)^3} N \frac{\prod_{e \in \mathbf{b}} \delta^{(\sigma_e^{\mathbf{b}})}(q_e^2 - m_e^2)}{\prod_{e \in \mathbf{e} \setminus \mathbf{b}} (q_e^2 - m_e^2)},$$
(2.7)

where the set \mathcal{B} enumerates all possible momentum bases (or equivalently spanning trees) of the double-triangle supergraph:

$$\mathcal{B} = \{ \mathbf{b}_1 = \{e_8, e_7\}, \mathbf{b}_2 = \{e_6, e_7\}, \mathbf{b}_3 = \{e_7, e_9\}, \mathbf{b}_4 = \{e_7, e_{10}\}, \\ \mathbf{b}_5 = \{e_6, e_9\}, \mathbf{b}_6 = \{e_6, e_{10}\}, \mathbf{b}_7 = \{e_8, e_9\}, \mathbf{b}_8 = \{e_8, e_{10}\} \}$$
(2.8)

and $\sigma^{\mathbf{b}_i}$ are the *cut-structure* signs (see ref. [88]) assigned to each of the edges in \mathbf{b}_i . We show in figure 3 all eight momenta bases $\mathbf{b} \in \mathcal{B}$ of the double-triangle LTD representation together with their corresponding cut structure $\sigma^{\mathbf{b}}$.⁴ Each element in the basis corresponds to a particle becoming on-shell, i.e. it is *cut*. The cut structure $\sigma_e^{\mathbf{b}}$ sign that appears as superscript in the Dirac delta $\delta^{(\sigma_e^{\mathbf{b}})}$ determines on which sheet the on-shell particle resides (the positive or negative energy solution), and is represented in figure 3 as a plus or minus sign associated to each cut.

We note that we opted here to use the original LTD representation of ref. [88], and not the Manifestly Causal (cLTD) variant of ref. [93]. While we will see that the latter plays an important role both in the proof of local IR cancellations and for the numerical stability of our implementation of LU, the former is better suited to highlight the connection of LTD with Cutkosky cuts.

The LTD representation consists of a sum of tree-like graphs that is only singular on bounded, convex (ellipsoid-like) surfaces called E-surfaces in ref. [88]. Even though each individual summand (referred to as *dual integrand*) building this representation is also singular on (hyperboloid-like) H-surfaces, their sum is regular on these surfaces in virtue of a mechanism known as *dual cancellations* [85, 93, 117].

We can now relate the E-surfaces of the LTD representation of the double-triangle supergraph with its Cutkosky cuts. To this end, we first recall what the elements of $\mathcal{E}_{s-ch}^{\Gamma^{DT}}$,

⁴The specific cut structure reported in figure 3 is obtained by analytically integrating over l'^0 and k'^0 using the loop momentum routing of the double-triangle supergraph depicted in figure 2d and choosing to close all energy integral contours in the upper half of complex plane.



Figure 3. The eight loop momentum bases (the inverse of spanning trees) resulting from applying the LTD expression of ref. [88] to the double-triangle topology. The cut structure $\sigma^{\mathbf{b}_i}$ is reported both in the drawings as signs placed next to the LTD cuts as well in the captions as a superscript of the edge labels.

i.e. the set of all Cutkosky cuts of the double-triangle topology (represented in figures 2d-2g) are:

$$\mathcal{E}_{s-ch}^{\Gamma^{DT}} = \{ \mathbf{s}_1^{v}, \mathbf{s}_2^{v}, \mathbf{s}_1^{r}, \mathbf{s}_2^{r} \}.$$
(2.9)

We also introduce the following notation for the on-shell energy of edge e:

$$E_e = \sqrt{\|\vec{q}_e\|^2 + m_e^2},\tag{2.10}$$

where for this particular double-triangle supergraph the propagator masses m_e are 0. An element $\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}$ can be associated to a threshold which, in Minkowski space, corresponds to a singularity of the integrand of the supergraph when energies of the corresponding cut edges take the following on-shell values:

$$q_e^0 = X_e^{\mathbf{s}} E_e, \quad \forall e \in \mathbf{c_s}, \tag{2.11}$$

whereas in the LTD representation, the same singularity is characterised by the following E-surface:

$$\sum_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} E_i - \sum_{j \in \mathbf{a}} E_j = \sum_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} E_i - Q^0 = 0.$$
 (2.12)

We can thus list the LTD representations of all thresholds of the double-triangle supergraph:

$$\eta_{\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{r}}}(\vec{k'},\vec{l'},Q^{0}) = E_{e_{9}} + E_{e_{7}} + E_{e_{8}} - Q^{0}, \quad \eta_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{r}}}(\vec{k'},\vec{l'},Q^{0}) = E_{e_{6}} + E_{e_{7}} + E_{e_{10}} - Q^{0}$$

$$\eta_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}}(\vec{k'},\vec{l'},Q^{0}) = E_{e_{6}} + E_{e_{8}} - Q^{0}, \qquad \eta_{\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}}}(\vec{k'},\vec{l'},Q^{0}) = E_{e_{9}} + E_{e_{10}} - Q^{0}.$$
(2.13)

As we shall see, the particular signs selected for the on-shell energies of the edges being cut stems from the fact that these correspond to the only singular surfaces of the multi-loop LTD representation of the double-triangle supergraph (other than soft configurations). The LTD expression of the double-triangle also involves two additional E-surfaces that we refer to as *internal* as they do not involve Q^0 . Their implicit equation is:

$$E_{e_6} + E_{e_9} + E_{e_7} = 0$$

$$E_{e_8} + E_{e_{10}} + E_{e_7} = 0,$$
(2.14)

which corresponds to the two (non-Cutkosky) cuts identified from the subgraph with the set of vertices $\{7\}$ and $\{8\}$ respectively. The defining equations (2.14) can only be satisfied at soft points so that internal E-surfaces do not correspond to Cutkosky cuts since their phase-space support has no volume. We define

$$\mathcal{E}_{\text{int}} = \{ \mathbf{s}_1^{\circ} = \{7\}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\circ} = \{8\} \}.$$
(2.15)

In order to show more precisely how this correspondence between Cutkosky cuts and thresholds naturally arises within the LTD formalism, we now consider the eight terms of figure 3 whose sum M corresponds to the LTD expression of the double-triangle given in eq. (2.8).

We remind the reader that in virtue of dual-cancellations, H-surfaces are not singularities of M, which thus consist of only the E-surfaces of the form given in eq. (2.13). Graphically, we identify in figure 4 which LTD summands involve each of these four thresholds by separately highlighting the on-shell cuts due to the LTD treatment and the cut indicating a vanishing propagator. This clearly illustrates the correspondence between the Cutkosky cuts and the terms of the LTD representation of the double-triangle supergraph. We observe that the LTD terms containing the thresholds singularities corresponding to the Cutkosky cuts $\mathbf{c_{s_1^v}}$ and $\mathbf{c_{s_2^v}}$ already express the remaining triangle loop as a one-loop LTD expression, also including the correct energy sign for the cut $e_{8,7}^+$ in the first term of figure 4c.

We stress that the key fact underlying the supergraph expression of eq. (2.7) is that the parametric equations of the four Cutkosky cuts, $\eta_{\mathbf{s}} = 0$ with $\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{\text{s-ch}}$, given in eq. (2.13) are the *only* (non-spurious) singular threshold surfaces of the 2-loop LTD representation of the double-triangle, due to the aformentioned dual cancellations. The only other divergences arise from internal propagators having a zero on-shell energy, typically leading to an integrable singularity.

2.1.3 Construction of the cross-section

In this section, we will define the cross section of the process in relation to the singular structure of the two supergraphs. Starting from the golden rule for cross-sections, we collect all possible supergraphs { $\Gamma^{\text{SE}}, \Gamma^{\text{DT}}$ } and their s-channel thresholds $\mathcal{E}_{\text{s-ch}}^{\Gamma^{\text{SE}}}$, $\mathcal{E}_{\text{s-ch}}^{\Gamma^{\text{DT}}}$. We recall that s-channel thresholds of the supergraphs are in one-to-one correspondence with Cutkosky cuts and thus with interference diagrams contributing to the NLO correction to the cross-section of the process.

For every interference diagram, we express each of the two amplitudes (to the left and right of the Cutkosky cut) in their LTD representation. Furthermore, we choose a consistent loop momentum routing for all the interference diagrams corresponding to the



Figure 4. Explicit correspondence between the four Cutkosky cuts of the double-triangle supergraph and the causal threshold surfaces of its 2-loop LTD representation. The loop momenta bases \mathbf{b}_i that are absent from this figure correspond to summands of the LTD expression that contain no E-surface. The propagators circled in red are the ones inducing the causal threshold singularity when becoming on-shell (with a positive or negative on-shell energy depending on the sign above the red circle).

same supergraph. As a consequence, all interference diagrams can be expressed using a common integration measure. This procedure is carefully carried out in section 2.2. For the moment, we state that after having performed these operations, the NLO correction to the inclusive cross-section of the process $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$ can then be written as

$$\sigma_{e^+e^- \to d\bar{d}}^{(1)} = \sum_{a \in \{\text{SE,DT}\}} \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}^{\Gamma^a}} \sigma_{\Gamma^a, \mathbf{s}}$$
(2.16)

with

$$\sigma_{\Gamma^{a},\mathbf{s}} = \sum_{\mathbf{b}\in\mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{s}}} \sum_{\mathbf{b}'\in\mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{v}\backslash\mathbf{s}}} \int \frac{d^{4}k'}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{d^{4}l'}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{N_{\Gamma^{a}}\prod_{i\in\mathbf{b}\cup\mathbf{b}'\cup\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} \delta^{\sigma_{i}^{\mathbf{s}\mathbf{b}\mathbf{b}'}}(q_{i}^{2}-m_{i}^{2})}{\prod_{i\in\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s})\backslash\mathbf{b}}(q_{i}^{2}-m_{i}^{2}+\mathrm{i}\epsilon)\prod_{i\in\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{v}\backslash\mathbf{s})\backslash\mathbf{b}'}(q_{i}^{2}-m_{i}^{2}-\mathrm{i}\epsilon)}.$$

$$(2.17)$$

where $\mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{s}}$ is the collection of all the loop momentum basis of the subgraph $(\mathbf{s}, \delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s}))$ and $N_{\Gamma^{a}}$ is the appropriately defined numerator, which may include non-trivial symmetry factors. The vector $\sigma^{\mathbf{sbb}'}$ fixes the energy flow of the on-shell particles consistently with figure 4, by identifying $\delta(\mathbf{s}) \cup \mathbf{b} \cup \mathbf{b}'$ with the respective set of edges which are crossed by a cut or a circle in one of the diagrams of figure 4, and the components $\sigma_i^{\mathbf{sbb}'} \in \{\pm 1\}$ with the signs associated to those circles or cuts.

The identification between the terms summed in $\sigma_{\Gamma^a,\mathbf{s}}$ and the cut diagrams of figure 4 is now clear. More specifically, $\sigma_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{DT}},\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathrm{r}}}$ corresponds to the sum of diagrams in figure 4a, which involves one term only, since in this case the Cutkosky cut does not leave loops on either side. Thus $\mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{s}} = \mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{v}\setminus\mathbf{s}} = \emptyset$. $\sigma_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{DT}},\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathrm{v}}}$ is the sum of three terms, corresponding to the three loop momentum basis of the remaining triangle loop, as depicted in figure 4d. Note that in eq. (2.17), the propagator denominators in $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{v} \setminus \mathbf{s}) \setminus \mathbf{b}'$ take the causal prescription $-i\epsilon$ because of the complex conjugation applied to the amplitude to the right of the Cutkosky cut.

We now generalise the concepts of supergraph and E-surface identification beyond this example process.

2.2 Supergraphs

A Final-State Radiation (FSR) supergraph is a couplet $\Gamma = (G, \mathbf{a})$, where $G = (\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}_{int} \cup \mathbf{v}_{ext}, \mathbf{e} = \mathbf{e}_{int} \cup \mathbf{e}_{ext})$ is a directed and connected graph with a set \mathbf{e}_{ext} as external legs, with $a \subset e_{ext}$, $|\mathbf{a}| = |\mathbf{e}_{ext}|/2$ and $\delta(\mathbf{v}_{int}) = \mathbf{e}_{ext}$. Roughly speaking, the edges in \mathbf{a} correspond to the incoming particles of the process, and \mathbf{e}_{ext} contains two copies of the incoming particles of the process at hand. In the following, we will suppress the set \mathbf{v}_{ext} and just refer to \mathbf{v}_{int} as \mathbf{v} .

It is convenient to describe features of the supergraph in terms of cuts, that is subsets of the set of all vertices of the graph, their boundary, that is the collections of edges connecting vertices in the cuts with vertices not in the cut and their interior, that is the subgraphs identified by the edges whose vertices are contained in the cut. Given any subset of vertices $\mathbf{s} \subseteq \mathbf{v}$, we define the following operators:

$$\delta^{+}(\mathbf{s}) = \left\{ (v, v') \in \mathbf{e}^{\Gamma} \middle| v \in \mathbf{s}, \ v' \in \mathbf{v}^{\Gamma} \setminus \mathbf{s} \right\},$$

$$\delta^{-}(\mathbf{s}) = \left\{ (v, v') \in \mathbf{e}^{\Gamma} \middle| v' \in \mathbf{s}, \ v \in \mathbf{v}^{\Gamma} \setminus \mathbf{s} \right\},$$

$$\delta(\mathbf{s}) = \delta^{+}(\mathbf{s}) \cup \delta^{-}(\mathbf{s}),$$

$$\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s}) = \left\{ (v, v') \in \mathbf{e}^{\Gamma} \middle| v, v' \in \mathbf{s} \right\}.$$
(2.18)

As for most of the notation introduced in this section, δ always implicitly carries a dependency on the super graph Γ , which our notation will often omit for brevity. Furthermore, each subset of the edges can be fully characterised by a binary vector whose entries are 1 if the corresponding edges are in the subset and 0 otherwise. Given any subset of edges $\mathbf{e}' \subseteq \mathbf{e}$, the *characteristic vector* of \mathbf{e}' , is defined as $\chi^{\mathbf{e}'} \in \{0,1\}^{|\mathbf{e}|}$ with

$$\chi_e^{\mathbf{e}'} = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } e \in \mathbf{e}' \\ 0 \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.19)

Characteristic vectors allow to compactly write momentum-conservation conditions, which are interpreted as a conserving network flow. Each edge of the supergraph can be assigned with a weight $q_e \in \mathbb{R}^4$, $e \in \mathbf{e}$ that corresponds to the momentum carried by the edge, and momentum conservation constraints can then be written as follows:

$$\sum_{e \in \mathbf{e}} X_e^{\mathbf{s}} q_e := \sum_{e \in \mathbf{e}} (\chi_e^{\delta^+(\mathbf{s})} - \chi_e^{\delta^-(\mathbf{s})}) q_e = 0 \qquad \forall \mathbf{s} \subseteq \mathbf{v}.$$
(2.20)

Most of the constraints of eq. (2.20) are linearly dependent. In order to eliminate redundancies and obtain a minimal set of momentum-conservation constraints, it is possible to reduce the system and obtain the set of minimal constraints that is in one-to-one correspondence with the edges of a spanning tree. This fact alone is sufficient to show that the kinematic space of the virtual momenta (the linear space where momentum conservation constraints hold) is spanned by the momentum weights associated to the edges not contained in a given spanning tree. The basis corresponding to a given spanning tree can be mapped via a totally unimodular matrix to a basis corresponding to a different spanning tree.

In this framework, a Cutkosky cut admits an especially simple representation as a connected subset of the vertices, which thus allows to divide the supergraph in two connected subgraphs of it (i.e. two interfering amplitudes). The energy flow across the Cutkosky cut is enforced to be such that every edge in the boundary of the Cutkosky cut and not in \mathbf{e}_{ext} has an energy flow that is opposite to that of the edges in \mathbf{e}_{ext} themselves. More precisely, a Cutkosky cut on the FSR supergraph is a subset $\mathbf{s} \subseteq \mathbf{v}$ with the following properties:

• the graphs $G' = (\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{e_s})$ and $G' = (\mathbf{v} \setminus \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{e_{v \setminus s}})$, with $\mathbf{e_s} = \sum_{v \in \mathbf{s}} \delta(v)$ are connected,

•
$$\delta(\mathbf{s}) \cap \mathbf{e}_{\text{ext}} = \mathbf{a}.$$

The Cutkosky cut can be equivalently identified with the subset of edges $\mathbf{c_s} = \delta(\mathbf{s}) \setminus \delta(\mathbf{v}_{int})$, and graphically represented as a line crossing all edges in $\mathbf{c_s}$. Removal of the edges in $\mathbf{c_s}$ from the graph G yields two connected components $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s}) \cup \mathbf{a}$ and $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s}^c) \cup (\mathbf{e}_{ext} \setminus \mathbf{a})$ with $\mathbf{s}^c = \mathbf{v} \setminus \mathbf{s}$ containing the external edges \mathbf{a} and $\mathbf{e}_{ext} \setminus \mathbf{a}$ respectively. As already mentioned, these correspond to the two interfering amplitudes that form the supergraph when stitched back together. We observe that there is an apparent two-fold degeneracy since $\mathbf{c_s}$ and $\mathbf{c_{v \setminus s}}$ identify the same Cutkosky cut. Let \mathcal{E}_{s-ch} be the set of all Cutkosky cuts modulo this two-fold symmetry (the name of this set will become clear later when we relate it to a subset of the threshold singularities of the supergraph in its LTD representation).

The couplet formed by an FSR supergraph and one of its Cutkosky cut c_s is an interference diagram. In the perturbative formulation of relativistic quantum mechanics, the all-order cross-section is obtained by summing all supergraphs for which one sums over all possible interference diagrams arising from its Cutkosky cuts, each weighted by a density of states (i.e. observable):

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{O}}(\{q_e\}_{e \in \mathbf{a}}) = \sum_{\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}} \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}} (-i)^{|\mathbf{c}_s|} \sigma_{\Gamma, \mathbf{s}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\{q_e\}_{e \in \mathbf{a}}),$$
(2.21)

with

$$\sigma_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\{q_e\}_{e\in\mathbf{a}}) = \int \left(\prod_{e\in\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} \frac{d^4 q_e}{(2\pi)^3} \delta^{(\sigma_e^{\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}})}(q_e^2 - m_e^2)\right) \delta\left(\sum_{e\in\delta(\mathbf{s})} X_e^{\mathbf{s}} q_e\right) [\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{s}} \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{s}^c}^{\star}] \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}, \qquad (2.22)$$

where $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}: \mathbb{R}^{4|\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}|} \to \mathbb{R}$ is the observable function, and

$$\sigma_i^{\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} = -X_i^{\mathbf{s}}, \quad i \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}.$$
(2.23)

The formula for $\sigma_{\mathcal{O}}$ matches the usual formula for semi-differential cross-sections, rewritten in terms of supergraphs. The phase-space integration over the final state particles is constrained by the on-shell conditions associated to them. The amplitudes, however, in the Minkowski representation, feature unconstrained four-dimensional integrations for each of the loops of the graph. This apparent asymmetry in the treatment of virtual and real particles is partially lifted within the LTD representation, in which the amplitude is re-expressed as follows:

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{s}}^{\vec{\mu}}(\{q_e\}_{e \in \mathbf{a} \cup C}) = \sum_{\mathbf{b} \in \mathcal{B}} (-i)^{|\mathbf{b}|} \int \prod_{i \in \mathbf{b}_{\emptyset}} \frac{d^4 k_i}{(2\pi)^3} \prod_{j \in \mathbf{b}} \delta^{(\sigma_j^{\mathbf{b}})}(q_j^2 - m_j^2) \prod_{e \in \delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s}) \setminus \mathbf{b}} \frac{N_{\mathbf{s}}^{\mu}}{q_e^2 - m_e^2 + i\epsilon}.$$
(2.24)

where $\sigma^{\mathbf{b}} \in \{-1, 1\}^{|\mathbf{b}|}$ is the cut structure for the basis $\mathbf{b} \in \mathcal{B}$ (\mathcal{B} is the set of all possible loop momenta basis of the subgraph $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s})$) with respect to the reference basis \mathbf{b}_{\emptyset} , and $N_{\mathbf{s}}^{\vec{\mu}}$ is a tensor polynomial in the loop variables whose (colour, spinor and Lorentz) indices are collected in the symbol $\vec{\mu}$.

When rewriting each amplitude using their LTD representations and factoring out the common loop integration measures, we find that the virtual and real degrees of freedom now appear undifferentiated. In particular, the procedure defines an extended Lorentz-invariant measure that encompasses both loop and phase-space integration:

$$\sigma_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\{q_e\}_{e\in\mathbf{a}}) = \sum_{\mathbf{b}\in\mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{s}}} \sum_{\mathbf{b}'\in\mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{s}^c}} \int [d\Pi_{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}'}^{\mathbf{s}}] \left(\prod_{e\in\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s})\backslash\mathbf{b}} \frac{N_{\mathbf{s}\vec{\mu}}}{q_e^2 - m_e^2 + i\epsilon} \prod_{e\in\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s}^c)\backslash\mathbf{b}'} \frac{N_{\mathbf{v}\backslash\mathbf{s}}^{\mu}}{q_e^2 - m_e^2 - i\epsilon}\right) \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}},$$
(2.25)

where the integration measure is the extended Lorentz invariant phase-space measure

$$\begin{split} [d\Pi_{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}'}^{\mathbf{s}}] &= \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{e \in \delta(\mathbf{s})} X_{e}^{\mathbf{s}} q_{e}\right) \prod_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} \frac{d^{4} k_{i}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \delta^{(\sigma_{i}^{\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}})}(k_{i}^{2} - m_{i}^{2}) \\ &\prod_{j \in \mathbf{b}} \frac{d^{4} k_{j}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \delta^{(\sigma_{j}^{\mathbf{b}})}(k_{j}^{2} - m_{j}^{2}) \prod_{n \in \mathbf{b}'} \frac{d^{4} k_{n}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \delta^{(\sigma_{n}^{\mathbf{b}'})}(k_{n}^{2} - m_{i}^{2}). \end{split}$$
(2.26)

This shows that quantum corrections are equivalent to performing phase-space integrals of tree processes in which virtual particles are substituted by on-shell particles whose momentum is allowed to range over all possible kinematic values (contrary to external particles, whose momenta are naturally constrained by the collision energy). Energymomentum conservation conditions can be solved jointly for both graphs on the left and right of the Cutkosky cut by directly considering one loop momentum basis \mathbf{b}_{\emptyset} of the complete supergraph. This allows one to write each of the extended phase-space integration measures, for varying \mathbf{s} , \mathbf{b} , \mathbf{b}' , as arising naturally from the loop integration measure of the supergraph, plus an extra energy conservation delta on the momenta crossing the Cutkosky cuts. It is then possible to solve all but one of the Dirac deltas and adopt a common basis for all spatial degrees of freedom:

$$\sigma_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\{q_e\}_{e\in\mathbf{a}}) = \int [d\Pi^{\mathbf{s}}] \sum_{\mathbf{b}\in\mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{s}}} \sum_{\mathbf{b}'\in\mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{s}^c}} \frac{1}{\prod_{i\in\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}\cup\mathbf{b}\cup\mathbf{b}'} 2E_i} \\ \times \left(\prod_{e\in\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s})\backslash\mathbf{b}} \frac{N_{\mathbf{s}\vec{\mu}}}{q_e^2 - m_e^2 + i\epsilon} \prod_{e\in\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s}^c)\backslash\mathbf{b}'} \frac{N_{\mathbf{v}\backslash\mathbf{s}}^{\vec{\mu}}}{q_e^2 - m_e^2 - i\epsilon} \right) \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}} \bigg|_{C^{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}'}}, \quad (2.27)$$

with

$$C_{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}'}^{\mathbf{s}} = \{q_i^0 = \sigma_i^{\mathbf{b}} E_i\}_{i \in \mathbf{b}} \cup \{q_i^0 = \sigma_i^{\mathbf{b}'} E_i\}_{i \in \mathbf{b}'} \cup \{q_i^0 = \sigma_i^{\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} E_i\}_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}},$$
(2.28)

and

$$[d\Pi^{\mathbf{s}}] = \delta \left(\sum_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} E_i - \sum_{j \in \mathbf{a}} E_j\right) \prod_{i \in \mathbf{b}_{\emptyset}^{\Gamma}} \frac{d^3 \vec{k}_i}{(2\pi)^3},\tag{2.29}$$

given a reference momentum basis $\mathbf{b}_{\emptyset}^{\Gamma}$ of the supergraph Γ . Recall that \mathbf{a} is the set of incoming particles, so that the delta in eq. (2.29) establishes the conservation of on-shell energies of incoming and outgoing particles.

We have partially aligned the integration measures of all interference diagrams arising from the same supergraph by rerouting each of them according to a fixed loop momentum basis $\mathbf{b}_{\emptyset}^{\Gamma}$ of the corresponding supergraph Γ , which is a first important step towards proving local cancellation of IR singularities. We observe that, if a reference basis of the supergraph is fixed, the only dependence on \mathbf{s} left in the measure element is due to the Dirac delta enforcing the conservation of on-shell energies across each Cutkosky cut. Aligning this last element of the measures requires a more advanced mathematical construction, presented in detail in section 3.2.4. In the rest of this section, we first discuss the singular structure of amplitudes and derive a heuristic cancellation argument, as both of these aspects do not strictly rely on the complete alignment of the measures $[d\Pi^{\mathbf{s}}]$.

2.3 Identification of E-surfaces with cuts

The singular surfaces of interference diagrams are also singular surfaces of the supergraph. More specifically, E-surfaces of amplitudes correspond to intersections of E-surfaces of the supergraph, as one can think of E-surfaces of the amplitudes as E-surfaces of the supergraph evaluated on the E-surface corresponding to the energy conservation delta. Indeed, we observe that after solving the energy conservation Dirac delta in eq. (2.29), the integrand is evaluated on the zeros of the following E-surface:

$$\eta_{\mathbf{s}} = \sum_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} E_i - \sum_{j \in \mathbf{a}} E_j, \qquad (2.30)$$

which is itself an E-surface of the supergraph in its LTD representation.

Eq. (2.30) also suggests a useful identification of E-surfaces with connected subsets of the vertices. This graphical representation of thresholds, and the notion of connectivity, encodes the causal ordering of the scattering events (the vertices). The particles connecting two vertices on different sides of the cut generate a singularity by simultaneously lying on their respective mass shell. Cutkosky cuts, in particular, correspond to thresholds in which the incoming momenta enter the boundary of a subset of vertices and produce $|\mathbf{c}_{s}|$ outgoing (that is, with opposite energy flow) on-shell particles. More specifically, let

$$\mathcal{E} = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \subset \mathbf{v}_{\text{int}} | \ \delta^{\circ}(\boldsymbol{\tau}), \ \delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{v}_{\text{int}} \setminus \boldsymbol{\tau}) \text{ are connected} \}.$$
(2.31)

Then an E-surface of the supergraph can be represented as a tuple (τ, α) , with $\tau \in \mathcal{E}$ and $\alpha \in \{\pm 1\}$. The parametric equation is

$$\eta_{(\tau,\alpha)} = \sum_{j \in \mathbf{a} \cap \delta(\tau)} E_j - \sum_{j \in (\mathbf{e}_{ext} \setminus \mathbf{a}) \cap \delta(\tau)} E_j + \sum_{i \in \delta(\tau) \setminus \mathbf{e}_{ext}} \alpha \ E_i = 0,$$
(2.32)

which is a general equation establishing the generic form of a threshold singularity on the supergraph, for an on-shell energy flow assigned to the external edges \mathbf{e}_{ext} according to its bipartition in \mathbf{a} and $\mathbf{e}_{\text{ext}} \setminus \mathbf{a}$. The set \mathcal{E} can be mapped surjectively to the set of singularities of the supergraph. This is one of the results of the Manifestly Causal LTD representation [91–93, 118].

According to our earlier definition of Cutkosky cuts, the E-surfaces of the supergraph which correspond to interference diagrams are only those corresponding to cuts whose boundary contains all incoming edges. It is useful to decompose the set \mathcal{E} as the disjoint union of the following four sets:

- $\mathcal{E}_{s-ch} = \{ \tau \in \mathcal{E} \mid \delta(\tau) \cap \mathbf{e}_{ext} = \mathbf{a} \text{ or } \delta(\tau) \cap \mathbf{e}_{ext} = \mathbf{e}_{ext} \setminus \mathbf{a} \}; \text{ an element } \tau \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}, \text{ is said to be s-channel-like.}$
- $\mathcal{E}_{t-ch} = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathcal{E} \mid |\mathbf{a}| > |\delta(\boldsymbol{\tau}) \cap \mathbf{a}| > 0, \ |\mathbf{e}_{ext} \setminus \mathbf{a}| > |\delta(\boldsymbol{\tau}) \cap (\mathbf{e}_{ext} \setminus \mathbf{a})| > 0 \};$ an element $\boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathcal{E}_{t-ch}$ is said to be *t-channel-like*.
- $\mathcal{E}_{int} = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathcal{E} \mid |\delta(\boldsymbol{\tau}) \cap \mathbf{e}_{ext}| = 0 \text{ or } |\delta(\boldsymbol{\tau}) \cap \mathbf{e}_{ext}| = |\mathbf{e}_{ext}| \}; \text{ an element } \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathcal{E}_{int}, \text{ is said to be internal-like,} \}$
- $\mathcal{E}_{isr} = \mathcal{E} \setminus (\mathcal{E}_{s-ch} \cup \mathcal{E}_{t-ch} \cup \mathcal{E}_{int})$; an element $\tau \in \mathcal{E}_{isr}$, is said to be *Initial-State-Radiation(ISR)-like*.

so that $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}_{s-ch} \cup \mathcal{E}_{t-ch} \cup \mathcal{E}_{isr} \cup \mathcal{E}_{int}$. We will consider all these sets to be modulo conjugation, that is a cut \mathbf{s} and a cut $\mathbf{v} \setminus \mathbf{s}$ are equivalent. The E-surfaces in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch} are the only ones that divide the supergraph into two graphs that have all incoming particles or none of them.

The singularities of the interference diagrams with Cutkosky cut \mathbf{c}_{τ} , can be described as the intersection of two E-surfaces, one describing the on-shell energy conservation condition associated with the Cutkosky cut, and the other being a singularity of an amplitude. More specifically, the location of the singularities of the interference diagram is characterised by the set of points which, when embedded in \mathbb{R}^{3L} , satisfies the following equations:

$$\eta_{(\tau,1)} = 0, \ \eta_{(\mathbf{s},\alpha)} = 0, \ \tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\text{s-ch}}, \ \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}, \text{ with } \mathbf{s} \subset \tau \text{ or } \tau \subset \mathbf{s}.$$
(2.33)

This follows from a repeated application of the principle identifying connected cuts and E-surfaces to the amplitudes participating in the interference diagram. One interesting consequence of this claim is that no t-channel can be a singularity of the interference diagram. (2.33) plays a crucial role in the determination of the cancellation pattern of IR singularities and precisely relates the singular structure of interference diagrams to those of the corresponding supergraph. For two s-channel E-surfaces corresponding to the cuts τ and s, one can also define

$$\eta_{(\tau,1)}|_{\mathbf{s}} = \sum_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\tau}} E_i - \sum_{j \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} E_j.$$
(2.34)

which is an alternative representation for the E-surface η_{τ} when evaluated at the zeros of $\eta_{\mathbf{s}}$. In the following, if the index α is suppressed, it is assumed to take the value $\alpha = 1$. As we shall see in section 2.5, the property $\eta_{(\tau,1)}|_{\mathbf{s}} = -\eta_{(\mathbf{s},1)}|_{\tau}$ plays a crucial role in the local cancellation of pinched singularities in LU since both $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}$ and \mathbf{c}_{τ} are valid Cutkosky cuts of the supergraph.

2.4 Pinched E-surfaces and their properties

The notion of pinching has a direct physical interpretation as it is associated with the degeneracy of massless particles in collinear or soft configurations. A general definition of pinched E-surfaces characterises them as poles that cannot be deformed around via a complex contour.

In order to study the conditions for which an E-surface becomes pinched, we provide each integral $\sigma_{\mathbf{s}}^{\mathcal{O}}$ with its own deformation, constructed by analytically continuing the spatial degrees of freedom of the loop variables forming the momentum basis of the left and right subgraphs $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s})$ and $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{v} \setminus \mathbf{s})$. Given a basis **b** of the supergraph, we consider the contour

$$\vec{q_e} = p_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{L} \alpha_{ej} \vec{k_j} \to \vec{q_e} - i \sum_{j=1}^{L} \alpha_{ej} \vec{\kappa_j}, \ e \in \mathbf{b},$$
 (2.35)

where

$$\sum_{j=1}^{L} \alpha_{e'j} \vec{\kappa}_j = 0, \ \forall e' \in \delta(\mathbf{s}),$$
(2.36)

which establishes that the momenta of the particles in the Cutkosky cut is kept real as they enter the observable function. It follows that understanding the pinching condition for interference diagrams is equivalent to understanding it in the context of amplitudes. More explicitly, we can analyze pinching within the object $\mathcal{A}_{s}^{\vec{\mu}}(\vec{k} - i\vec{\kappa})$. Since the deformation only affects the amplitudes, it must satisfy the four constraints laid out in ref. [89], where a general deformation for amplitudes in the LTD representation is constructed: the continuity constraint, the causal constraint, the expansion validity constraint, and the complex pole constraint.

The continuity constraint imposes that any valid deformation must go to zero faster than E_i on the zeros of E_i . We thus conclude that any surface in

$$S_{\mathbf{x}} = \left\{ \vec{k} \in \mathbb{R}^{3L} \mid \|\vec{q_i}(\vec{k})\|^2 + m_i^2 = 0, \ \forall i \in \mathbf{x} \right\}, \ \mathbf{x} \subset \mathbf{e}$$
(2.37)

is a pinched surface due to a soft configuration (when $m_i^2 = 0$). We now turn to the causal constraint. An E-surface is pinched if it is impossible to satisfy the causal constraint for points on it, that is

$$\operatorname{Im}[\eta(\vec{k} - i\vec{\kappa})] = \mathcal{O}(\|\vec{\kappa}\|^2), \quad \forall \vec{k} \text{ with } \eta(\vec{k}) = 0, \ \forall \vec{\kappa},$$
(2.38)

with the understanding that there exists no contour deformation winding around the thresholds and that is compatible with the causal constraints.

An intuitive understanding of this condition (e.g. see figure 6 of ref. [89]) is obtained by analysing the complex zeros of the E-surface. The real space is entirely sandwiched between two complex surfaces denoting the zeros of η . The two surfaces become purely real simultaneously at the location of the pinches, as established by the complex pole constraint [119–121]. Any valid contour deformation is thus constrained to be identically zero at the location of the pinches.

We now turn to the identification of the E-surfaces within the (loop) amplitude $\mathcal{A}_{s}^{\vec{\mu}}$ on the left of a particular Cutkosky cut \mathbf{c}_{s} . In order to be able to characterise all possible E-surfaces of such amplitudes, we identify them with $\eta_{(\tau',\alpha)}^{\mathbf{c}_{s}}$, and $\tau' \subset \mathbf{s}$, which is part of an interference diagram corresponding to the supergraph (G, \mathbf{a}) , that is

$$\eta_{(\tau',\alpha)}^{\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} = \sum_{j \in \mathbf{a} \cap \delta(\tau')} E_j - \sum_{j \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}} \cap \delta(\tau')} E_j + \sum_{i \in \delta(\tau') \setminus \delta(\mathbf{s})} \alpha \ E_i = 0,$$
(2.39)

with $\alpha = \pm 1$. We choose, without loss of generality, that all the edges in $\delta(\tau')$ have the same orientation. The imaginary part of such E-surface can be written conveniently by expanding to first order in the Taylor expansion. For any $j \in \delta(\tau') \setminus \delta(\mathbf{s})$ identifying the dependent edge (for example, for the amplitude E-surface give in figure 5, one can choose $j = e_2$ and write $q_2 = q_1 - q_3 - q_4$), we can define $\mathbf{b}_{\tau'} = \delta(\tau') \setminus \delta(\mathbf{s}) \setminus \{j\}$ and:

$$\operatorname{Im}[\eta_{(\tau',\alpha)}^{\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}}] = \sum_{i \in \mathbf{b}_{\tau'}} \vec{Q}_i(\vec{\kappa}) \cdot \left(\frac{\vec{q}_i}{E_i} + \frac{\vec{p}_{\tau'} + \sum_{m \in \mathbf{b}_{\tau'}} \vec{q}_m}{E_j}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\|\kappa\|^3).$$
(2.40)

where

$$\vec{p}_{\tau'} = \sum_{m \in \delta(\tau') \cap \delta(\mathbf{s})} \vec{q}_m.$$
(2.41)

The condition of vanishing imaginary part of eq. (2.38) is trivially satisfied for E-surfaces arising from real emissions only (e.g. $\eta_{\rm s}|_{\tau}$ of figure 5), as there are no loop variables that can be contour deformed in this case. Applying the pinched condition in eq. (2.38) to eq. (2.40), and using that the \vec{Q}_i 's are linearly independent by construction, we see that the requirement that the imaginary part must be identically zero for every value of the deformation field, implies that each of the vector that \vec{Q}_i multiplies must themselves be identically zero. That is:

$$\frac{\vec{q}_i}{E_i} + \frac{\vec{q}_j}{E_j} = 0, \quad \forall i \in \mathbf{b}_{\tau'}$$
(2.42)

which can only be satisfied when \vec{q}_i and \vec{q}_j are anticollinear. Observe that for massless on-shell momenta, the two vectors are normalized to unity. On the other hand, in the



Figure 5. Example of a supergraph E-surface $\eta_{\tau}|_{\mathbf{s}} (= -\eta_{\mathbf{s}}|_{\tau})$ identified by the two sets of vertices $\mathbf{s} = \{2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7\}$ and $\boldsymbol{\tau} = \{4, 5, 6, 7\}$ defining the two Cutkosky cuts $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}} = \{e_1, e_6\}$ and $\mathbf{c}_{\tau} = \{e_2, e_3, e_4, e_6\}$. The two-loop amplitude $\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{s}}^{\vec{\mu}}$ on the left of the Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}$ has an amplitude E-surface $\eta_{(\tau',1)}^{\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}}$, with $\tau' = \mathbf{s} \setminus \boldsymbol{\tau} =$ $\{2,3\}$, which is pinched for $-\vec{q_i} = x_i \vec{p_{\tau'}}, \ \vec{q_m} =$ $-x_m \vec{p}_{\tau'}, \ \vec{q}_l = -x_l \vec{p}_{\tau'}, \ \forall i \in \{e_1\}, \ \forall m \in \emptyset, \ \forall l \in \{e_1\}, \ \forall m \in \emptyset, \ \forall l \in \{e_1\}, \ \forall m \in \emptyset, \ \forall l \in \{e_1\}, \ \forall m \in \emptyset, \ \forall l \in \{e_1\}, \ \forall m \in \{e_1\}, \ m \in \{e_1\}, \ \forall m \in \{$ $\{e_2, e_3, e_4\}$, with $\vec{p}_{\tau'} = -q_1$. More concisely, for $x_i > 0$, the pinch happens for $\vec{q}_1//\vec{q}_2//\vec{q}_3//\vec{q}_4$. The complex-conjugate of the tree-level amplitude $\mathcal{A}^{\mu}_{\mathbf{v} \setminus \boldsymbol{\tau}}$ on the right of the Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{c}_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}$ has no amplitude E-surfaces, but instead features the familiar real-emission triple-collinear phasespace singularity which, within the LU framework, cancels $\mathcal{A}^{\vec{\mu}}_{\mathbf{s}}$ on the pinch of its amplitude E-surface.

massive case the two vectors have varying norms that range between zero and one. This prohibits pinching of E-surfaces with non-zero masses. We recall that soft emission of massless particles from massive ones still lead to pinching in virtue of eq. (2.37).

Using eq. (2.42) and eq. (2.39) we provide a necessary and sufficient condition for $\eta_{(\tau',\alpha)}^{\mathbf{c}_s}$ to be pinched:

- $m_j = 0, \forall j \in \delta(\tau')$, that is, all particles participating in the threshold are massless,
- $\vec{q_i} = x_i \vec{p_{\tau'}}, \ \vec{q_m} = -x_m \vec{p_{\tau'}}, \ \vec{q_l} = -\alpha x_l \vec{p_{\tau'}}, \ \forall i \in \delta(\tau') \cap \mathbf{c_s}, \ \forall m \in \delta(\tau') \cap \mathbf{a}, \ \forall l \in \delta(\tau') \setminus \delta(\mathbf{s})$, with all the $x_i \geq 0, \forall i \in \delta(\tau')$, that is, the external particles participating in the threshold are all simultaneously collinear to a given direction and all the virtual particles participating in the threshold are all simultaneously anti-collinear to that direction (when assuming that all edges in $\delta(\tau)$ are either flowing inward or outward of the set τ).

These conditions allow to completely characterise pinched surfaces of amplitudes in their LTD representation, on top of providing the precise locations of the singularities. We recall that thresholds of interference diagrams can be seen as intersections of E-surfaces of the supergraph. Analogously, pinched points of interference diagrams, are contained in (but do not coincide with) such intersections. We show in figure 5 and explicit example of the correspondence between the E-surface $\eta_{\tau}|_{\mathbf{s}}$ of a supergraph and its counterpart $\eta_{(\tau',1)}^{\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}}$ in the amplitude obtained when imposing the Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}$. We stress that the set of vertices τ' defining the amplitude E-surface $\eta_{(\tau',1)}^{\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}}$ relates to the two sets τ and \mathbf{s} identifying its corresponding supergraph E-surface $\eta_{\tau}|_{\mathbf{s}}$ with $\tau' = \mathbf{s} \setminus \tau$ (when $\tau \subset \mathbf{s}$).

The t-channel type of amplitude E-surfaces never induce divergences in LU as their pinched configuration is either excluded by the observable [122] and/or regulated by the

propagator width assigned to unstable particles. We are therefore interested in s-channel type of supergraph E-surfaces and assume each particle to be massless, then the set of points at which any E-surface of any interference diagram corresponding to a fixed supergraph Γ is pinched can be written as

$$\mathcal{P} = \mathbf{H} \cap \left(\bigcup_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\text{s-ch}}} \delta \eta_{\tau}\right) \text{ with } \mathbf{H} = \bigcup_{\substack{\mathbf{s}, \tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\text{s-ch}}\\ \tau \subset \mathbf{s}}} \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{s}\tau}, \tag{2.43}$$

and

$$\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{s}\boldsymbol{\tau}} = \left\{ \vec{k} \in \mathbb{R}^{3L} \middle| \vec{q}_i(\vec{k}) = x_i \vec{p}, \ \vec{q}_j(\vec{k}) = -x_j \vec{p}, \ \forall i \in \mathbf{c}_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \setminus \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}, \ \forall j \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}} \setminus \mathbf{c}_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}, \ \forall \vec{p} \in \mathbb{R}^3 \right\}.$$
(2.44)

Adding masses to particles of the interference diagrams decreases the size of H and, consequently, that of \mathcal{P} .

This concludes the study of pinched E-surfaces in the LTD framework. It is worth mentioning that a proper classification of the pinched E-surfaces requires studying their intersections. However, this study is unnecessary to prove FSR cancellations and is outside the scope of this work.

2.5 Local cancellations for final-state radiation within a toy model

In this section, we render the cancellation shown figure 5 more systematic by investigating it within a toy model. Such local cancellation requires a specific alignment of the integration measures in order to solve the Dirac deltas enforcing on-shell energy conservation. This treatment is carried out in detail in section 3.2.1 and we first discuss here the cancellation mechanism for a simplified model. In order to carry out the argument, we consider an analogue for the integrand of interference diagrams which is constructed in the following way: each interference diagram, identified by $\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}$, shall be associated to a function $\omega^{\mathbf{s}} : \mathbb{R}^{3L} \to \mathbb{R}$ which is the product of the LTD representations of the graphs $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s})$ and $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{v} \setminus \mathbf{s})$ times the product of the inverse energies of all the particles in the Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}$,

$$\omega^{\mathbf{s}}(\{E_i\}_{i\in\mathbf{e}}, \vec{k}) = \frac{1}{\prod_{i\in\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} E_i} A_{\mathbf{s}} A_{\mathbf{v}\setminus\mathbf{s}} \bigg|_{\{q_i^0 = X_i^{\mathbf{s}} E_i\}_{i\in\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}}}$$
(2.45)

with

$$A_{\mathbf{s}} = \int \prod_{i=1}^{L} \frac{dk_i^0}{(2\pi)} \frac{N}{\prod_{j \in \mathbf{e}} (q_j^2 - m_j^2)}, \qquad (2.46)$$

where we take the amplitude to have a scalar numerator, that is $A_{\mathbf{s}}^{\vec{\mu}} = A_{\mathbf{s}}$, for simplicity. The singularities of $\omega^{\mathbf{s}}$ are the same as those of the two amplitudes integrands $A_{\mathbf{s}}$, $A_{\mathbf{v}\setminus\mathbf{s}}$, plus the integrable singularities due to the inverse energies of the particles in the Cutkosky cut. More specifically, the E-surfaces of $\omega^{\mathbf{s}}$ correspond to the zeros of E-surfaces satisfying eq. (2.33); thus $\omega^{\mathbf{s}}$ is a valid analogue of the integrand of an interference diagram. Furthermore, $\omega^{\mathbf{s}}$ exhibits an interesting local factorisation property in the neighbourhood of such singularities: following the convention set in figure 6, in the limit $\eta_{\tau}|_{\mathbf{s}} \to 0$, each



Figure 6. Two different interference diagrams, corresponding to Cutkosky cuts $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}$ and \mathbf{c}_{τ} . The two Cutkosky cuts identify a singularity of the amplitudes, $\eta_{\tau}|_{\mathbf{s}} = -\eta_{\mathbf{s}}|_{\tau}$. The direction of the edges identify the on-shell energy flow necessary for the particles in $\delta(\tau \setminus \mathbf{s})$ to participate in a physical threshold.

amplitude integrand can be factorised as a product of inverse energies for each element of \mathbf{c}_{τ} multiplied by the LTD representation of the two subgraphs $\delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s})$ and $\delta^{\circ}(\tau \setminus \mathbf{s})$. We observe that such a local factorisation property relates to analogous ones holding at the integrated level and also playing an important role in traditional computational methods.

Let A^{s} be divergent at a location identified by the E-surface η_{τ} . Then this local factorisation property simply reads:

$$\omega^{\mathbf{s}}(\{E_i\}_{i\in\mathbf{e}},\vec{k}) = \frac{1}{\prod_{i\in c_{\mathbf{s}}\cup c_{\tau}} 2E_i} A_{\mathbf{s}} A_{\tau\setminus\mathbf{s}} A_{\mathbf{v}\setminus\tau} \bigg|_{C_{\mathbf{s}\tau}} \frac{1}{\eta_{\tau}|_{\mathbf{s}}} + \mathcal{O}(1), \ \eta_{\tau}|_{\mathbf{s}} \to 0,$$
(2.47)

with

$$C_{\mathbf{s\tau}} = \{q_i^0 = X_i^{\mathbf{s}} E_i\}_{i \in c_{\mathbf{s}}} \cup \{q_i^0 = X_i^{\tau} E_i\}_{i \in \cup c_{\tau}}.$$
(2.48)

We can now show the explicit cancellation pattern. Let us consider the sum of the functions $\omega^{\mathbf{s}}$ for all $\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}$, which is the analogue of the sum of all interference diagrams of a single supergraph. Such sum, if $\boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}$, also contains the term $\omega^{\boldsymbol{\tau}}$. We observe that

$$\omega^{\mathbf{s}} + \omega^{\boldsymbol{\tau}} = \frac{1}{\prod_{i \in c_{\mathbf{s}} \cup c_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}} 2E_i} A_{\mathbf{s}} A_{\boldsymbol{\tau} \setminus \mathbf{s}} A_{\mathbf{v} \setminus \boldsymbol{\tau}} \bigg|_{C_{\mathbf{s}\boldsymbol{\tau}}} \left(\frac{1}{\eta_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}|_{\mathbf{s}}} + \frac{1}{\eta_{\mathbf{s}}|_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}} \right) + \mathcal{O}(1), \ \eta_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}|_{\mathbf{s}}, \eta_{\mathbf{s}}|_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \to 0.$$
 (2.49)

Since $\eta_{\mathbf{s}}|_{\tau} = -\eta_{\tau}|_{\mathbf{s}}$, it follows that $\omega^{\mathbf{s}} + \omega^{\tau} = \mathcal{O}(1)$ when η_{τ} , $\eta_{\mathbf{s}} \to 0$. Thus, the singularity at $\eta_{\tau}|_{\mathbf{s}}$ of an interference diagram whose Cutkosky is identified by \mathbf{s} cancels pairwise with the singularity at $\eta_{\mathbf{s}}|_{\tau}$ of an interference diagram whose Cutkosky is identified by τ . This heuristic argument can easily be generalised to an arbitrary number of E-surfaces which vanish simultaneously, by iterating the factorisation argument and using the fact that each s-channel E-surface $\eta_{\mathbf{s}}|_{\tau}$ can be written as the difference of two variables, each being the sum of energies in the Cutkosky cut \mathbf{c}_{τ} or $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}$. This mechanism will be studied in more detail in section 3.2.4.

In the next section, we will show how the cancellations unfold when including observables and construct a proof. As already mentioned, this will require re-expressing the integrand of interference diagrams in a different way by solving the energy conservation delta explicitly (or equivalently, by considering a contour integration of the LTD representation of the supergraph). After the integrands are rewritten in this fashion, the cancellations will be realised algebraically, similarly as for dual cancellations.

3 Local cancellations of threshold (IR) singularities

In this section we present the major steps in defining a local representation of differential cross-sections that is manifestly free of IR singularities. As the paper is focused on final-state radiation, we will show that such a representation is integrable on the whole \mathbb{R}^{3L} excluding the initial state radiation (ISR) contributions.

The conceptual unfolding of the proof is summarised by the following prescriptions

- Given a supergraph, construct a flow $\vec{\phi}$ satisfying an ODE involving a reference vector field κ satisfying the causal constraints laid out in ref. [89]. κ is then called the *causal vector field* and $\vec{\phi}$ is called the *causal flow*. Then change variables so as to make it possible to perform a contour deformation in the flow parameter t, that is along the flow, thus allowing the use of the ordinary one-dimensional residue theorem.
- Construct a local representation of differential cross-sections, that is a function $\sigma_d : \mathbb{R}^{3L} \to \mathbb{R}$. Such a function is locally equivalent to summing over the discontinuities of s-channel E-surfaces of the supergraph along a flow line.
- Show that σ_d allows for a cancellation mechanism analogous to the type described in section 2.5, and that is mathematically summarised by the partial fractioning identity

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{N} \frac{1}{t_i - t_j} = 0.$$
(3.1)

- Use this cancellation pattern to derive analytic constraints on observables by requiring that σ_d is finite on \mathbb{R}^{3L} excluding all the regions at which an initial-state E-surface vanishes. Next, we show that they are satisfied by observables that cluster particles with energy or relative direction under a mathematically well-defined scale δ . In other words, these constraints match the usual requirement of IR-safety for collider observables.
- Derive the scaling of σ_d near soft points, and show that it depends on the scaling of the deformation field around soft points, thus relating the request of integrability of σ_d with a constraint on the scaling of the causal flow.
- Perform power-counting and argue that soft points are always integrable in physical theories.

Before detailing the proof in section 3.2, we construct the LU representation of the $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$ example, which we use to unfold explicitly the steps presented above.

3.1 Illustrative example: NLO correction to $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$

We start by recalling the LTD representation of the double-triangle supergraph, and rewrite eq. (2.16) and eq. (2.17) directly in terms of the LTD representation of that supergraph.

Observe that in the rest frame of γ^* , the two threshold E-surfaces $\eta_{\mathbf{s}_1^r}$ and $\eta_{\mathbf{s}_2^r}$ have the same exact functional dependence in the loop variables. Accounting for this accidental degeneracy, we can write eq. (2.7) as

$$M = \int \frac{d^3 \vec{k'}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{d^3 \vec{l'}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{f(\vec{k'}, \vec{l'})}{\prod_{j \in \mathbf{e}_{\rm in}} E_j \prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_1^{\circ}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\circ}, \mathbf{s}_1^{\circ}\}} \eta_{\tau} \prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_1^{\circ}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\circ}\}} \eta_{\tau}}$$
(3.2)

with

$$f(\vec{k'}, \vec{l'}) = \left[\prod_{j \in \mathbf{e}_{in}} E_j\right] \left[\prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_1^{v}, \mathbf{s}_2^{v}, \mathbf{s}_1^{r}, \mathbf{s}_2^{o}\}} \eta_{\tau}\right] \sum_{\mathbf{b} \in \mathcal{B}} \int dk'^0 dl'^0 N \frac{\prod_{e \in \mathbf{b}} \delta^{(\sigma_e^{\mathbf{b}})}(q_e^2 - m_e^2)}{\prod_{e \in \mathbf{e} \setminus \mathbf{b}} (q_e^2 - m_e^2)}.$$
 (3.3)

where the Cutkosky cuts $\{\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_1^{\mathrm{r}}\}$ of the double-triangle are defined in eq. (2.9) and the additional *E*-surfaces $\{\mathbf{s}_1^{\circ}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\circ}\}$ in eq. (2.15). A study of the divergences of *f* reveals that *f* is infinitely differentiable on \mathbb{R}^6 .

We now extract the residue of the threshold singularities of the LTD representation of the DT listed as $\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}$ by substituting η_s^{-1} with $\delta(\eta_s)\mathcal{O}_s$, which is what is commonly referred to as the "application of the Cutkosky cuts. This yields a representation that is trivially equivalent to that of eq. (2.16) and eq. (2.17), after all the Dirac deltas except for the one imposing the conservation of on-shell energy flowing across the Cutkosky cut \mathbf{s} have been solved. We have

$$\sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{s-ch}}^{\Gamma\mathrm{DT}}} \sigma_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{DT}},\mathbf{s}}^{\mathcal{O}} = \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}},\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}},\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{r}}\}} \int \frac{d^{3}\vec{k}'d^{3}\vec{l}'}{(2\pi)^{6}} \frac{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}} \ \eta_{\mathbf{s}} \ \delta(\eta_{\mathbf{s}}) \ f(\vec{k'},\vec{l'})}{\prod_{j\in\mathbf{e}_{\mathrm{in}}} E_{j} \prod_{\tau\in\{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}},\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}},\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{r}}\}} \eta_{\tau} \prod_{\tau\in\{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{o}},\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{o}}\}} \eta_{\tau}}, \quad (3.4)$$

where the sum runs over all possible Cutkosky cuts, and $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}$ is, for now, a non-specified function whose functional form depends on the cut \mathbf{s} . It is clear that eq. (3.4) can be obtained from the usual form of $\frac{d\sigma}{d\mathcal{O}}$ by applying LTD to the energy integrals left after applying the phase-space cuts. At the same time, eq. (3.4) also expresses the well-known fact that Cutkosky cuts can be seen as the residues of the supergraph acquired by contour-deforming around its thresholds, which is also the core of the original derivation by Cutkosky [123].

We would like to solve the Dirac deltas on the right-hand side of eq. (3.4) simultaneously for all Cutkosky cuts of the double-triangle topology, in a way that allows to write

$$\frac{d\sigma_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{DT}}}}{d\mathcal{O}} = \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{s-ch}}^{\Gamma^{\mathrm{DT}}}} \sigma_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{DT}},\mathbf{s}}^{\mathcal{O}} = \int \frac{d^3\vec{k}'d^3\vec{l}}{(2\pi)^6} \sigma_{\mathrm{d}}^{\Gamma^{\mathrm{DT}}}.$$
(3.5)

where σ_d now contains no Dirac delta. In particular, the contribution from all interference diagrams stemming from the double-triangle topology should be written as a single integral over $\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3$ of a particular integrand. In following three sections we will discuss a general method to solve the remaining delta function encoding energy conservation. We denote with $d\sigma_{\Gamma}/d\mathcal{O}$ the sum of all the interference diagrams arising from Cutkosky cuts of the supergraph Γ and we suppress the Γ superscript henceforth.

3.1.1 Soper's rescaling for solving conservation of on-shell energies

For $1 \to N$ processes, such as (effectively) $e^+e^- \to d\bar{d}$, final-state singularities can be aligned at any perturbative order in QCD using Soper's δ solving strategy [79] which offers an easy way to rewrite the phase-space measure in a form where there is no Dirac delta anymore. It was presented for the first time for integrands with conformal symmetries. In the following we will generalise it to multi-scale integrands, for arbitrary masses, loop momentum routings and Lorentz frames.

Consider the integral (3.4), and multiply it by the integral in t of a normalized function h(t):

$$\frac{d\sigma_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{DT}}}}{d\mathcal{O}} = \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{r}}\}} \int \frac{d^{3}\vec{k}' d^{3}\vec{l}'}{(2\pi)^{6}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \ h(t) \frac{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}} \ \eta_{\mathbf{s}} \ \delta(\eta_{\mathbf{s}}) \ f(\vec{k'}, \vec{l'})}{\prod_{j \in \mathbf{e}_{\mathrm{in}}} E_{j} \prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{r}}\}} \eta_{\tau} \prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}}\}} \eta_{\tau}$$
(3.6)

We can now change variables from (\vec{k}', \vec{l}') to $\vec{\phi}(t; \vec{k}', \vec{l}')$. We call $\vec{\phi}$ the causal flow, because for any fixed \vec{k}' and \vec{l}' , $\vec{\phi}$ denotes a curve which always flows outwards with respect to the Cutkosky cut E-surfaces. This new object will be described in more detail in section 3.2.1. In the case of the example process considered in this section, we can choose⁵ $\vec{\phi}(t; \vec{k}', \vec{l}') =$ $t(\vec{k}', \vec{l}')$. An illustration of this causal flow is given in figure 9. This change of variables then yields:

$$\frac{d\sigma_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{DT}}}}{d\mathcal{O}} = \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{r}}\}} \int \frac{d^{3}\vec{k}' d^{3}\vec{l}'}{(2\pi)^{6}} ds \frac{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}} \eta_{\mathbf{s}} f(t(\vec{k'}, \vec{l'})) h(t) t^{6}}{\prod_{j\in\mathbf{e}_{\mathrm{in}}} E_{j} \prod_{\tau\in\{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{r}}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{o}}\}} \eta_{\tau}} \delta\left(\sum_{i\in\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} E_{i}(t(\vec{k'}, \vec{l'})) - Q^{0}\right)$$
(3.7)

and by solving Dirac's delta explicitly, we find

$$\frac{d\sigma_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{DT}}}}{d\mathcal{O}} = \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}},\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}},\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{r}}\}} \int \frac{d^{3}\vec{k}'d^{3}\vec{l}'}{(2\pi)^{6}} \frac{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}} \eta_{\mathbf{s}} f(t(\vec{k'},\vec{l'})) h(t) t^{6}}{|\partial_{t}\eta_{\mathbf{s}}| \prod_{j\in\mathbf{e}_{\mathrm{in}}} E_{j} \prod_{\tau\in\{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}},\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}},\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{s}},\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{o}}\}} \eta_{\tau}} \bigg|_{t=t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}(\vec{k})},$$
(3.8)

where t_{s}^{\star} , is the unique (as we shall argue in section 3.2.1) value of t such that the E-surface identified by the energy conservation delta vanishes.

From that point onward, we will abbreviate our notation by defining $\vec{k} := (\vec{k}', \vec{l}')$. For a given \vec{k}, t_s^* is a function satisfying

$$\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}\vec{k}) = \sum_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} E_i(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}\vec{k}) - Q^0 = 0.$$
(3.9)

Observe that for every \vec{k} , t_s^* is the factor with which to rescale the loop momenta in order for $t_s^*\vec{k}$ to lie on an E-surface. Alternatively, one can think of fixing a point in loop momentum space and dilate or contract the E-surface by a quantity $1/t_s^*$ so that the point \vec{k} lies on it. If the E-surface contains the origin, then for every \vec{k} there is only one positive value of t_s^* such that $t_s^*\vec{k}$ lies on the E-surface. This is a consequence of the convexity of η as a

⁵In this section, contrary to section 3, we choose the argument of the causal flow to be $\log(t)$ and not t for simplicity.

function of t. Knowing that there is at most two solutions if t is allowed to take positive and negative values, and since a solution t_s^{\star} satisfies

$$|t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}| < \frac{\sum_{j \in \mathbf{a}} E_j}{\sum_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} \|\vec{Q}_i(\vec{k})\|} + \sum_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} \left| \frac{\vec{Q}_i(\vec{k})}{\|\vec{Q}_i(\vec{k})\|^2} \cdot \vec{p}_i \right|,$$
(3.10)

we conclude that the equation in t can be solved numerically by using Newton's method with seeds provided by the bounds of the inequality in (3.10). Since there are at most two solutions, Newton's method is guaranteed to converge. Thus, it follows that Soper's δ solving strategy is numerically straightforward to implement.

3.1.2 LU representation of double-triangle interferences

The next step is to relate the expression of the double-triangle supergraph given in eq. (2.7) to that of the traditional expression $\frac{d\sigma}{d\mathcal{O}}$ of the NLO QCD accurate differential cross-section of the scattering process $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$. The correspondence between the contributing threshold singularities of the LTD expression of the double-triangle supergraph and its Cutkosky cuts (figure 4) shows that $\frac{d\sigma}{d\mathcal{O}}$ can be obtained by computing the residues associated with each of the causal surfaces for which we must however make sure to assign the observable function with the appropriate dependence. The fact that each Cutkosky cut involves the observable function with a *different* functional dependence on the kinematics is the very reason why the residues from each of the singular surfaces of the supergraph must be computed separately. Indeed, when only interested in the *fully inclusive* cross-section of $1 \rightarrow 2$ processes, one can instead consider directly computing the imaginary part of the supergraphs and extract from it the inclusive cross-section via the optical theorem (see, e.g. ref. [78]).

Eq. (3.8) can then be written as

$$\frac{d\sigma_{\Gamma}}{d\mathcal{O}} = \int \frac{d^3 \vec{k}' d^3 \vec{l}'}{(2\pi)^6} \sigma_{\rm d}(\vec{k}) \tag{3.11}$$

where we recall that we define $\vec{k} := (\vec{k'}, \vec{l'})$ and

$$\sigma_{\rm d}(\vec{k}) = \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}} \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{s}} \lim_{t \to t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}} (t - t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}) \left[\frac{f(t\vec{k}) \ h(t) \ |\mathrm{det}\mathbb{J}\vec{\phi}| \ \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}}{\prod_{j \in \mathbf{e}_{\rm in}} E_j \prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_1^{\vee}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\vee}, \mathbf{s}_1^{\vee}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\circ}\}} \eta_{\tau}} \right], \tag{3.12}$$

where we used the formal definition of the residue of a single pole located at $t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}$, and $\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{s}} = +\operatorname{sign}[\partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star})]$. The symbol $\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}$ describes the ensemble of all threshold surfaces, i.e. Cutkosky cuts, which have a solution in t given the change of variables induced by the causal field $\vec{\phi}(t;\vec{k})$ and for the particular sampling point $\vec{k} = (\vec{k}',\vec{l}')$ considered. Due to convexity, the number of solutions in t of the E-surface equation is limited to one or potentially zero. However, in our simple $1 \to N$ case, this change of variable amounts to a trivial rescaling which always offers exactly one solution for each threshold, so that we can effectively consider a summation over the complete set $\{\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_1^{\mathrm{r}}\}$.

We choose the normalised function h(t) to be

$$h(t) = \frac{1}{2K_1(2\sigma)} e^{-\sigma \frac{t^2+1}{t}},$$
(3.13)

where K_1 is the Bessel function of the second kind. This particular choice of a normalised function h(t) is motivated by the fact that it vanishes exponentially fast at zero and infinity while being maximal at t = 1. We fix the tunable parameter σ to 1. These features naturally drive the integrator to probe points in space that are close to at least one Cutkosky surface (see section 5.4.1 for more details regarding integration efficiency) and also avoids spurious integrable singularities at t = 0. This also implies that the norms of the loop momenta before and after the rescaling treatment are of similar order of magnitude, thereby maintaining the direct interpretation of the location of the IR and UV domain. We are now equipped to delve into the details of the cancellation of IR singularities and the numerical implementation of the double-triangle and self-energy supergraphs within the formalism of Local Unitarity.

3.1.3 E-surface cancellations for the double-triangle supergraph

In general, the direct evaluation of eq. (3.12) reads:

$$\sigma_{\mathrm{d}} = \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{r}}\}} \frac{(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star})^{6} f(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}\vec{k}) h(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}) \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}(\{\vec{q}_{e}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}\vec{k})\}_{e \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}})}{\left|\partial_{t}\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}\vec{k})\right| \prod_{i \in \mathbf{e}_{\mathrm{in}}} E_{i} \prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{r}}\} \setminus \{\mathbf{s}\}} \left[\sum_{j>0} \frac{(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star} - t_{\tau}^{\star})^{j}}{j!} \partial_{t}^{j}\eta_{\tau}(t_{\tau}^{\star}\vec{k})\right] \prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}}\}} \eta_{\tau}} (3.14)$$

where we substituted each Cutkosky cut threshold surface η_{τ} , $\tau \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}$ in the denominator by its Taylor expansion around its on-shell solution t_{τ}^{\star} (so that the zeroth-order term of this expansion is necessarily zero). We use the short-hand notation $\partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}\vec{k}) := \partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(t)|_{t=t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}\vec{k}}$. Thanks to the simple functional form of the rescaling change of variable as well as the fact that all propagators of the double-triangle supergraph are massless and that we are considering an incoming momentum configuration at rest, i.e. $Q^{\mu} = (Q^0, \vec{0})$, we can give a simple expression for the rescaling solution $t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}$ as well as the derivative function $\partial_t^j \eta_{\tau}(t\vec{k})$ of the Cutkosky surfaces:

$$t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star} = \frac{Q^0}{\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k}, 0)} \tag{3.15}$$

$$\partial_t^j \eta_{\tau}(t\vec{k}, Q^0) = \begin{cases} \eta_{\tau}(\vec{k}, 0) & \text{if } j = 1\\ 0 & \text{if } j > 1 \end{cases},$$
(3.16)

so that:

$$\sum_{j>0} \frac{(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star} - t_{\tau}^{\star})^{j}}{j!} \partial_{t}^{j} \eta_{\tau}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}) = \left(\frac{Q^{0}}{\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k}, 0)} - \frac{Q^{0}}{\eta_{\tau}(\vec{k}, 0)}\right) \eta_{\tau}(\vec{k}, 0),$$
(3.17)

In our case, this expression of course reproduces the *exact* expression of $\eta_{\tau}(t_{s}^{*}\vec{k},Q^{0})$ since the Taylor expansion terminates, but this is in general not the case for more complicated causal flows or when in presence of massive propagators.

Proving the *local* cancellation of IR singularities amounts to demonstrating that the expression of the differential cross section σ_d in eq. (3.14) is integrable except for remaining UV divergences. From our earlier discussion, we can already argue that f is free of any

singularity. The causal nature of the field $\vec{\phi}$ inducing our change of variable also insures that $|\partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}})| \neq 0$ (see section 3.2.1). In our case, we have:

$$\left|\partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^\star)\right| = \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k}, 0) \tag{3.18}$$

Finally the product of on-shell energies $\prod_{i \in \mathbf{e}_{in}} E_i$ and the product of inverse internal Esurfaces $\prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_i^\circ, \mathbf{s}_i^\circ\}} \eta_{\tau}$ can be rewritten using the relation

$$E_i(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}\vec{k}) = \frac{Q^0 E_i(\vec{k})}{\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k},0)},$$
(3.19)

$$\eta_{\tau}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}\vec{k}) = \frac{Q^{0}\eta_{\tau}(\vec{k})}{\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k},0)}.$$
(3.20)

In conclusion, we can rewrite σ_d by underlining that the denominator can be written as a polynomial in the energies and in the η_s , $s \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}$:

$$\sigma_{\rm d} = \frac{1}{(Q^0)^3 \prod_{e \in \mathbf{e}_{\rm int}} E_e(\vec{k}) \prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_1^\circ, \mathbf{s}_2^\circ\}} \eta_{\tau}(\vec{k})} \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm v}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\rm v}, \mathbf{s}_1^{\rm r}\}} \frac{\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k}, 0)^2 f(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star} \vec{k}) h(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}) \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star} \vec{k})}{\prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm v}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\rm v}, \mathbf{s}_1^{\rm r}\}} \frac{\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k}, 0)^2 f(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star} \vec{k}) h(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}) \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star} \vec{k})}{(1 + \varepsilon \{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm v}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\rm v}, \mathbf{s}_1^{\rm r}\} \setminus \mathbf{s}(\eta_{\tau}(\vec{k}, 0) - \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k}, 0))}}$$
(3.21)

We can now rewrite $\sigma_{\rm d}$ and show that the cancellations can be made explicit algebraically in the denominators $(\eta_{\tau}(\vec{k},0) - \eta_{\rm s}(\vec{k},0))$, thereby sidestepping their complicated kinematic dependence. One peculiar implication of this proof is then that it can be made for any parametric kinematic point \vec{k} , that is without taking any limit. This is particularly convenient given that enumerating all possible IR divergent kinematic limits becomes cumbersome at high perturbative orders.

The summand of $\sigma_{\rm d}$ corresponding to **s**, as given in eq. (3.21), is clearly singular at the locations $\eta_{\tau}|_{\rm s} = \eta_{\tau}(\vec{k},0) - \eta_{\rm s}(\vec{k},0) = 0$ and at soft points. That is, regions of kinematics space at which any energy vanishes. In order to make the notation less heavy, let us call $x_{\rm s} = \eta_{\rm s}(\vec{k},0)$ and suppress the dependence of functions unless their dependence is itself dependent on **s**, which is an index that is summed over.

In the absence of numerators, we could immediately show that the sum in eq. (3.21) is identically zero thanks to the general partial fractioning identity given in eq. (3.1). If observables are non-trivial, instead, we have to expand the numerator in the variable t. Let us assume, in the following, that

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k}) = \mathcal{O}_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}(\vec{k}), \quad \forall (\vec{k}) \text{ s.t. } x_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} = x_{\mathbf{s}} + \epsilon,$$
(3.22)

for fixed $\epsilon > 0$. This condition, which will be discussed in detail later, allows to state that in a neighbourhood of problematic points $[f \ h \ \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}](Q_0/x_{\mathbf{s}}) = g(x_{\mathbf{s}}), \forall \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}\text{-ch}}$, where gis a continuous function on $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ in virtue of the continuity of the observable, of the numerator and of the normalising function. Its singularity at the origin is not problematic if we use that the integrand must initially be UV convergent, either on itself or with the aid of counterterms. With this in mind, we can write

$$\sigma_{\mathrm{d}} = \frac{1}{Q_0^3 \prod_{e \in \mathbf{e}_{\mathrm{int}}} E_e \prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_1^\circ, \mathbf{s}_2^\circ\}} \eta_{\tau}} \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \{\mathbf{s}_1^\mathrm{v}, \mathbf{s}_2^\mathrm{v}, \mathbf{s}_1^\mathrm{r}\}} \frac{x_{\mathbf{s}}^2 g(x_{\mathbf{s}})}{\prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_1^\mathrm{v}, \mathbf{s}_2^\mathrm{v}, \mathbf{s}_1^\mathrm{r}\} \setminus \mathbf{s}} (x_{\tau} - x_{\mathbf{s}})}, \ \forall \vec{k} \text{ s.t. } x_{\tau} = x_{\mathbf{s}} + \epsilon$$

$$(3.23)$$

We will now rearrange the sum in a way that makes cancellations manifest.

$$\sigma_{\rm d} = \frac{1}{Q_0^3 \prod_{e \in \mathbf{e}_{\rm int}} E_e \prod_{\tau \in \{\mathbf{s}_1^\circ, \mathbf{s}_2^\circ\}} \eta_\tau} \frac{\frac{x_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm v}}^2 g(x_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm v}}) - x_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm r}}^2 g(x_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm r}})}{x_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm v}} - x_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm r}}} - \frac{x_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\rm v}}^2 g(x_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\rm v}}) - x_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm r}}^2 g(x_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm r}})}{x_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\rm v}} - x_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\rm r}}}$$
(3.24)

Written in this form, it is clear that away from soft points, when $x_{\mathbf{s}} - x_{\tau} \to 0$, for $\tau, \mathbf{s} \in {\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathbf{v}}, \mathbf{s}_2^{\mathbf{v}}, \mathbf{s}_1^{\mathbf{r}}}$, σ_d is finite. A power-counting procedure can be set up to show that this integrand has at most integrable singularities at soft points. Such an analysis, however, requires studying the structure of g and is performed rigorously in section 3.2.7. The straightforward cancellation structure that manifests itself in eq. (3.24) already alludes to its generalisation. Also, except for considerations regarding the observable dependence, this cancellation pattern does not discriminate between types of singularities (pinched or non-pinched) and holds on intersection of singular surfaces.

Finally, we go back to the condition shown in eq. (3.22), which enforces the IR safety of the observable. We will assume that the observables only depend on the size of the cut and the masses of the particles belonging to the Cutkosky cut, other than their momentum, that is:

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}(\{\vec{q}_e(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}\vec{k})\}_{e\in\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}}) = \mathcal{O}_{|\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}|}(\{\vec{q}_e(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}\vec{k}), m_e\}_{e\in\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}}).$$
(3.25)

When rewriting (3.22) explicitly for a pinched singularity and the momentum routing shown in figure 2d, with $Q^{\mu} = (Q^0, \vec{0})$, we find:

$$\lim_{(\vec{l'}-\vec{k'})\cdot\vec{k'}\to 0} \mathcal{O}_3\left(\vec{p}_g = \vec{k'} - \vec{l'} \; ; \; \vec{p}_{\vec{d}} = -\vec{k'} \; ; \; \vec{p}_d = \vec{l'}\right)$$
$$= \lim_{(\vec{l'}-\vec{k'})\cdot\vec{k'}\to 0} \mathcal{O}_2\left(\vec{p}_{\vec{d}} = \vec{k'} - \vec{l'} + (-\vec{k'}) = -\vec{l'} \; ; \; \vec{p}_d = \vec{l'}\right), \tag{3.26}$$

which is the familiar IR-safety condition that relates observable functions \mathcal{O}_n acting on kinematic configurations of different multiplicities n in the soft and/or collinear limits of its massless constituents. Thus the constraint on observables implies by the request of finiteness of σ_d on pinched singularities can be satisfied in the usual way of constructing observables.

We can also consider the potential singularity at $x_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathsf{v}}} - x_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\mathsf{v}}} = 0$, identifying the phasespace points satisfying $|\vec{k}'| = |\vec{l}'|$, (see eq. (2.13)). This corresponds to a configuration on the *non-pinched* E-surface of the one-loop triangle on the left (right) of the Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathsf{v}}}$ ($\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\mathsf{v}}}$). The study of the regularity of the differential cross-section at these threshold singularities seems at first glance to follow completely analogously to that of the IR pinched singularities. Perhaps surprisingly, this implies that we also expect cancellation between the two threshold singularities of the Cutkosky virtual contributions illustrated in figure 7. We can follow the exact same study of cancellation between the IR pinched surfaces in the sum of terms in the r.h.s. of eq. (3.21), with the *only* qualitative difference being the resulting condition on the observable function:

$$\lim_{|\vec{l'}| \to |\vec{k'}|} \mathcal{O}_2\left(\vec{p_d} = \vec{l'} \; ; \; \vec{p_d} = -\vec{l'}\right) = \lim_{|\vec{l'}| \to |\vec{k'}|} \mathcal{O}_2\left(\vec{p_d} = \vec{k'} \; ; \; \vec{p_d} = -\vec{k'}\right). \tag{3.27}$$



(a) Threshold of the $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\vee}}$ cut at $|\vec{k}'| = \frac{Q^{0}}{2}$

(b) Threshold of the $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathsf{v}}}$ cut at $|\vec{l}'| = \frac{Q^0}{2}$

Figure 7. Pair of cancelling contributions from the E-surfaces (dashed green line) $|\vec{k}'| + |\vec{k}' - \vec{Q}| - Q^0 = 0$ and $|\vec{l}'| + |\vec{l}' - \vec{Q}| - Q^0 = 0$ of the Cutkosky cuts (solid red line) $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\vee}}$ and $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\vee}}$ respectively. When considering $\vec{Q} = \vec{0}$, these two singularities are reached when $x_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\vee}} - x_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\vee}} = 0$, that is whenever $|\vec{k}'| = |\vec{l}'|$ because of the rescaling change of variables with $t = t_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\vee}}^{\star}$ (or $t = t_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\vee}}^{\star}$) which will map any such point to $t|\vec{k}'| = t|\vec{l}'| = \frac{Q^0}{2}$.

It is clear that this condition is of a completely different nature than the IR safety condition obtained in (3.26). Indeed, the limit $\lim_{|\vec{l'}| \to |\vec{k'}|}$ does not imply any degeneracy in the experimental signature since one can obviously resolve the directional information of the quark and anti-quark in the final state. Consequently, one should in general expect observable functions *not* to satisfy eq. (3.27), implying that for non-trivial observable functions, considering the contour deformation discussed in section 5.3.4 is necessary. A couple of key additional points are in order:

- When considering *fully* inclusive cross-sections, observable conditions similar to eq. (3.27) are *always* satisfied, so that the computation can be performed *without* considering a deformation. Note however that omitting altogether certain Cutkosky cut contributions effectively amounts to setting the observable to exactly zero for them. This implies that even for the computation of the inclusive NLO cross-section of the scattering process $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma^* \rightarrow Ht\bar{t}$, a deformation would be warranted since all Cutkosky cuts involving *only* the two top quarks are not considered given that the observable demands a final-state Higgs.
- Because the two observable functions on each side of the condition eq. (3.27) do not share any loop momentum dependency, it is clear that in the case of the double-triangle supergraph, only a *constant* observable function can satisfy it (i.e. inclusive measurement).
- Observable functions often consists of only products of Heaviside functions (e.g. implementing phase-space cuts and/or binning into histograms), in which case this opens the possibility of investigating dynamically at run time and for each integration sampling point what are the E-surfaces whose pair of canceling Cutkosky cuts are *not* either both selected or both removed by the observable definition. Then, the contour deformation for this point only needs to consider those surviving E-surfaces.

3.2 Proof of local cancellations of threshold (IR) singularities

In the following sections we will construct the LU representation for a generic differential cross-section and require it to be free of non-integrable singularities. We show that the resulting constraint on observable functions is satisfied by IR-safe observables. This results in a systematic proof of local IR cancellations within the LU representation of differential cross-sections.

3.2.1 Causal flows

In section 2 we introduced cross-sections by referring to them as weighted sums of interference diagrams, each of which is associated to a well-defined Cutkosky cut, which in turn corresponds to a Dirac delta imposing the conservation of on-shell energies. For a fixed and positive center of mass energy, the equation imposing conservation of the on-shell energies is the equation of an E-surface. These deltas, in Cutkosky's original derivation [123], arise from contour deforming the energy around thresholds of the diagrams. However, such a derivation obscures the important subtlety that the energy variables of the particles in the Cutkosky cut are linearly dependent and thus cannot be used as independent integration variables. In the following, we will provide an alternative derivation of Cutkosky cuts, by reducing the integration along thresholds to a one-dimensional problem.

This derivation of Cutkosky cuts will expose the local structure of the integrands and the location of their singularities. It is formulated such that the cancellations of all divergences related to E-surfaces are local, thus allowing one to construct an integrand which is locally free of divergences by aligning the integration measures supported by the different Cutkosky cuts. Furthermore, it shows how considering transition probabilities, rather than amplitudes, is required for the infrared structure of observables to be completely understood.

Let

$$M_{\Gamma} = \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{L} \frac{d^3 k_i}{(2\pi)^3} \right) \frac{f(\vec{k})}{\prod_{j \in \mathbf{e}} E_j \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}} \eta_{\tau}}, \qquad (3.28)$$

be the LTD representation of a supergraph Γ , with

$$f(\vec{k}) = \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}} \eta_{\tau} \sum_{\mathbf{b} \in \mathcal{B}} \frac{N(\vec{k}) \prod_{j \in \mathbf{e} \setminus \mathbf{b}} E_j}{\prod_{i \in \mathbf{e} \setminus \mathbf{b}} (q_i^2 - m_i^2)} \bigg|_{\{q_j^0 = \sigma_j^{\mathbf{b}} E_j\}_{j \in \mathbf{b}}}.$$
(3.29)

The discontinuities of M_{Γ} across its s-channel thresholds represent distinct summands that contribute to define the total probability of the process whose initial states are fixed to be the particles in **a** and whose final states are, for now, unspecified. The function f, which is the LTD representation of the supergraph multiplied by the product of all energies and all E-surfaces appearing in the representation itself, is finite for any value of the loop momenta.

We introduce a dummy integration variable t by introducing unity as the integral of a normalized function

$$M_{\Gamma} = \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{L} \frac{d^3 \vec{k}_i}{(2\pi)^3}\right) dt \frac{f(\vec{k})h(t)}{\prod_{j \in \mathbf{e}} 2E_j \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}} \eta_{\tau}}.$$
(3.30)

and then introduce the change of variables $\vec{k} = \vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k}')$, with $\vec{\phi}$ being the solution to the following first-order system of differential equations:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k}) = \kappa(\vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k})) \\ \vec{\phi}(0, \vec{k}) = \vec{k} \end{cases}, \tag{3.31}$$

where we introduce the vector field $\kappa : \mathbb{R}^{3L} \to \mathbb{R}^{3L}$ which we require to be Lipschitzcontinuous. We will use the map $\phi_t : \vec{k} \to \phi(t, \vec{k})$ to change the parametrisation of the phase space integral. If the zeros of κ form a zero-measured subset of \mathbb{R}^{3L} with respect to the Lebesgue measure in \mathbb{R}^{3L} , then the change of variables is well-defined. Thus, we can exclude all the sinks, sources and ridges that the flow ϕ_t may have from the integration. Therefore, we can write

$$M_{\Gamma} = \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{L} \frac{d^3 k'_i}{(2\pi)^3} \right) dt |\det[\mathbb{J}_{\vec{k}'} \vec{\phi}]| \frac{f(\vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k}'))h(t)}{\prod_{j \in \mathbf{e}} E_j \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}} \eta_{\tau}} \,. \tag{3.32}$$

We are now interested in performing contour integration in the variable t. In order to do this, observe that for each \vec{k} , the curve $\vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k})$ crosses a number of E-surfaces. However this alone does not allow to determine how many times a specific E-surface is intersected by a curve in the flow, and if approaching an E-surface along a curve yields a simple pole in the integrand. If the pole is simple, then there is a well-defined principal value procedure associated with it, and the sign of the imaginary part acquired in the contour integration is fixed by the sign of the Feynman prescription.

It is possible, however, to construct a flow whose properties make the answer to these two questions manifest. Specifically, consider solutions to flow ODEs where the vector field κ is chosen to be causal, that is

$$\kappa \cdot \nabla_{\vec{k}} \eta_{\mathbf{s}} > 0, \quad \forall \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{\text{s-ch}}, \quad \forall \vec{k} \text{ s.t. } \eta_{\mathbf{s}} = 0.$$
 (3.33)

If that is the case, then the flow will consequently have three properties:

- $\forall \vec{k}$, there exists at most one value $t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}$ s.t. $\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star},\vec{k})) = 0$, which follows from the fact that the curve $\vec{\phi}(t,\vec{k})$ cannot flow outward *and* inward of the E-surface $\eta_{\mathbf{s}}$ without violating the causal prescription of eq. (3.33).
- $\partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}},\vec{k})) \neq 0$, since $\partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}},\vec{k})) = \nabla_{\vec{k}} \eta_{\mathbf{s}} \cdot \partial_t \vec{\phi}|_{t=t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}}} = \nabla_{\vec{k}} \eta_{\mathbf{s}} \cdot \kappa|_{t=t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}}}$, which is guaranteed to be non zero by eq. (3.33) for any $\eta_{\mathbf{s}}$ with $\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}$.
- $\operatorname{sign}[\partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}] = \operatorname{sign}[\partial_t \eta_{\tau}], \quad \forall \vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k}) \in \delta \eta_{\mathbf{s}} \cap \delta \eta_{\tau}, \text{ also trivially guaranteed by eq. (3.33)},$

where we define $\delta\eta_{\mathbf{s}} := \left\{ \vec{k} \in \mathbb{R}^{3L} \middle| \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k}) = 0 \right\}$. With a slight abuse of notation, we write $\partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}}, \vec{k})) = \partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k}))|_{t=t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}}}$.

The first property determines the number of intersections a curve has with a determined E-surface. The second determines that all poles appearing on the real t axis for fixed \vec{k} are simple. The last one, although momentarily obscure, will be fundamental in order to realize local cancellations of pinch singularities. We stress that the first two conditions are

not strictly necessary in order to build a valid contour integration in t. Indeed, regarding the first condition, there is nothing in the principal value procedure that forbids us to contour integrate around two distinct poles. Regarding the second condition, one could think of excluding from integration the regions of space at which $\partial_t \eta(\vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k})) = 0$, which lie on a zero-measured set, and then establish if the integration is finite.

Given the first property, for every \vec{k} one can define the set

$$\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}} := \left\{ \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{\text{s-ch}} \middle| \exists t \in \mathbb{R} \text{ with } \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t,\vec{k})) = 0 \right\} , \qquad (3.34)$$

which contains all the E-surfaces which are intersected once by the curve $\vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k})$. Thus, for each $\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}$, we can write the expansion of $\eta_{\mathbf{s}}$ around its unique zero, $t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}$:

$$\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t,\vec{k})) = (t - t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star})\partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t,\vec{k}))|_{t = t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}} + \mathcal{O}\left((t - t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star})^2\right).$$
(3.35)

and the first order in the expansion is ensured to be non-zero by the second property. In conclusion, we observe that the existence of a causal vector field κ being causal on all the E-surfaces of the supergraph Γ is guaranteed by the work carried out in ref. [89]. Since the causal vector field, as constructed therein, is infinitely differentiable, Sard's theorem also ensures that its zeros lie on a zero-measured surface. For future convenience, given a set of points $V \subset \mathbb{R}^{3L}$, we define a set containing all the points that can be mapped into V by the causal flow

$$\vec{b}^{-1}[V] = \left\{ \vec{k} \in \mathbb{R}^{3L} \middle| \exists t \in \mathbb{R} \text{ with } \vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k}) \in V \right\}.$$
(3.36)

The inverse image of the causal flow is fundamental in determining the analytic properties of the supergraph and how they relate to those of residues in t of the supergraph as parametrised along the flow.

3.2.2 Visualisation of the causal flow

In figures 8a, 8b and 8c the causal flow of a particular one-loop example, called Box 4E in ref. [89], is shown. Since the origin is not in the interior of all E-surfaces, the rescaling strategy defined in section 3.1.1 cannot be applied. For all $1 \rightarrow N$ processes the simple rescaling flow is applicable, and we show the causal flow of Box 4E only for the purpose of illustrating the complications arising for a non-trivial overlap structure of E-surfaces, such as the one that can appear for challenging supergraph topologies of $2 \rightarrow N$ processes. In that case, it is likely that the system of ODE defining the causal flow requires a numerical solution, but all properties of the LU representation discussed in this paper would still hold. In particular, we observe that each sampling point (circled in red) of the LU integrand still yields exactly one or zero projection onto the contributing E-surfaces. This is thanks to the presence of sinks and sources in the causal flow that its parameterisation can only asymptotically approach, but never reach. Moreover, it is clear that since the same causal flow is used to project sampling points onto all reachable E-surfaces, then E-surface intersections are reached simultaneously by the corresponding projections, which is key for the local cancellation of the corresponding singularities. Finally, the orientation of the deformation vector field on these intersections makes it clear why the conditions discussed below eq. (3.33) on the derivative ∂_t of the flow induced are fulfilled.



(b) Close-up on the central region of figure 8a. (c)

(c) Rescaling flow for Box_4E with $\vec{p_i} = \vec{0}$.

Figure 8. Causal flow for the complicated maximal overlap structure of the Box_4E one-loop example of section 3.1 of ref. [89] (figures 8a and 8b) and its much simpler pure rescaling counterpart when setting all spatial parts of the external momenta of Box_4E to zero (figure 8c). The x and y axes indicate the k_x and k_y component of the Box_4E loop momentum. The circled red point indicates possible input sampling points that the LU representation depends on and the non-circled red points depict the various projections induced by the causal flow on the contributing E-surfaces. The green lines represent $\vec{\phi}^{-1}[V]$ with V being the circled dots. The vector field depicts the orientation of the contour deformation vector constructed according to ref. [89] (using the four deformation sources indicated with blue dots), and its colour pertains to its relative magnitude.



Figure 9. Causal flow of the DT supergraph with $Q^{\mu} = (2,0,0,0)$ in the phase-space plane $(\vec{k}',\vec{l}') = \frac{1}{2}((0,0,\lambda_k),(0,\lambda_l,\lambda_l))$. Drawing conventions follow those of figure 8 and the points labeled "i)" are integrable singularities while the ones analoguous to "e)" correspond to the intersection of the two nonpinched E-surfaces of the doubletriangle supergraph.

The causal flow of the double-triangle supergraph is more delicate to represent than that of Box 4E, since there are two loop momenta in that case. We choose to project the six-dimensional input space (\vec{k}', \vec{l}') of the DT topology with $Q^{\mu} = (2, 0, 0, 0)$ onto the parametric plane $\lambda_k \hat{e}_k + \lambda_l \hat{e}_l$ with $\hat{e}_k = ((0, 0, \frac{1}{2}), (0, 0, 0))$ and $\hat{e}_l = ((0, 0, 0), (0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}))$. This section involving a non-constant momentum component is convenient since it necessarily contains the image of a rescaling flow, thus allowing to render the flow within this same plane, like it was the case in figure 9. An important remark is that the E-surfaces $\eta_{s_1^v}$ and $\eta_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\vee}}$ are unbounded. This is a result of their independence of λ_k (resp. λ_l) which only controls the one-loop integration volume of the triangle loop remaining on the left (resp. right) of the Cutkosky cuts $\eta_{s_1^v}$ and $\eta_{s_2^v}$. This is what allows the LU representation of the DT supergraph to probe the UV regime with a rescaling parameter of $\mathcal{O}(1)$. In contrast, the volume described by the E-surface $\eta_{s_1^r}$ results from an equation involving the sum of three square roots and is therefore quite complicated but still bounded since it corresponds to a particular hyper-plane of the three-body decay phase-space volume $Q^{\mu} \rightarrow (k'^{\mu}, k'^{\mu} - l'^{\mu}, l'^{\mu} - Q^{\mu})$, which we know to be necessarily contained within a sphere of radius $\sqrt{Q^2}$. Notice however, that even for a sampling point (\vec{k}', \vec{l}') with arbitrary large moduli $|\vec{k}'|$ and $|\vec{l}'|$, the global rescaling flow will always yield a contribution for the realemission $\eta_{s_1^r}$ and $\eta_{s_2^r}$ Cutkosky cuts. However these will be associated with very small values of the parameter $t_{\mathbf{s}_1^r}^{\star}$ and $t_{\mathbf{s}_2^r}^{\star}$ yielding a contribution exponentially suppressed for our choice of normalised function $\tilde{h}(t)$ of eq. (3.6). For the particular projection chosen for figure 9, the integrable singularities at $\vec{k}' = \vec{0}$ and $\vec{l}' = \vec{0}$ also correspond to vanishing values of the corresponding rescaling solution and will thus also be suppressed. These observations underline the appealing feature of LU that the change of variable $k \to \phi(t, k)$ does not affect the interpretation of what kinematic region of the cross-section is probed
since contributions from t_i^* solutions far from one are exponentially suppressed. Moreover, in the particular case of a global rescaling causal flow, we even observe that the change of variable retains the collinear and soft properties of the momenta of the (pairs of) partons in the input configuration. This allows one to easily probe potentially singular regions, which we investigate in section 6.1.2 by choosing a different projection of the double-triangle sampling space.

3.2.3 The Local Unitarity representation of differential cross-sections

In his original 1960 paper [123], Cutkosky recognised that interference diagrams can be seen as the imaginary part acquired by contour deforming around specific thresholds of supergraphs. The equation of the threshold appears in the energy conserving delta as a result of the principal value identity that establishes the functional form of the imaginary part acquired by contour deforming around a pole on the real axis. Moreover, every supergraph Γ gives rise to a number of squared amplitudes obtained by summing over the imaginary parts acquired by contour integrating along all of its thresholds corresponding to cuts $\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}$. Such a derivation does not detail the subtleties of setting up a contour deformation programme for the supergraph. For example, it does not specify what constraints the chosen contour needs to satisfy and what integration variables can easily be chosen to transform the real integration into a contour integration.

We will now show that is possible to see Cutkosky cuts as the discontinuities of the LTD representation of the supergraph along the one-dimensional flow line of a causal flow. This allows us to explicitly construct a local representation of differential cross section from which the second golden rule arises naturally as a consequence of identifying picking up the residues of the LTD representation of the supergraph along the flow with explicitly solving the Dirac delta associated to Cutkosky cuts. Thus the work in this section should be considered to be equivalent to that of aligning the integration measures $d\Pi^{s}$ and, specifically, resolving Dirac deltas expressing energy conservation across on-shell physical particles.

In the following, we will assume that we have a causal flow $\vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k})$. For every fixed \vec{k} , the unique curve $\vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k})$ passing through it will intersect a subset of all E-surfaces. Recall that we defined $\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}$ to be the set of such E-surfaces in eq. (3.34), which can be expanded as shown in eq. (3.35). For all s-channel E-surfaces not in $\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}$, that is for every $\tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\text{s-ch}} \setminus \mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}$, we have that $\eta_{\tau}(\vec{\phi}(t,\vec{k})) \neq 0$ for every t. Thus, every E-surface not contained in $\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}$ never has a vanishing zeroth order in the expansion on the flow line. Thus, given a supergraph

$$M_{\Gamma} = \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{L} \frac{d^3 k_i}{(2\pi)^3}\right) \frac{f(\vec{k})}{\prod_{j \in \mathbf{e}} 2E_j \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}} \eta_{\tau}}, \qquad (3.37)$$

one can define a locally finite volume form as

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{d}}^{\Gamma}[\vec{\phi}] = \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}} \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{s}} \lim_{t \to t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}} (t - t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}) \frac{f(\vec{\phi}(t,\vec{k})) |\det[\mathbb{J}_{\vec{k}'}\vec{\phi}]|}{\eta_{\mathbf{s}} \prod_{i \in \mathbf{e}} 2E_{i} \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{L}} \eta_{\tau} \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{R}} \bar{\eta}_{\tau}} \frac{h(t)\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}}{\left[\prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{\emptyset}} \eta_{\tau}\right]_{\epsilon=0}} \,. \tag{3.38}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{L} &= \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathcal{E} | \boldsymbol{\tau} \subset \mathbf{s} \} \\
\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{R} &= \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathcal{E} | \mathbf{s} \subset \boldsymbol{\tau} \} \\
\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{\emptyset} &= \mathcal{E} \setminus (\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{L} \cup \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{R}) \setminus \{ \mathbf{s} \}
\end{aligned}$$
(3.39)

and $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}$ defines the observable and is a function of \vec{k} through the dependence on cut edge momenta, that is

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k}) = \mathcal{O}_{|\mathbf{s}|}(\{(m_e, \vec{q}_e)\}_{e \in \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}}).$$
(3.40)

At the integrand level, $\sigma_{\rm d}^{\Gamma}$ reproduces what we obtained in section 2 through LTD and the golden rule for differential cross-sections in eq. (2.25). The index associated to the residue is fixed by the convention $\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{s}} = +\operatorname{sign}[\partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star},\vec{k}))]$. Fixing this choice is equivalent to choosing a Feynman prescription for the s-channel thresholds which are included in the definition of $\sigma_{\rm d}^{\Gamma}$; this arbitrary choice was already discussed in ref. [123]. The relation

$$\frac{d\sigma}{d\mathcal{O}} = \sum_{\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}} \int \prod_{i=1}^{L} \frac{d^3 \vec{k}_i}{(2\pi)^3} \sigma_{\mathrm{d}}^{\Gamma} , \qquad (3.41)$$

defines the Local Unitarity (LU) representation of the differential cross-section $d\sigma/d\mathcal{O}$. In the following, we will sometimes refer to $\sigma_{\rm d}^{\Gamma}$ as $\sigma_{\rm d}$, without the explicit reference to the supergraph Γ .

Yet another feature of eq. (3.38) is the presence of unregulated E-surfaces, that is E-surfaces for which the prescription can be set to zero. This is a consequence of $\sigma_{\rm d}$ not being divergent at the location of these singularities, that is:

$$\lim_{t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star} \to t_{\tau}^{\star}} (t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star} - t_{\tau}^{\star}) \lim_{t \to t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}} (t - t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}) \frac{f(\vec{\phi}(t, \vec{k}))}{\eta_{\mathbf{s}} \prod_{i \in \mathbf{e}} E_{i} \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{L}} \eta_{\tau} \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{R}} \bar{\eta}_{\tau}} \frac{h(t)\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}}{\left[\prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{\emptyset}} \eta_{\tau}\right]_{\epsilon=0}} = 0, \quad \forall \tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}^{\emptyset}.$$

$$(3.42)$$

This is related to the property of f that establishes a necessary condition for the multiple limits of the LTD expression when approaching the intersection of many E-surfaces to be zero. More specifically, given a set of E-surfaces $\mathcal{E}' \subseteq \mathcal{E}$ intersecting on a surface, one can ask how $f(\vec{k})$ behaves in a neighbourhood of any point on the intersection surface. We will show that approaching the intersection $\delta\eta_{\mathbf{s}} \cap \delta\eta_{\tau}$, f does not vanish if and only if $\mathbf{s} \cap \tau \in {\mathbf{s}, \tau, \emptyset}$, that is if one of the corresponding set of vertices defining the cuts is contained within the other, or their intersection is the empty set. This property was assumed in the usual construction of Cutkosky cuts, and was used extensively in section 2.

In order to generalise and properly describe this property we define *cross-free* families of subsets. A cross-free family is a *laminar* family of subsets of the vertices such that no subset in it can be written as the union of two or more sets in the family itself. A laminar family is a family of sets such that for any two sets, the intersection is either one of the two sets or the empty set. These two definitions imply that a cross-free family is a set of $|\mathbf{v}| - 1$ subsets of the vertices. Let us define the set of all cross-free families of connected cuts of the graph:

$$\mathcal{F} = \{ F \subseteq \mathcal{E} | F \text{ is a cross-free family} \}.$$
(3.43)



Figure 10. A cross-free family of connected subsets of the vertices, shown as blue circles, which contain the corresponding vertices. The cross-free family of subsets is associated to a unique (if existing) spanning tree (solid line). Observe that by construction, the family allows at least one choice of orientations of the edges (interpreted as energy flow) such that each cut has either only an incoming energy flow or only an outgoing energy flow.

An example of a cross-free family is illustrated in figure 10. We then write

$$M_{\Gamma} = \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{L} \frac{d^3 k_i}{(2\pi)^3}\right) \frac{1}{\prod_{i \in \mathbf{e}} 2E_i} \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{\vec{\alpha} \in \{\pm 1\}^{|F|}} \frac{c_{F\vec{\alpha}}(\vec{k})}{\prod_{\mathbf{s} \in F} \eta_{(\mathbf{s}, \alpha_{\mathbf{s}})}}, \qquad (3.44)$$

where c_F is a polynomial in the energies and the spatial loop momenta. Observe that we do not claim c_F to be non-zero; instead, should be considered as a constraint on the functional form of M_{Γ} which guarantees that eq. (3.42) holds. Determining the coefficients c_F is a non-trivial task which can be carried out with the treatment of ref. [93], and is not strictly necessary for the proof.

Finally, we observe that it is also arbitrary that only a subset of thresholds of the supergraph should be selected to contribute with their discontinuities to σ_d . In the current way of defining differential cross-sections, all the residues associated to thresholds with $\delta(\mathbf{s}) \cap \mathbf{a} \neq \mathbf{a}$ are completely ignored: the sum in eq. (3.38) runs over elements which also are in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch} , and thus all the thresholds in \mathcal{E}_{isr} are left out of the definition.

The price to pay for this choice is the appearance of Initial-State Radiation (ISR) singularities in observables, which are commonly treated within the collinear mass factorisation paradigm.

For now, as anticipated, we show that σ_d is bounded on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{\mathrm{isr},\epsilon}$ where

$$B_{\mathrm{isr},\epsilon} = B_{\epsilon}(\vec{\phi}^{-1}[\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{isr}}]), \quad \mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{isr}} = \left(\bigcup_{\boldsymbol{\tau}\in\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{s-ch}}}\delta\eta_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}\right) \cap \left(\bigcup_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{isr}}}\delta\eta_{\mathbf{s}}\right), \tag{3.45}$$

with

$$B_{\epsilon}(V) = \left\{ \vec{k} \in \mathbb{R}^{3L} \Big| \|\vec{k} - \vec{v}\| < \epsilon, \ \forall \vec{v} \in V \right\}.$$
(3.46)

An important subtlety in the definition of σ_d , in eq. (3.38), is the possibility of taking the limit for $(t - t_s^*) \rightarrow 0$ of a quantity that has raised propagators, that is higher powers of the propagators: this makes σ_d ill-defined as the limit would yield infinity. Raised propagators and their treatment varies according to their origin, following a general principle: that the degenerate case is obtained as the limit of the non-degenerate case. More specifically:

- Raised propagators that are due to external self-energy insertions can be dealt with by showing that after mass renormalisation in the on-shell scheme, the contribution of a self-energy diagram equates that of terms of order one or higher in a Taylor expansion around the on-shell condition. This realisation allows us to effectively lower the raised propagator by one power, thus solving the problem. An extensive analysis of this method is performed in section 4. Raised propagators that are due to internal energy insertions can be dealt with by adding a different fictitious shift in each of the raised propagators, calculating σ_d with this configuration, and then taking the limit in which all the fictitious shift vanish.
- Two or more distinct E-surfaces intersecting in a non-empty region can give rise to a locally raised propagator (the first-order expansion of the E-surfaces in the flow variables t is proportional to $(t - t^*)$ for all the E-surfaces which vanish at the intersection, with t^* being the flow location of the intersection point). In this case we impose the behaviour of σ_d to be the continuation of the non-intersecting case. More specifically, since the deformation field κ , related to the causal flow by eq. (3.31), is non-zero on any point lying on a non-pinched E-surface, we are ensured that the set of curves passing through an intersection point is zero-measured. If we define

$$\mathcal{I} = \vec{\phi}^{-1}[\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{s-ch}}], \quad \mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{s-ch}} = \bigcup_{\mathbf{s}, \tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{s-ch}} \mathbf{s} \neq \tau} \left(\delta \eta_{\mathbf{s}} \cap \delta \eta_{\tau}\right)$$
(3.47)

then \mathcal{I} is zero-measured with respect to \mathbb{R}^{3L} , as argued before, and thus proving that $\sigma_{\rm d}$ is integrable on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{{\rm isr},\epsilon} \setminus \mathcal{I}$ itself proves that the integral of $\sigma_{\rm d}$ on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{{\rm isr},\epsilon}$ is finite.

• For a particular choice of the collision reference frame there can be E-surfaces corresponding to different Cutkosky cuts but which take the same functional form (e.g. see $\eta_{\mathbf{s}_1^r}$ and $\eta_{\mathbf{s}_2^r}$ in the example process discussed in section 3.1). These raised poles are spurious and can be eliminated by taking advantage of Lorentz invariance to change the frame.

Finally, we observe that σ_d is continuous on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon}$ only if soft configurations are also excluded, since at these locations the inverse energies (other than, possibly, elements of \mathcal{E}_{int}) of massless particles diverge. We define

$$\mathcal{W} = \vec{\phi}^{-1}[\mathbf{S}_{\text{soft}}], \quad \mathbf{S}_{\text{soft}} = \left(\bigcup_{\boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathcal{E}_{\text{s-ch}}} \delta \eta_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}\right) \cap \bigcup_{\mathbf{x} \subseteq \mathbf{e}} \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{x}}, \quad (3.48)$$

where S_x is defined as in eq. (2.37). The definition of \mathcal{W} is manifestly a zero-measured set with respect to \mathbb{R}^{3L} . We then consider σ_d to be defined on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon} \setminus (\mathcal{I} \cup \mathcal{W})$. We

will always make a distinction between the sets \mathcal{I} and \mathcal{W} , as it makes the unfolding of the proof easier to understand.

We shall now show that σ_d is integrable on the $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon} \setminus (\mathcal{I} \cup \mathcal{W})$ space, which implies that σ_d has a finite integral on the whole $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon}$ space.

3.2.4 Cancellation of pinched surfaces

We now investigate the mechanism that leads to the cancellation of pinched E-surfaces (and E-surfaces in general, in the fully inclusive case). As anticipated previously, the mechanism relies on the generalisation of the straightforward algebraic relation in eq. (3.1):

$$\lim_{t_1 \to t_N} \dots \lim_{t_{N-1} \to t_N} \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{f(t_i)}{\prod_{j \neq i} (t_j - t_i)} = \frac{1}{(N-1)!} \partial_t^{N-1} f.$$
(3.49)

Cancellations are explicitly shown by expanding all the summands in $\sigma_{\rm d}$ in the proximity parameters $t_{\rm s}^{\star} - t_{\tau}^{\star}$. This leads to large expressions, with multiple sums and apparently complicated coefficients; however, these expressions allow to factorise sums in the form of eq. (3.49), and thus to immediately prove cancellations. This proof thus has the remarkable advantage of applying to any type of singularity. Differentiating pinched and non-pinched thresholds is the only important distinction and is only instrumental for characterising what are the IR-safety constraints imposed on the observable definition.

We stress that cancellation of pinched E-surfaces, by itself, does not guarantee that σ_d is integrable on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus (\mathcal{I} \cup \mathcal{W}) \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon}$, and specifically at the locations of soft singularities. However, it shows that purely collinear singularities (that is, excluding the boundaries of a pinched singularity, the soft points) of the summands of σ_d are subject to cancellations, and that at soft locations, the resulting power-counting is less severe. The proof is thus concluded only after a power-counting analysis of soft singularities (which is carried in subsection 3.2.7).

Another important feature of σ_d is that the E-surfaces are associated to Feynman prescriptions which could complicate the proof for complex kinematics, e.g., in the presence of a deformation. In the following we will drop the prescription and discuss the case of a non-zero deformation in section 5.3.4.

The limits in the definition of σ_d , for $\vec{k} \in \mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus (\mathcal{I} \cup \mathcal{W}) \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon}$, can be performed explicitly and yield

$$\sigma_{\rm d} = \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}} \left[\frac{g(\vec{\phi}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star},\vec{k}))|\det[\mathbb{J}_{\vec{k}'}\vec{\phi}]|}{\prod_{\tau\in\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}\setminus\{\mathbf{s}\}} \left[\sum_{j>0}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star}-t_{\tau}^{\star})^{j}\partial_{t}^{j}\eta_{\tau}(\vec{\phi}(t_{\tau}^{\star},\vec{k}))/j!\right]} \right] \frac{h(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star})\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}}{|\partial_{t}\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t_{\mathbf{s}}^{\star},\vec{k}))|}, \quad (3.50)$$

where

$$g = \frac{f}{\prod_{i \in \mathbf{e}} 2E_i \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E} \setminus \mathcal{E}_{\vec{k}, \vec{\phi}}} \eta_\tau} \,. \tag{3.51}$$

We remind the reader that the explicit unfolding of the dense eq. (3.50) for the doubletriangle supergraph of our example process is given in eq. (3.14). We will now rewrite $\sigma_{\rm d}$ in a more convenient form, in which the divided differences (3.49) are manifest:

$$\sigma_{\rm d} = \frac{1}{\prod_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}} |\partial_t \eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}},\vec{k}))|} \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}} \left[\frac{g(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}},\vec{k})w(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}},\vec{k})\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}}{\prod_{\tau\in\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}\setminus\{\mathbf{s}\}}(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}}-t^{\star}_{\tau})} \right],\tag{3.52}$$

where

$$w(t',\vec{k}) = \lim_{t \to t'} \frac{h(t) |\det\left[\mathbb{J}_{\vec{k}'}\vec{\phi}\right]|}{\prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}} \frac{\eta_{\tau}(\vec{\phi}(t,\vec{k}))}{(t-t_{\tau}^{\star})\partial_t \eta_{\tau}(\vec{\phi}(t_{\tau}^{\star},\vec{k}))}} \,.$$
(3.53)

We observe that, under appropriate conditions on h, $w(t_{s}^{\star}, \vec{k})$ is bounded for every \vec{k} . Furthermore, observe that we have factored out the product of the absolute value of the first order derivative of the E-surfaces in $\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k}\vec{\phi}}$, which can only be done when the following condition is satisfied:

$$\operatorname{sign}\left[\partial_t \eta_{\tau_1}(\vec{\phi}(t^{\star}_{\tau_1},\vec{k}))\right] = \operatorname{sign}\left[\partial_t \eta_{\tau_2}(\vec{\phi}(t^{\star}_{\tau_2},\vec{k}))\right], \quad \forall \tau_1, \tau_2 \in \mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}, \tag{3.54}$$

which is guaranteed by the choice of a causal flow. Specifically, the causal flow is constructed from a deformation which is explicitly constructed to satisfy the causal prescription on all E-surfaces *and on their intersections*. In this approach, we see how the realisation of IR cancellations is interlocked with causality, enforced through the definition of the Feynman prescription.

Eq. (3.52) is exactly in the form needed to apply divided differences. We will now set the stage to derive the conditions under which the observable function $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}$ preserves the IR cancellations established by the divided differences, and thus can be considered IR-safe. At first, let $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}} = 1$, $\forall \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}$, so that cancellations are trivially realised, since we can immediately apply the divided difference relation of eq. (3.49) to

$$\sigma_{\rm d} = \frac{1}{\prod_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}} |\partial_t\eta_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{\phi}(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}},\vec{k}))|} \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}} \left[\frac{g(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}},\vec{k})w(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}},\vec{k})}{\prod_{\tau\in\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}\setminus\{\mathbf{s}\}}(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}}-t^{\star}_{\tau})} \right]$$
(3.55)

and argue that all the multiple singular limits other than soft limits yield a finite result. Thus, in the fully inclusive case, σ_d is integrable on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon} \setminus (\mathcal{I} \cup B_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{W}))$, that is on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon} \setminus B_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{W})$. The simple pattern of cancellations in eq. (3.49) immediately applies for an arbitrary perturbative order and in the case of fully inclusive observables. For non-trivial observables, the situation is more complicated. In particular, we observe that observables carry an explicit dependence on \mathbf{s} , and not just indirectly through their dependence on $t_{\mathbf{s}}^*$: the functional form of the observables is dependent on the Cutkosky cut. Thus for arbitrary observables, the pattern of cancellations in eq. (3.49) does not necessarily hold. Instead, the request of IR-finiteness implies constraints on observables.

3.2.5 IR-safe observables and infrared scales

In this section we investigate the role that non-trivial observables play in the mechanism of cancelling divergences discussed in the previous section. Since observables discriminate Cutkosky cuts and are intrinsically local objects, proving that the sum is finite for nontrivial observables is not a purely algebraic matter like in the fully inclusive case, but can only be done in a neighbourhood of the problematic points. In principle, for what concerns the proof, an observable can depend on the supergraph Γ , the Cutkosky cut **s** it corresponds to, the whole set of loop variables of the supergraph \vec{k} , and the kinematic configuration of the initial states. In practice however, we defined observables as having a dependence on the momentum, mass and quantum numbers of only the particles in the Cutkosky cut. Thus, we will first work out a general sufficient condition for the cancellation pattern to be realised, and then enquire if and how observables satisfying eq. (3.40) satisfy these general constraints. We will impose these constraints to be flow-independent, since the choice of a causal vector field should not affect the physical properties of observables.

We start by observing that σ_d is bounded on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon} \setminus (\mathcal{I} \cup B_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{W}))$ if

$$\partial_t^n \mathcal{O}_{\tau_1}(\vec{\phi}(t_{\tau_1},\vec{k})) = \partial_t^n \mathcal{O}_{\tau_2}(\vec{\phi}(t_{\tau_2},\vec{k})), \quad \forall \vec{k} \in \vec{\phi}^{-1}[\delta\eta_{\tau_1} \cap \delta\eta_{\tau_2}], \quad \forall \tau_1, \tau_2 \in \mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}} \setminus I, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.56)

This is required for the divided differences in eq. (3.49) to be applicable. This condition is manifestly dependent on the flow. We will use the following relation: if a function fsatisfies a property on an open set V, then the function $f \circ \vec{\phi}$ satisfies it on $\vec{\phi}^{-1}[V]$. Indeed the flow projects a set $B_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{I})$ on a neighbourhood of an intersection $\delta\eta_{\tau_1} \cap \delta\eta_{\tau_2}$, and we conclude that a sufficient condition for eq. (3.56) to hold is that

$$O_{\tau_1}(\vec{k}) = O_{\tau_2}(\vec{k}), \quad \forall \vec{k} \in B_{\epsilon}(\delta\eta_{\tau_1} \cap \delta\eta_{\tau_2}), \tag{3.57}$$

where $B_{\epsilon}(\delta\eta_{\tau_1} \cap \delta\eta_{\tau_2})$ is a toroidal neighbourhood of the intersection between the two Esurfaces, and ϵ is a quantity dependent on the experimental setup. The interpretation of ϵ is that of a natural resolution below which the experimental setup is unable to distinguish degenerate kinematic configurations of final states, identified by τ_1 and τ_2 . In conclusion, the notion of degeneracy and its relation with experimental resolution is derived here as a result of the analytic properties of the local representation of differential cross-sections.

We explicitly verified that *constant* observables of the form of eq. (3.40) can retain local cancellation of non-pinched E-surface in the entirety of the integration volume. Instead of performing the same analysis for pinched E-surfaces and showing that IR-safe observables can always be defined, we will limit ourselves to stating how the condition relates to the common definitions of IR-safe collider observables.

It may now seem that for non-trivial observables it is not possible to make σ_d integrable on the whole $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon}$, as non-pinched threshold are not subject to cancellations. However, non-pinched E-surfaces can be integrated using an ad hoc contour deformation, which cannot be done for pinched E-surfaces (for which the cancellation pattern must still hold, because of IR-safety). The deformation of amplitudes was discussed in ref. [89] and we discuss how to extend it to cross sections in section 5.3.4. In the following, we will assume that such a contour deformation can be constructed and that proving σ_d to be integrable on $B_{\epsilon}(H)$ implies that σ_d can be analytically continued and its non-pinched thresholds contour integrated so that it is regular on the entirety of $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon} \setminus B_{\epsilon}(W)$. We observe that in order to preserve the cancellations at the pinched points, it is sufficient to require that

$$\exists \epsilon > 0 \text{ s.t. } \mathcal{O}_{\tau}(\vec{k}) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}}(\vec{k}), \ \forall \vec{k} \in B_{\epsilon}(\mathbf{H}_{\tau \mathbf{s}}).$$
(3.58)

If we use the constraint in eq. (3.40), this equation takes a more illuminating form:

$$\mathcal{O}_{\tau}(\{\alpha_{i}\vec{p}+\epsilon_{i}\}_{i\in\mathbf{c}_{\tau}\backslash\mathbf{c}_{s}};\{\vec{q}_{j}\}_{j\in\mathbf{c}_{\tau}\cap\mathbf{c}_{s}})=\mathcal{O}_{s}(\{-\beta_{i}\vec{p}+\epsilon_{i}\}_{i\in\mathbf{c}_{s}\backslash\mathbf{c}_{\tau}};\{\vec{q}_{j}\}_{j\in\mathbf{c}_{\tau}\cap\mathbf{c}_{s}}), \quad \forall \epsilon_{i}, \ \|\epsilon_{i}\|<\epsilon,$$

$$(3.59)$$

with α_i , β_j , ϵ_i subject to momentum conservation. Eq. (3.59) makes manifest that the ability of observables to satisfy IR-safety constraints is necessarily associated with momentumconservation laws on the graph; it can only be satisfied if the observables themselves cluster together all the particles of their defining Cutkosky cut that are collinear or soft, identifying them with one object which has the sum of the momenta of the constituent particles. The dependence of the observable on each of the momenta of particles in the Cutkosky cut individually morphs into a unique dependence on the sum of the momenta of collinear or soft particles in the neighbourhood of a pinched point and the usual independence on individual momenta of the particles that are not collinear or soft:

$$\mathcal{O}_{\tau}(\{\alpha_i \vec{p} + \epsilon_i\}_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\tau} \setminus \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}}; \{\vec{q}_j\}_{j \in \mathbf{c}_{\tau} \cap \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}}) = \mathcal{O}_{\tau}\left(\sum_{i \in \mathbf{c}_{\tau} \setminus \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}} \alpha_i \vec{p} + \epsilon_i; \{\vec{q}_j\}_{j \in \mathbf{c}_{\tau} \cap \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}}\right), \forall \|\epsilon_i\| < \epsilon.$$
(3.60)

Ultimately, eq. (3.60) establishes whether an observable preserves the necessary conditions and can be used in defining a locally finite differential cross-section. The volume form σ_d , with observables satisfying eq. (3.60) is thus locally finite on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon} \setminus B_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{W})$. In order to conclude the proof, we study the soft scaling of σ_d and determine under which conditions it has at most integrable singularities.

3.2.6 Soft scaling from the causal flow

We now study the integrability of σ_d in a neighbourhood $B_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{W})$. Since soft points are at the extrema of pinched singularities, the IR-safety of observables allows to write σ_d as eq. (3.49) in a neighbourhood of the soft points. Furthermore, we see that in the limit of eq. (3.49) the remaining function has a scaling which, at worst, is the scaling of g or any of its derivatives in t, assuming h and \mathcal{O}_s are well behaved.

Thus, in order to analyse the scaling of the integrand in the neighbourhood of soft singularities, we have to understand the scaling of g and its derivatives in t. We now identify extra constraints on the causal flow such that derivatives of g have the same scaling as g, assuming the observables and the h function are bounded on such neighbourhood.

We recall that g can be defined in terms of the manifestly causal (cLTD) representation, and particularly in terms of the simplified constrained form of eq. (3.55), such that

$$g = \frac{\prod_{\boldsymbol{\tau}\in\mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}} \eta_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}}{\prod_{i\in\mathbf{e}} 2E_i} \sum_{F\in\mathcal{F}} \sum_{\vec{\alpha}\in\{\pm1\}^{|F|}} \frac{c_{F\vec{\alpha}}(\vec{k})}{\prod_{\mathbf{s}\in F} \eta_{(\mathbf{s},\alpha_{\mathbf{s}})}}.$$
(3.61)

Let us start by observing that, by definition, g cannot be singular on any s-channel Esurface, as g is bounded on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon} \setminus \mathcal{I} \setminus B_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{W})$ (and excluding the UV region too). Near soft points the scaling of g is entirely determined by the inverse E-surfaces in \mathcal{E}_{int} and by the inverse energies (since g is not singular on any s-channel E-surface and since ISR singularities are excluded, thus leaving internal E-surfaces only).

We can now state a sufficient condition on the causal flow ϕ and the causal vector field \vec{k} for derivatives of g with respect to t to have the same (or less singular) scaling as g:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}\to\vec{k}^{\star}} \left| \frac{\partial_t^n g(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}},\vec{k})}{g(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}},\vec{k})} \right| \in \mathbb{R}^+, \ \forall \vec{k}^{\star} \in B_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{W})$$
(3.62)

if the deformation field satisfies the continuity constraint of eq. (3.37) of ref. [93]:

$$\vec{q}_j(\vec{k})^2 + m_j^2 - \vec{Q}_j(\kappa)^2 \ge 0 \quad \forall j \in \mathbf{e} \,,$$
(3.63)

This condition is obtained by iteratively applying Leibniz's rule on the n-th derivative of g, thus isolating products of multiple derivatives of inverse energies, of inverse internal E-surfaces and the numerator. Then, we require derivatives of inverse energies and of inverse internal E-surfaces to have the same or better soft scaling than inverse energies and inverse E-surfaces themselves. Observe that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \frac{1}{E_i(\vec{\phi}(t,\vec{k}))} = -\frac{\vec{Q}_i(\kappa) \cdot \vec{q}_i}{E_i^3},$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \frac{1}{\eta_\tau(\vec{\phi}(t,\vec{k}))} = -\frac{1}{\eta_\tau^2} \sum_{i \in \delta(\tau)} \frac{\vec{Q}_i(\kappa) \cdot \vec{q}_i}{E_i}.$$
(3.64)

If the derivative of the inverse energy and the inverse energy itself are required to have the same soft scaling, $\vec{Q}_i(\vec{\kappa})$ is required to vanish as fast or faster than the on-shell energy E_i . The same holds for the inverse E-surface. In the construction of the deformation field of ref. [89] this constraint already appears and is called the continuity constraint. The role of this constraint in that work was to make sure that the deformation is continuous and does not cross a branch cut.

Since it is shown in ref. [89] that such causal vector field can be constructed, we conclude that thanks to eq. (3.62) the scaling of σ_d is the same as the worst scaling between g and its derivatives. We are now able to show that σ_d is integrable on a neighbourhood of soft points $B_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{W})$. Because of the previous work, this is equivalent to showing that the scaling of $g(\vec{k})$ at soft points only leads to integrable singularities. These findings can be summarised in the following claim:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}' \to \vec{k}^{\star}} \frac{\sigma_{\mathrm{d}}(\vec{k}')}{\max_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{\vec{k},\vec{\phi}}} \{g(t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}}, \vec{k}')\}} \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall \vec{k}^{\star} \in B_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{W}).$$
(3.65)

The scaling of g, on the other hand, follows from its explicit expression in eq. (3.61) and from the property in eq. (3.55). In order to establish that the LU representation is integrable on soft singularities, one must still show that the soft scaling of g, and therefore of σ_d as well in virtue of eq. (3.65), is sufficiently tame for physical theories. This is the object of the next section.

3.2.7 Power-counting of soft singularities

In the following, we will analyse the scaling of σ_d close to points at which connected clusters of particles simultaneously become soft (any configuration that is not the union of disconnected clusters can easily be shown to have a better scaling). Consider a connected subgraph of Γ , ($\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{e_s} = \delta^{\circ}(\mathbf{s}) \cup \delta(\mathbf{s})$) closed under momentum-conservation conditions (that is, if the momenta of edges in the subgraph uniquely determine any other edge's momentum, then that edge is also in the subgraph).

Using eq. (3.61) and eq. (3.65), we can conclude that the worst possible scaling of $\sigma_{\rm d}$ near a soft singularity can be at most $\sigma_{\rm d} \sim g \sim \delta^{-(|\mathbf{s}|+|\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{s}}|+N)}$, since each inverse energy corresponding to an edge in $\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{s}}$ contributes one power, the numerator contributes with N powers and, in the worst-case scenario, there exists a term in the sum of eq. (3.55) which has $|\mathbf{s}|$ E-surfaces of $\mathcal{E}_{\rm int}$ vanishing (such a case would correspond to a term of eq. (3.55) whose respective cross-free family contains a cross-free family of subsets of $(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{s}})$).

Since the actual soft scaling of the numerator is theory-dependent, we expect integrability at soft points to be conditional on the specific theory one is considering. We will now simplify the discussion by proving integrability for the physical theory of Yang-Mills coupled with massless fermions theories. Since the Higgs boson is massive, including it does not change the reasoning, along with any type of massive particles. We can distinguish between fermion edges and vector boson edges by writing $\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{s}} = \mathbf{e}_f \cup \mathbf{e}_b$. Furthermore, we write $\mathbf{s}_{fb}^{(3)}$ for 3-vertices at which two fermions and a vector boson meet, $\mathbf{s}_b^{(3)}$ for vertices at which three vector bosons meet, $\mathbf{s}_b^{(4)}$ for vertices at which four vector bosons meet, so that $\mathbf{s} = \mathbf{s}_b^{(3)} \cup \mathbf{s}_{fb}^{(3)} \cup \mathbf{s}_b^{(4)}$. Finally, if all momenta in the subgraph are set to zero, the degree of divergence associated to this subgraph is

$$d = 3L_{\mathbf{s}} - |\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{s}}| - |\mathbf{s}| + |\mathbf{s}_{b}^{(3)}| + |\mathbf{e}_{f}| = 2|\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{s}}| - 3|\mathbf{s}| + |\mathbf{s}_{b}^{(3)}| + |\mathbf{e}_{f}| - |\mathbf{s}|.$$
(3.66)

We substitute the following relations between the number of vertices, their degree and the edges of a graph, $|\mathbf{e}| = 3/2|\mathbf{s}_b^{(3)}| + 2|\mathbf{s}_b^{(4)}| + 3/2|\mathbf{s}_{fb}^{(3)}| + |\delta(\mathbf{s})|/2$ and $|\mathbf{e}_f| = |\mathbf{s}_{fb}^{(3)}|$, such that we obtain:

$$d = |\mathbf{s}_{b}^{(4)}| + |\mathbf{s}_{b}^{(3)}| + |\mathbf{s}_{fb}^{(3)}| + |\delta(\mathbf{s})| - |\mathbf{s}| = |\delta(\mathbf{s})|,$$
(3.67)

which confirms the inexistence of non-physical soft singularities, and confirms that the power-counting at soft points, in the absence of pinched E-surfaces (which are subject to cancellation), yields integrable singularities. However, for a cubic scalar theory, the power-counting formula for soft clusters reads

$$d = |\delta(\mathbf{s})| - |\mathbf{s}| \tag{3.68}$$

which can become negative. This reproduces the known fact [124] that the IR region of super-renormalisable theories such as cubic scalar theory exhibits soft divergences that do not cancel. As an example of a graph that is still divergent within LU, we give an example of a supergraph in cubic scalar theory that features a quadratic soft divergence (d = -2) on the grey lines:



This concludes the proof, as we have now shown that σ_d is integrable on $\mathbb{R}^{3L} \setminus B_{isr,\epsilon}$ for a physical theory.

4 Self-energies and IR cancellations in non-abelian gauge theories

External self-energy corrections, and specifically one particle irreducible insertions on edges that belong to a Cutkosky cut lead to the presence of spurious divergences that can be eliminated through careful on-shell renormalisation of the propagators. Furthermore, the nature of the IR cancellation pattern requires that the computation be done with nontruncated amplitudes.

The problem of self-energy corrections also makes very clear another issue in preserving IR cancellations: external physical boson propagators correspond to a different Feynman rule than internal boson propagators. The difference in tensor structure also leads to miscancellations. In order to address this issue, we allow for ghosts and unphysical bosons to be external particles.

4.1 Propagator renormalisation and IR cancellations

When a supergraph features raised propagators, which in physical theories appear as a result of a self-energy insertion, the naive substitution of propagators with Dirac deltas leads to manifestly ill-defined interference diagrams, as performing the substitution for one of the raised propagators exactly evaluates the remaining repeated propagators on their mass shell.

The first possible solution to this problem relies on recognising the origin of the Cutkosky rule as an analogue for performing contour integration. This suggests that one should use the residue formula for higher-order poles, and modify the Cutkosky rule accordingly so that each propagator, raised to the power n, is substituted by an appropriately normalised (n-1)-th derivative of Dirac's delta function. However, considering this higher-order residue formula would require taking derivatives of the observable function, which is not always possible. As we discuss in this section, it is instead possible to apply the derivative to the self-energy subgraph only.

In ref. [79], D. Soper circumvents the problem of taking derivatives for addressing raised propagators by engineering an alternative representation of self-energy correction. Through the use of a dispersion relation and algebraic manipulation of the numerator, he was able to show that the raised propagators can be re-absorbed into a propagator with power one. However, the extension of this procedure to more complicated topologies is challenging, especially when the self-energy diagram features UV divergences, since the alternate representation does not allow to construct UV counterterms in four dimensions, but requires to derive them directly from the three-dimensional representation.

In this section we derive a novel treatment of self-energy diagrams that operates in Minkowsi space and does not require taking derivatives of observables. As the raised propagator issue arises when one of the propagators adjacent to a self-energy corrections is cut (that is, it is set to be an external particle), it is clear that any solution should bear some relation to the LSZ formalism, Dyson resummation and propagator renormalization. We will show that raised propagators disappear after mass renormalization in the on-shell scheme.

Let us start by defining the renormalized 1PI graph as

$$\Sigma_R(p^2) = \Sigma(p^2) - \delta Z_m - (p^2 - m^2) \delta Z_{\psi} \,. \tag{4.1}$$

In the following, we consider Σ to be derived from a scalar theory. The extension to physical theories requires extra attention and is left for future work. The extra issues due to considering physical theories are however related to the role of numerator algebra and gauge invariance in the IR cancellation mechanism and do not directly affect the general treatment of raised propagators hereby presented.

Consider now the Taylor expansion of the renormalized one-particle irreducible function

$$\frac{\Sigma_R(p^2)}{(p^2 - m^2)^2} = \frac{\Sigma_R(m^2)}{(p^2 - m^2)^2} + \frac{1}{2p_0(p^2 - m^2)} \frac{d\Sigma_R}{dp_0} \bigg|_{p^2 = m^2} + \mathcal{O}\Big((p^2 - m^2)^0\Big).$$
(4.2)

The zero-th order of the expansion contains the raised propagator. By imposing the first renormalization condition of the on-shell scheme, $\Sigma_R(m^2) = 0$, we obtain that

$$\frac{\Sigma_R(p^2)}{(p^2 - m^2)^2} = \frac{1}{2p_0(p^2 - m^2)} \frac{d\Sigma_R}{dp_0} \bigg|_{p^2 = m^2} + \mathcal{O}\Big((p^2 - m^2)^0\Big).$$
(4.3)

Thus, each self-energy correction of the graph only brings one power of the external particle propagator. In practice, this allows us to perform Cutkosky cuts by using the rule associated to simple poles. We observe that all terms $\mathcal{O}((p^2 - m^2)^0)$ are not singular at $p^2 = m^2$, and therefore their associated residue is zero.

The modified Cutkosky rule, when applied to a propagator that has a self-energy insertion then reads:

$$\frac{\Sigma(p^2)}{(p^2 - m^2)^2} \to \frac{1}{2p_0} \frac{d\Sigma_R}{dp_0} \delta(p^2 - m^2) \,. \tag{4.4}$$

It is important to observe that performing renormalization selectively for the external selfenergy corrections does not break the pattern of IR cancellations, since

$$\Delta\Sigma = \frac{1}{4(\|\vec{p}\|^2 + m^2)} \frac{d\Sigma}{dp_0} \bigg|_{p_0 = \sqrt{\|\vec{p}\|^2 + m^2}} - \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathbf{v}_{\Sigma}} \frac{\eta_{\mathbf{s}}\Sigma}{(p^2 - m^2)^2} \bigg|_{p_0 = \eta_{\mathbf{s}} - p_0}$$
(4.5)

is free of IR singularities. This statement implies that the IR singularities of two-point functions are fully contained in its derivative when evaluated on the on-shell hyperboloid, and that its singular structure is equal to that of the sum over all possible Cutkosky cuts of the two-point function. One can also think of eq. (4.5) as establishing a counterterm for the self-energy correction. However, in doing so, the relation with on-shell renormalization is lost.

Finally, we can discuss how field renormalization participates in the clear separation of UV and IR divergences. The poles obtained through the dimensional regularization of the



Figure 11. On the left, the derivative of the two point function with cuts on both of the propagators adjacent to it, obtained from the modified Cutkosky rule (4.4). It has the same IR structure as the sum of contributions which can be written as the diagram on the right.

self-energy insertions are usually renormalized, indifferently of their origin (UV or IR), and reabsorbed in the coupling constant. Considering truncated amplitudes and renormalizing away IR singularities of external self-energies obscures the presence of a deeper cancellation mechanism for IR divergences. In the on-shell scheme, required for eq. (4.3) to hold, the two-point function is substituted with a local representation of its pure IR pole that eventually cancels with its real-emission counterpart, while the finite part is set to zero, as prescribed by the renormalization condition. We start with the on-shell scheme constraint on the finite part of the energy derivative:

finite
$$\left[\frac{d\Sigma_R}{dp_0}\right] = 0$$
. (4.6)

Eq. (4.6) implies that $\frac{d\Sigma_R}{dp_0}$ must be a local representation of the pure IR pole (in dimensional regularisation). This leads to the following formula:

$$\frac{d\Sigma_R}{dp^0} = \left[\frac{d\Sigma}{dp^0} - \mathrm{CT}_{\mathrm{uv}}\left[\frac{d\Sigma}{dp^0}\right]\right]_{d=4} - \left[\mathrm{finite}\left(\frac{d\Sigma}{dp^0}\right) - \mathrm{finite}\left(\mathrm{CT}_{\mathrm{uv}}\left[\frac{d\Sigma}{dp^0}\right]\right)\right]_d.$$
(4.7)

 $d\Sigma_R/dp^0$ is finite in the UV region. It is divergent in the IR region, so that its expression in dimensional regularization features IR poles. Finally, it has zero finite part. Because of eq. (4.5), its IR poles locally cancel with the real counterparts.

5 Generalisations

In this section, we discuss future directions for extending the scope of Local Unitarity and we detail the path towards its fully automated implementation for the numerical computation of higher fixed-order corrections to generic differential cross sections.

5.1 First steps towards Local Unitarity applicable to initial-state singularities

The general route for extending the mechanism of FSR cancellations to ISR involves generalising eq. (3.38) so that it includes Cutkosky cuts corresponding to initial-state thresholds.

The guiding principle is that any extension of σ_d should still be written as a weighted sum over the discontinuities of the supergraph, in such a way that it is made locally IR-finite.

A natural way of approaching this problem is to consider extending the sum of eq. (3.38) so as to include initial-state thresholds as well. In doing so, we can keep our representation of supergraphs involving a fixed set of initial states, but then consider *all* possible thresholds, including those in \mathcal{E}_{isr} . Although this may provide a valid cancellation mechanism, it imposes a fixed initial-state multiplicity which is at odds with the notion of backward evolution of initial-state partons.

One can then instead tentatively consider a paradigm in which degenerate initial state configurations are accounted for by kinematic configurations featuring multiple incoming asymptotic states. This would corresponds to thresholds of vacuum graphs with altered $i\epsilon$ prescriptions and identified with $N_{\rm in}$ (resp. $N_{\rm out}$) incoming (resp. outgoing) momenta.

In both cases, the extra diagrams can be effectively considered as natural counterterms. We leave a thorough investigation of this potential cancellation mechanism for initial-state singularities to future publications.

5.2 UV counterterms and renormalisation

The regularisation of the UV behaviour of the LU representation, together with the introduction of renormalisation contributions, lead to the following schematic modification of eq. (2.21) for the differential cross section:

$$\sigma = \sum_{\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}} \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}-\mathrm{ch}}^{\Gamma}} \left[\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s}} - \sum_{\mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s}}^{(\mathrm{left})}} \left(\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})} - \overline{\mathcal{I}}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})} \right) - \sum_{\mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s}}^{(\mathrm{right})}} \left(\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})} - \overline{\mathcal{I}}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})} \right) \right] \\ + \sum_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{R}} \in \mathcal{R}(\mathcal{G})} \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}-\mathrm{ch}}^{\Gamma^{\mathrm{R}}}} \delta Z_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{R}}} \mathcal{I}_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{R}},\mathbf{s}}, \qquad (5.1)$$

where we intentionally left implicit the precise definition of each integral \mathcal{I} , including its integration measure. The quantity $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s}}^{(\text{left})}$ (resp. $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s}}^{(\text{right})}$) denotes a set of sets of loop edges in the subgraph to the left (resp. right) of the Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}}$ with a combined superficial degree of UV divergence equal to or greater than zero. The terms $\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})}$ are local counterterms and $\overline{\mathcal{I}}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})}$ are their counterparts integrated analytically using dimensional regularisation. Finally, the operator \mathcal{R} applies to the selected set of higher-order correction supergraphs \mathcal{G} and generates the set of all corresponding renormalisation supergraphs. For each of them, we can identify a renormalisation counterterm $\delta Z_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{R}}}$ factorising the LU representation of a lower-order supergraph. In this section, we discuss the construction of each ingredient of eq. (5.1) qualitatively.

By construction, interference diagrams in physical theories must have a UV singular structure that corresponds to the combined UV singularities of the two subgraph amplitudes to the left and right of the Cutkosky cut. We choose to construct the local UV counterterms $\mathcal{I}^{(UV)}$ in Minkowski space, and then convert them to the (c)LTD representation. This allows for the use of traditional analytic techniques and dimensional regularisation when computing their integrated counterpart $\overline{\mathcal{I}}^{(UV)}$.

Beyond NLO, the local UV regularisation must be performed carefully so that the remaining UV divergences in one-loop UV counterterms locally cancel against the two-loop UV counterterms. In other words, the overlapping UV divergences in $\sum_{\mathbf{u}\in \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s}}^{(\mathbf{x})}} \mathcal{I}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})}$ must cancel locally amongst the terms in this sum. We achieve this by implementing $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s}}^{(\mathbf{x})}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})}$ according to the BPHZ forest formula treatment [125–127]. This procedure involves identifying all possible UV singular subgraphs and constructing an appropriate approximant of the integrand on UV limits. Proper subtraction of the original integrand and, specifically, the treatment of overlapping subdivergences is guaranteed by the forest formula. In particular, the study of overlapping subdivergences requires defining spinneys, which are collections of disjoint UV divergent subgraphs. We stress that this entire procedure must be repeated iteratively when constructing the terms $\overline{\mathcal{I}}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{R},\mathbf{s}}}$ so as to also locally subtract their remaining UV divergences (beyond one-loop).

The BPHZ forest formula is independent on the chosen renormalization scheme and only prescribes a Taylor expansion of the denominators of UV subgraphs in their external momenta. Whereas one traditionally also considers expanding the numerator around the UV point, we find it more convenient to expand propagator denominators only. This operation is local, since it relies on a Taylor expansion of the four-dimensional integrand of the amplitude. It follows that the integrand can also be subtracted locally.

We identify the UV subgraphs with scalar graphs and assign them their superficial degree of divergence. After Taylor expanding in its external momenta, the scalar graph can be represented as a power series in scalar vacuum diagrams. We assign to each vacuum diagram propagator a UV mass $m_{\rm UV}$. This UV counterterm is added to the integration and subtracts correctly the UV singularity represented by the subgraph. The analytically integrated counterpart $\overline{\mathcal{I}}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\rm UV)}$ is computed as the integral of the four-dimensional Minkowsi representation of $\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\rm UV)}$, which always corresponds the a massive vacuum diagram integral that can easily be computed using integration-by-parts identities and a finite set of known master integrals. In order to obtain a scalar expression, we tensor reduce the UV subgraph so that it completely factorises. Finally, we multiply the finite part of the integrated UV counterterm into the remaining diagram.

Ultimately, the integrated counterterm will be a Laurent series in $\epsilon = 4 - d$. These UV poles are cancelled by the renormalization supergraphs Γ^{R} listed in $\mathcal{R}(\mathcal{G})$ and constructed by contracting the disjoint UV subgraphs in the spinneys to vertices. This forms separate renormalisation supergraphs with lower loop counts, and we assign to each vertex obtained in this fashion their respective renormalization constant. We stress that, beyond NLO, it is important that the poles in the dimensional regulator $\epsilon = (d - 4)/2$ of the renormalization components $\delta Z_{\Gamma^{\text{R}}}$ multiply the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ parts of $\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma^{\text{R}},\mathbf{s}}$ computed in *d*-dimensions. This dynamic generation $\mathcal{R}(\mathcal{G})$ from the list of selected supergraphs considered \mathcal{G} ensures the consistency of the renormalization procedure. We can numerically test if the UV poles of the renormalisation graphs cancel with the ones from the integrated counterterm by numerically integrating the numerator dimensional regulator pole coefficients instead of its finite part. We stress that this pole cancellation check can in principle also be made local by consistently rerouting the momenta of all supergraphs in $\{\Gamma \in \mathcal{G} \mid \Gamma^{\text{R}} \in \mathcal{R}(\{\Gamma\})$ contributing to a particular renormalisation supergraph Γ^{R} . In the example of the UV regularisation of the double-triangle supergraph that will be investigated in section 6.1.1, we find a one-to-one correspondence between the supergraph and its renormalisation contribution, leading to a direct cancellation of the UV poles (see eq. (6.11)). Because this is in general not the case, we opt to account separately for higher order supergraphs and their renormalisation terms.

Often, an approach similar to the one by D. Soper [79] is chosen in order to construct a modified local counterterm $\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})} = \mathcal{I}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})} - \overline{\mathcal{I}}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})}$ which combines both local and integrated UV counterterms under the same integral measure. This can be done by adjusting the higher-order terms of the original local UV counterterm of eq. (6.5) obtained from the strict UV limit. In this way, $\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})}$ directly integrates into a finite part that is zero and automatically reproduces $\overline{\mathrm{MS}}$ results, or alternatively allows one to add whichever finite part from the renormalisation constant of the preferred scheme without having to worry about the impact of the UV regularisation in Local Unitarity. Such an adjustment of the numerator is however typically not systematic and therefore not practical for automation. Instead, we multiply the integrated counterterm $\overline{\mathcal{I}}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})}$ with a rational polynomial in the loop degrees of freedom that are analytically integrated over (e.g. a simple product of massive one-loop tadpoles) so that it can be systematically combined with $\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma,\mathbf{s},\mathbf{u}}^{(\mathrm{UV})}$.

Since we separately account for the contribution of the integrated UV counterterms and renormalisation constants, we must pay particular attention to the particular dimensional regularisation scheme considered when computing both terms. We identify four different parts in the expression of the integrated UV counterterms: the numerator $N^{\rm UV}$ stemming from the edges part of the UV subdiagram, the external factorised ones $N^{\rm E}$ and similarly for the denominators, $D^{\rm UV}$ and $D^{\rm E}$. As is well-known in the literature [111, 128–131], different choices regarding the dimensionality adopted for each of these pieces are possible and ultimately equivalent as long as they are performed consistently across terms whose poles cancel. We find it most convenient to build an automated procedure by treating the combination of $N^{\rm UV}$, $N^{\rm E}$ and $D^{\rm UV}$ in *d*-dimension and $D^{\rm E}$ in four dimensions. This choice also implies that no particular attention needs to be paid to the rational parts [132–136] of the integral as they will then automatically be accounted for in this manner.

5.3 Automation and numerical efficiency

The relevance of the LU representation for collider phenomenology crucially depends on the performance of its implementation.

Our implementation leverages the framework of MADGRAPH5_AMC@NLO [14] (MG5AMC henceforth) for the abstract representation of the user inputs such as the observable definition, process generation syntax and physics model considered. In particular, the Feynman rules are provided through a model file following the Universal Feynrules Output (UFO) conventions [137]. This choice is motivated by our longer-term goal of offering the user an automated environment similar to MG5AMC for steering its simulations. However, the very different nature of LU requires an independent program. We therefore decomposed the implementation of the LU representation into individual fundamental tasks that are efficiently carried out by the development of dedicated codes that we discuss in this section.

5.3.1 Process generation

Given the specification of a scattering process and UFO model using MG5AMC syntax, we steer QGRAF [138] to generate all contributing supergraphs and output them in a PYTHON-readable format. Next, all isomorphic supergraphs are combined and for each resulting supergraph we enumerate all Cutkosky cuts whose final state particles are compatible with the process definition. We stress that it is important to also weight each supergraph with its symmetry factor provided by QGRAF as it corrects for the over-counting due to identical particles (i.e. it plays a similar role as the customary normalisation of amplitudes by the symmetry factor stemming from identical particles in their final states). We then identify external one-particle irreducible diagrams in the supergraphs (that is, all the 1PIs that are adjacent to a Cutkosky cut), and apply the propagator treatment of section 4.1. We also detect all UV divergent subgraphs and construct local and integrated UV counterterms for them, together with renormalisation contributions, by following the procedure laid out in section 5.2. Finally, we collect all information on the supergraph that must be computed into input files ready to be processed and optimised by FORM into C compiled libraries.

5.3.2 Graph evaluation

The treatment of the numerator is often the bottleneck for both generation and run-time efficiency when considering higher-loop Feynman diagrams. An efficient implementation in FORM [139] is therefore crucial. Our FORM code first substitutes the Feynman rules for each supergraph, contracts all indices, and applies polarisation sum rules. After simplifying all Dirac traces and colour algebra, the output of this procedure is a sum of scalar products of loop momenta and external momenta.

Next, a Python code constructs the general Loop-Tree Duality expression derived in ref. [88] and the Manifestly Causal LTD (cLTD) expression derived in ref. [93] in a FORMreadable format. This expression is added to the expression of the numerator. At this stage, the entire integrand per Cutskosky cut is represented in a FORM expression. Next, FORM performs all derivatives necessary for the propagator treatment of section 4.1 as well as for the UV counterterms. This integrand can be viewed as a polynomial in the scalar products and linear propagators. We use FORM's optimisation [140, 141] algorithms to generate highly efficient C code that can evaluate the entire integrand per Cutkosky cut by finding an optimal Horner scheme for the resulting polynomial and grouping common subexpressions. This optimisation step typically reduces the number of arithmetic operations by several orders of magnitude. Additionally, the C compiler further improves the implementation by vectorising (parts of) the resulting C code. This finally results in evaluation times typically below 100 μ s, even for complicated processes. For example, one particular supergraph with 11 Cutkosky cuts contributing to the NNLO correction to the process $H \to t\bar{t}qq$ can be evaluated for one sample point in only 25 μ s (without multi-channeling). This means that the evaluation time of the integrand is not a limiting factor.

5.3.3 Numerical stability

The LU integrand consists of terms that can feature large numerical cancellations, leading to instabilities when considering finite-size arithmetic. Such unstable points can be large in magnitude (see, e.g. figure 2 of ref. [93] for numerical stabilities in the UV) and spoil the central value estimator of the Monte-Carlo integration. It is therefore necessary to monitor the numerical stability of the integrand evaluation for each sample point and properly address cases that are insufficiently precise. In order to estimate the numerical accuracy of the integrand for one particular sample point, we repeat its evaluation with all spatial directions subject to arbitrary rotations and compare the results obtained in this way, as they are analytically identical in virtue of the symmetries of the integrand. The original sample point is then deemed unstable if its rotated evaluations differ by more than a certain threshold. Since the LTD integrands may exhibit instabilities in the UV that are removed by cLTD (see ref. [93]), we perform the same procedure using cLTD instead of LTD. If the point is still considered unstable, we repeat this procedure using quadruple-precision arithmetic which is about 100 times slower but rescues the majority of unstable points. Exceptional sample points that are still deemed unstable at this stage are typically very close to infrared singularities or cancelling E-surfaces and we override the evaluation to zero. By varying the numerical stability requirements, we can verify that our procedure does not alter the result of the Monte-Carlo integration.

5.3.4 Contour deformation

When considering non-trivial observables or scattering process definitions that exclude certain Cutkosky cuts, the LU integrand may still be singular at the location of non-pinched thresholds. For these cases a complex contour deformation that follows the construction of ref. [89] is required. In the context of the LU representation, we deform the loop variables of the amplitude on the left and right side of the Cutkosky cut independently, to ensure that the observable function is evaluated with real-valued kinematics (see section 2.4). On pinched surfaces the deformation must be zero in order not to disrupt the cancellation of real and virtual Cutkosky cuts. We further dampen the deformation magnitude on pinched E-surfaces by multiplying the deformation field with the following dampening factor $d_{\rm IR}$:

$$d_{\rm IR} = T(\eta_{\rm IR}, M), \qquad T(\eta_{\rm IR}, M) = \frac{\eta_{\rm IR}^2}{\eta_{\rm IR}^2 + M^2},$$
 (5.2)

for each pinched E-surface with implicit equation η_{IR} , in addition to the dampening enforced by the complex pole constraint (see section 3.3.2 of ref. [89]).

The construction of ref. [89] requires a set of valid deformation sources to be constructed. This problem is NP-hard and requires finding points in the internal region of overlapping E-surfaces. The difference between determining the overlap structure for an amplitude with fixed external momenta and determining it for the amplitudes participating in a supergraph is that in the latter case, the external momenta of the loop subgraphs change with every Monte Carlo sample point. Consequently, the overlap structure of the E-surfaces must be recomputed at run-time for each sample point and Cutkosky cut. Thus, it is important that the overlap structure can be determined efficiently. Testing for overlap of E-surfaces in a set \mathcal{E} can be achieved by finding a point in the interior of all E-surfaces in \mathcal{E} . Such problems are known as a second-order cone program in the field of convex optimisation. We use the ECOS solver [142] to determine such points. ECOS takes about 0.5 ms for a test, and in the worst case $2^{|\mathcal{E}|}$ tests are required. In order to reduce the number of necessary overlap tests, we only test groups of E-surfaces if each pair in the group pairwise overlaps, which can be determined using fast heuristics. After these optimisations, even for complicated cases such as the two-loop amplitude 2L6P.e K1 from ref. [89], which features 21 E-surfaces and 34 unique sources, the construction time is only about 18 milliseconds. We stress that the loop topologies most relevant to LU often involve many on-shell massless external momenta, for which the number of non-pinched E-surfaces is generally small since many E-surfaces are pinched in this case. Additionally, we only have to contour deform around E-surfaces whose pair-wise cancellation is spoiled by either the observable or process definition. We thus find that for cases of phenomenological relevance the determination of the overlap structure, and therefore the complete deformation, typically requires about one millisecond per sample point.

5.4 Phase space sampling and variance reduction

Even once a local representation of a differential cross section free of both IR and UV singularities is established, it remains to be shown that its numerical integration is feasible in practice. In this subsection, we discuss the main improvements that can help reduce the variance of the integrand.

5.4.1 Multi-channelling

Our computation of the differential cross section in Local Unitarity is organised in three nested levels, as made clear by eq. (2.21) which we rewrite here with a notation appropriate to this section:

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{O}} = \sum_{\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}} \sum_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma} \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{s-ch}}^{\Gamma}} \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{L} d^{3} \vec{k}_{i} \right) \ I_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}(\vec{k}), \tag{5.3}$$

which features:

- A discrete sum over each supergraph $\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}$ of the scattering process of interest.
- A discrete sum over each Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}^{\Gamma}$ appearing in supergraph $\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}$.
- An integral over the spatial loop degrees of freedom of the integrand $I_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}(\vec{k})$, which contains all elements of the LU representation, in particular the observable function \mathcal{O} and the solution $t^{\star}_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}(\vec{k})$ of the causal flow enforcing the conservation of on-shell energies involved in the Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}$.

In order to improve the Monte-Carlo accuracy, one must reduce the variance of the estimator for $\sigma_{\mathcal{O}}$. This is achieved by using a discrete importance sampling technique for the sum of contributions and an educated choice for the parameterisation of the continuous degrees of freedom, whose Jacobian should approximate the (inverse of) integrand as closely as possible. We discuss both aspects in turn.

Optimising the sampling of the sum over supergraphs is straightforward, since each contribution can in principle be integrated completely separately. This aspect is unique to the LU representation, and so are the benefits discussed below stemming from a discrete



(a) Distribution of supergraph contributions

(b) Distribution of integration channel contributions

Figure 12. To the left, we show the distribution of the contributions to the LO cross section for the 104 distinct non-zero supergraphs for the processes $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma^* \rightarrow t\bar{t}ggg$ and $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma^* \rightarrow t\bar{t}g_h\bar{g}_hg$. Their sum, indicated by a red horizontal line, reproduces the total cross section of $1.071 \cdot 10^{-5}$ [pb] obtained from MADGRAPH5_AMC@NLO with $\sqrt{s} = 1$ TeV, $p_t(j_{i=1,2,3}) > 100$ GeV and $\Delta R = 0.4$. To the right, we show the distribution of the negative of the contributions of each of the 16 integration channels for the 3-loop scalar supergraph a.3) of table 2, summing up to the FORCER result of $-5.754 \cdot 10^{-6}$ [GeV²].

importance sampling over supergraphs. The optimal discrete probability distribution of sample points over supergraphs is obtained by following the inverse of their relative contribution to the total cross section. One typically starts with a uniform discrete grid that is progressively updated according to the new estimates of the relative cross sections for each supergraph. While simple to implement, this sampling optimisation can be very powerful if the supergraph contributions are unevenly distributed. In figure 12a, we show their distribution for the LO cross section from the scattering processes $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma^* \rightarrow t\bar{t}ggg$ and $e^+e^- \to \gamma^\star \to t\bar{t}g_h\bar{g}_hg$ where g_h denotes a QCD ghost. We find that the relative contributions from supergraphs spans more than four orders of magnitude. While this observation depends on the scattering process, observable and gauge considered, we expect this uneven distribution to be quite generic and thus adaptive sampling can significantly help to counterbalance the increase in computation time resulting from the growth in the number of distinct supergraphs for more complicated processes. Figure 12a shows no apparent large (gauge) cancellations between supergraphs, showing that the supergraphs can be integrated independently. While there may still be benefits from integrating all supergraphs in a correlated manner, identifying a common parameterisation [143] that leverages potential (gauge) cancellations is difficult and unlikely to outweigh the gain from discrete adaptive sampling over supergraphs. One exception being supergraphs involving QCD ghosts. These supergraphs always share the same topology as that of their gluonic counterpart, and can thus be integrated together with a common loop momentum basis. However, in all LO cross sections we investigated thus far, we have never found large cancellations within such groups of supergraphs.

The large spread in the distribution of supergraph contributions is perhaps less surprising when placed in the context of more general computations of mixed QCD and EW corrections in the presence of resonant intermediate unstable particles. In that case, one expects supergraphs encoding pure QCD corrections to dominate those corresponding to pure EW corrections. Similarly, supergraphs involving Breit-Wigner enhancements are relevant for kinematic regions where the unstable particle is close to its mass shell but typically contribute less than non-resonant topologies to the inclusive cross section. The separation of these various regimes within traditional methods is complicated, since only subsets of terms that are gauge invariant and that can be rendered finite within their computational paradigm can be used. Instead, LU offers the perspective of systematically generating *all* contributions and efficiently and dynamically home in onto the relevant ones for a particular observable of interest. This procedure is appealing both from a numerical and phenomenological perspective as it helps the identification of the underlying dynamics at play for any collider signature.

Once a particular supergraph Γ is selected, we must establish a strategy for sampling its Cutkosky cut contributions s_{Γ} and continuous degrees of freedom. The LU representation relies on pairwise cancellations between the terms $I_{s_{\Gamma}}$ so that they must be integrated together with a common loop momentum basis and parameterisation. At the same time, the LU representation still features integrable singularities on soft kinematic configurations and when internal propagators become on-shell, which we must render bounded with the Jacobian of an appropriate parameterisation so as to make the variance of the LU integrand finite. Multi-channeling is a common technique (see, e.g. refs. [10, 80, 89, 144, 145] for examples in a similar context) offering a solution to this problem by combining multiple parameterisations each designed to address the integrable singularities and enhancements of a single Cutkosky cut at a time. In its most generic form, the multi-channeling approach applied to eq. (5.3) for a L-loop supergraph yields:

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{O}} = \sum_{\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}} \sum_{a \in \Omega_{\Gamma}} \int_{[0,1]^{3L}} d\vec{x} \ |J^{a}(\vec{x})|^{-1} \frac{\xi^{a}\left(\vec{\phi}_{\vec{x}}^{a}\right)}{\sum_{b \in \Omega_{\Gamma}} \xi^{a}\left(\vec{\phi}_{\vec{x}}^{a}\right)} \sum_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma} \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}\text{-ch}}^{\Gamma}} I_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}\left(\vec{\phi}_{\vec{x}}^{a}\right), \tag{5.4}$$

where \vec{x} is the vector of integration variables defined in the unit hypercube, Ω_{Γ} is the set of all integration channels chosen for the supergraph Γ , $\vec{\phi}_{\vec{x}}^a := \vec{k}^a(\vec{x})$ is the parameterisation chosen for channel a, and $J^a := \det \left[\frac{\partial \vec{x}}{\partial \vec{\phi}^a}\right]$ is the Jacobian of said parameterisation. The scalar functions ξ^a can be arbitrarily chosen.⁶ We also define the inverse mapping $\vec{\Psi}_{\vec{k}}^a := \left[\vec{\phi}^a\right]^{-1}(\vec{k})$. The rewriting in eq. (5.4) shows that if one chooses the parameterisations $\vec{\phi}^i$ and the functions ξ^i such that:

$$|J^a| \sim \xi^a \tag{5.5}$$

$$\sum_{b\in\Omega_{\Gamma}}\xi^{b} \sim \sum_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}\in\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}\text{-ch}}^{\Gamma}}I_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}},\tag{5.6}$$

all integrable singularities are removed and the variance of the overall resulting integrand is minimised.

⁶The functions ξ_a must however be holomorphic if they are to be also analytically continued together with $I_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}$ when considering a contour deformation.

In ref. [89], the authors chose to have one channel per loop momentum basis of the graph Γ , so that $\Omega_{\Gamma} \equiv \mathcal{B}_{\Gamma}$ and the integration channels are then labelled with a basis \mathbf{b}_i which map to the scalar index *i*. Then, in order to accommodate eq. (5.6), ξ^i was built from the product of all (complex) on-shell energies of the edges in \mathbf{b}_i whereas the spherical parameterisation adopted for the momenta in \mathbf{b}_i yielded a Jacobian $|J^i|$ that dampens all integrable singularities in ξ^i . In this work and for all the numerical results presented in section 6, we adopted a different strategy. We also consider spherical parameterisations for each of the integration channel associated to one loop momentum basis of the supergraph Γ , but we choose $\xi^i \equiv J^i \left(\vec{\Psi}_{\vec{k}}^i \right)$ which dampens all integrable singularities as per eq. (5.6) but also *exactly* fulfils eq. (5.5). We note that we combine integration channels from loop momenta bases that are degenerate due to our particular choice of Lorentz frame, for which $\vec{Q} = \vec{0}$.

Our particular realisation of the generic multi-channeling strategy of eq. (5.3) then reads:

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{O}} = \sum_{\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}} \sum_{\mathbf{b}_a \in \mathcal{B}_{\Gamma}} \int_{[0,1]^{3L}} d\vec{x} \ I_{\Gamma}^a(\vec{x}), \qquad I_{\Gamma}^a(\vec{x}) := \frac{\sum_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma} \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}_{-}\mathbf{ch}}^{\Gamma}} I_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}\left(\phi_{\vec{x}}^a\right)}{\sum_{\mathbf{b}_b \in \mathcal{B}_{\Gamma}} J^b\left(\vec{\Psi}_{\vec{\phi}_{\vec{x}}}^b\right)}.$$
(5.7)

The effect of this multi-channeling on the integrand I_{Σ}^{MC} is visualised in section 6.1.2.

One can consider a discrete adaptive importance sampling similar to the one already discussed for the sum over supergraphs. However, we see in figure 12b that the distribution of the cross section stemming from each of the 16 multi-channel integrands I_{Γ}^{a} of the 3-loop scalar supergraph a.3) of figure 2 is very even. Even though the gain in variance reduction is more moderate in this case, sampling the integration channels instead of taking their sum yields a faster evaluation of each sample point and therefore a Monte-Carlo error reduction by a factor of up to $\sqrt{|\mathcal{B}_{\Gamma}|}$ for a fixed run-time. Furthermore, performing a *separate* adaptive sampling for the kinematic dependency of *each* integration channel allows the integrator to better adapt to their individual shape as opposed to when training directly on their sum.

The distribution of the cross section from each channel and the resulting variance of I_{Γ}^{a} heavily depends on the particular choice of parameterisations $\vec{\phi}^{a}$. It is clear that the spherical parameterisations considered in this work are far from the optimal choice and prior work from D. Soper [80] showcases the benefits of adopting more elaborate parameterisations. More specifically, our choice does not account for the details of the particular topology of the subgraphs on each side of a particular Cutkosky cut. It also ignores the sharp shape of the term $h\left(t_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}^{\star}(\vec{k})\right)$, part of $I_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}$, which strongly enhances kinematic configurations \vec{k} close to the Cutkosky cut surface $\eta_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}$. We now discuss a future enhancement that improves on these aspects. We start by factorising the dimensions sampled into three subsets of variables:

$$\int_{[0,1]^{3L}} d\vec{x} \to \int_{[0,1]^{3L}} \left(\prod_{i=1,3L_{\text{left}}} dx_{\text{left},i} \right) \left(dx_t \prod_{k=1,(3|\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}|-4)} dx_{\text{ext},k} \right) \left(\prod_{j=1,3L_{\text{right}}} dx_{\text{right},j} \right),$$
(5.8)

where L_{left} (resp. L_{right}) is the loop count of the subgraphs Γ_{left} (resp. Γ_{right}) to the left (resp. right) of the Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}$, whose number of edges is equal to $|\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}| =$

 $L - L_{\text{left}} - L_{\text{right}} + 1$. The complete parameterisation $\vec{\phi}^a$ can then be constructed in the following three *successive* steps:

- First, the external momenta q^{s_Γ} := {k_e|e ∈ c_{s_Γ}} with k ∈ δη_{s_Γ} is generated so as to directly lie on the Cutkosky surface η_{s_Γ}. To this end, we take advantage of the traditional phase-space factorisation already used by most event generators. This iterative construction of the phase-space parameterisation is organised such that the invariant mass of repeated propagators that appear⁷ in both Γ_{left} and Γ_{right} is directly aligned to one variable x_{ext,k} which is sampled with a probability density flattening the corresponding resonant enhancement (see e.g. ref. [144]). For "interfering" propagators, there is instead no good ansatz for the density with which they should be sampled (and those topologies are often suppressed), so that we can consider sampling them uniformly instead (see e.g. ref. [146]).
- Second, the configuration $\vec{q}^{\,\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}$ must be "upscaled" so as to cover the entire volume $\mathbb{R}^{3(|\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}|-1)}$. This aspect is crucial to the LU construction as the causal flow induces a mapping onto the Cutkosky surface of each contribution and is key to obtaining local IR cancellations between them. The most natural choice for achieving this upscaling is to use the causal flow of the supergraph Γ itself, with boundary conditions given by $\vec{q}^{\,\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}$ and a value of $t^{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}$ derived from the input variable x_t and sampled with a density of $dt^{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}/dx_t = 1/h(1/t) = h(t)$. This ensures that the chosen parametrisation renders the integrand $I_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}(\vec{\phi}_{\vec{x}}^{\,\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}})$ independent of the choice of normalising function h(t). The choice of the σ -tunable function $h(t) = \frac{2\sigma}{\pi} \cos\left(\frac{\pi}{2\sigma}\right) \frac{t^{\sigma}}{1+t^{2\sigma}}$ is particularly convenient so as to be able to analytically solve for the cumulative distribution function $H(t) = \int_0^t dt' h(t') = \frac{2\sigma}{\pi(1+\sigma)} \cos\left(\frac{\pi}{2\sigma}\right) {}_2F_1\left(1, \frac{\sigma+1}{2\sigma}, \frac{1}{2}\left(3+\frac{1}{\sigma}\right), -t^{2\sigma}\right)$, which can then easily be inverted numerically.

The other Cutkosky cut integrands $I_{\mathbf{s}'_{\Gamma}}(\vec{\phi}^{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}}_{\vec{x}})$, with $\mathbf{s}'_{\Gamma} \neq \mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}$, still retain their dependence on h(t) and will be conveniently suppressed away from the intersection $\delta\eta_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}} \cap \delta\eta_{\mathbf{s}'_{\Gamma}}$ where pairwise E-surface cancellations occur. The spread of the function h(t) must then be adjusted so as to find the optimal balance between making it narrow enough so as to efficiently focus each channel onto its defining Cutkosky surface and wide enough so as to maintain a good cancellation of threshold singularities in the neighbourhood of their intersection.

• Last, the loop spatial degrees of freedom must be assigned using the variables \vec{x}_{left} and \vec{x}_{right} . Note that the external kinematics of these loop subgraphs are now entirely determined from the quantities $\vec{q}^{s_{\Gamma}}$ and $t^{s_{\Gamma}}$ built in the previous two steps. The situation is thus completely analogous to the sampling problem of normal loop integrals in their LTD representation already studied in ref. [89]. A minimal solution is then to consider a separate channel for each loop momentum basis of the reduced subgraphs Γ_{left} and Γ_{right} which can be sampled with spherical parameterisations. This

⁷We must only consider propagators that are not part of any loop of Γ_{left} or Γ_{right} . In case of competing Breit-Wigner resonances (e.g. hadroproduction of a Higgs decaying onto four leptons), one may consider assigning more than one integration channel to such topologies.

is sufficient to dampen all integrable singularities, though it may be beneficial to construct additional channels using elliptical parameterisations whose Jacobians can flatten possible enhancements in the vicinity of non-pinched threshold singularities (E-surfaces) which may not always cancel when considering differential observables.

The procedure described above yields complicated parameterisations $\vec{\phi}_{\vec{x}}^i$ that are nonetheless invertible and whose overall multi-channeling factor $\sum_{\mathbf{b}_b \in \mathcal{B}_{\Gamma}} J^b \left(\vec{\Psi}_{\vec{\phi}_{\vec{x}}}^b \right)$ better approximates the shape of the overall integrand $\sum_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma} \in \mathcal{E}_{s-ch}^{\Gamma}} I_{\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}} \left(\vec{\phi}_{\vec{x}}^a \right)$. This improvement is also a necessity when considering processes featuring narrow Breit-Wigner resonances. At LO, one could recover the same performance as that of traditional integration techniques since the h(t) normalising function no longer impacts the variance of the integrands. Finally, notice that the number of integration channels are no longer $|\mathcal{B}_{\Gamma}|$, but instead $|\mathcal{E}_{s-ch}^{\Gamma}| \times |\mathcal{B}_{\Gamma_{left}}| \times |\mathcal{B}_{\Gamma_{right}}|$ (when ignoring the possibility of additional E-surface parameterisations for the sampling of Γ_{left} and Γ_{right}), such that the sampling is automatically simplified for observables selecting only a subset of the possible Cutkosky cuts.

5.4.2 Advanced adaptive sampling

The techniques discussed in section 5.4.1 aim at leveraging our *prior* knowledge about the structure of the LU representation and the location of its enhancement so as to construct an integrand with the smallest possible variance. However, once we start sampling the integrand, we gain additional knowledge about its more detailed structure for the particular process and observable at hand. It is then possible to take advantage of this newly gained information to further reduce the integrand variance at run-time using machine-learning techniques implementing some form of iterative adaptive sampling which we discuss here.

The most straightforward way of improving on the parameterisation of the spatial loop degrees of freedom is to further refine it with a trainable integration grid assuming a factorised ansatz for the functional form of the integrand [147, 148], which can be complemented with the use of coarse hypercells [149]. Our use case of LU requires considering an individual continuous grid for *each* possible choice of supergraph and integration channel, which are moreover subject to discrete importance sampling. We developed a new integrator for this purpose, dubbed HAVANA, that implements this hybrid adaptive sampling through a system of continuous grids nested within multiple layers of discrete ones. This will serve as a basis to accommodate further refinements and help to design custom parallelisation strategies in order to facilitate deployment on various computing architectures.

Discrete importance sampling over integration channels can also be used to improve upon the quality of the integrand approximation obtained from the multi-channeling factor of eq. (5.6). The a priori unknown relative magnitudes of the particular enhancements captured by the channel factors ξ^i may significantly vary. One way to adjust for this is to consider weighted channels $\alpha^i \xi^i$, with weights α^i that can be trained [144, 150] at run-time so as to minimise the resulting variance of the multi-channeled integrand I_{Γ} .

More recently, the development of advanced machine learning frameworks such as TEN-SORFLOW and PYTORCH facilitated the exploration of sampling methods based on various neural networks architectures [151–154]. In particular, the use of *Normalizing Flows* models, originally introduced in ref. [155] in the context of ray tracing and later refined in refs. [156, 157], offers a promising novel approach [158–161] for improving adaptive sampling for Monte-Carlo integration beyond the factorised paradigm. The investigation of the potential of these recent developments in the context of Local Unitarity can ideally be carried out in conjunction with the vectorisation of our implementation so as to render it suitable for accelerated hardware, such as graphics and tensor processing units (see e.g. ref. [162]).

6 Numerical results

In these sections we showcase the performance of our implementation of the Local Unitarity representation in two different setups:

- The computation of the NLO correction to the differential cross section of the scattering process $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma^* \rightarrow d\bar{d}$.
- The computation of subsets of IR finite interference diagrams (i.e. supergraphs) contributing to the N⁴LO accurate cross-section of a $1 \rightarrow 2+X$ scalar scattering process.

All results reported in this section are obtained from our own implementation in a program called α LOOP for the computation of differential cross-sections within the Local Unitarity framework.

6.1 NLO correction to $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$

In this section we present results for the NLO correction to $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$. In section 2.1 we have studied the two supergraphs of this process, namely the double-triangle supergraph and self-energy supergraph, and have shown local IR cancellations for the double-triangle supergraph in section 3.1. Contrary to those sections, we label here the loop momenta of these supergraphs (\vec{k}, \vec{l}) and not $(\vec{k'}, \vec{l'})$.

In section 6.1.1 we study the numerator and the renormalisation of the double-triangle, and visualise the integrand in section 6.1.2. In section 6.1.3 the self-energy treatment is applied to the self-energy supergraph. Finally, we present results for the differential crosssection in section 6.1.4.

6.1.1 The double-triangle supergraph

We write out the Feynman rules for the double-triangle supergraph and obtain the following numerator (common to all its Cutkosky cut contributions) in d = 4:

$$N(k^{\mu}, l^{\mu}; p_{1}^{\mu}, p_{2}^{\mu}) = \frac{-64(N_{c}^{2} - 1)T_{F}}{2Q^{0}} \frac{g_{\rm EW}^{4}g_{s}^{2}Q_{d}^{2}Q_{e}^{2}}{2 \times 2} \Big[k^{2}l^{2}Q^{2} + l \cdot p_{2} \left(k \cdot p_{2} \left(l \cdot p_{1} - 2Q^{2}\right) - 2k^{2}l \cdot p_{1}\right) + k \cdot p_{1} \left(k \cdot p_{2} \left(-2l^{2} + l \cdot p_{1} + l \cdot p_{2}\right) + l \cdot p_{1} \left(l \cdot p_{2} - 2Q^{2}\right) - (l \cdot p_{2})^{2}\right) + k \cdot l \left(k \cdot p_{2} \left(2l \cdot p_{1} + Q^{2}\right) + k \cdot p_{1} \left(2l \cdot p_{2} + Q^{2}\right) + Q^{2}(l \cdot p_{1} + l \cdot p_{2})\right) - k \cdot p_{2} l \cdot p_{1}(k \cdot p_{2} + l \cdot p_{1}) - (k \cdot p_{1})^{2}l \cdot p_{2} - 2Q^{2}(k \cdot l)^{2}\Big], \quad (6.1)$$

where we included the averaging factor over incoming lepton helicity configurations as well as the flux factor. The additional factors of i and -i arising from the complex-conjugation of propagator numerators and vertices on the right of the Cutkosky cut always come in pairs so that we can ignore them for now.⁸ The expression of the numerator of supergraphs such the one above will need to be computed repeatedly during the Monte-Carlo integration and are optimised using the procedure described in section 5.3.2.

Given that the LU representation realises the local cancellations of all infrared divergences of the integrand, we only need to consider counterterms for the regularisation of its UV behaviour. As is laid out in section 5.2, this is achieved by implementing a local UV subtraction procedure. The local UV counterterms are built from the original (unexpanded) numerator in (4-2 ϵ)-dimensions and from denominators expanded around the UV point. This expansion is made systematic by scaling all external momenta involved by a parameter λ and expanding around $\lambda = 0$. This procedure is well suited for automation, but to demonstrate the interplay between renormalisation and integrated UV counterterms, we factorise the triangle loop correction and apply the UV regularisation procedure to it only. We therefore rewrite the integrand stemming from the numerator of eq. (6.1) for the Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathsf{Y}}}$ as follows (the case of $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\mathsf{Y}}}$ is fully analogous):

$$I_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}} = K_{\mu}^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathrm{left}\right)} \Gamma_{ij}^{\mu} K_{ij}^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathrm{right}\right)}, \qquad (6.2)$$

where $K^{(\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathbf{v}}, \text{left})}$ and $K^{(\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathbf{v}}, \text{right})}$ are the factorised pieces that are irrelevant for this discussion, while the one-loop corrected $\gamma d\bar{d}$ -vertex Γ^{μ}_{ij} reads:

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{ij} = g_{\rm s}^2 C_F \left[(-\mathbf{i}) g_{\gamma d\bar{d}} \right] I^{\mu}_{ij}(k,l,Q)$$

$$(6.3)$$

$$I^{\mu}(k,l,Q) = \frac{\gamma^{\mu}(k-Q)\gamma^{\mu}k\gamma^{\mu}}{k^{2}(k-l)^{2}(k-Q)^{2}}$$

= $\frac{(d-2)(k^{2}\gamma^{\mu}-2k^{\mu}k)+2k\gamma^{\mu}Q+(d-4)Q\gamma^{\mu}k}{k^{2}(k-l)^{2}(k-Q)^{2}}.$ (6.4)

Given that the superficial degree of UV divergence of the one-loop vertex correction is zero, the local UV counterterm denoted by \overline{I}^{μ} can be constructed by setting d = 4 in eq. (6.4) and expanding the denominators around their UV limit to first order. We must also assign a mass $M_{\rm UV}^2$ to the resulting denominators in order to prevent introducing new IR divergences in the UV counterterm:

$$\overline{I}^{\mu}(k,Q) = \frac{2\left(k^2\gamma^{\mu} - 2k^{\mu}k\right) + 2k\gamma^{\mu}Q}{(k^2 - M_{\rm UV}^2)^3} \,. \tag{6.5}$$

The denominator structure $(k^2 - M_{\rm UV}^2)$ is now guaranteed to never yield a pole in its (c)LTD representation since the absences of any shift in the denominator implies that the existence conditions of the UV counterterm E-surfaces can never be fulfilled. This is

⁸When considering a renormalisation scheme introducing complex-valued renormalised masses and couplings, such as the complex-mass scheme [163–165], the situation may be more involved. We however leave this aspect to a future investigation.

different from similar UV local counterterms in four-dimensional Minkowski space where the squared mass term in $(k^2 - M_{\rm UV}^2)$ needs to be set negative or imaginary (see, e.g. [166]) in order to avoid complications.

The integrated counterpart of eq. (6.5), denoted by $\Delta \overline{I}_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathsf{v}}}$ is straightforward and is derived in appendix. A.1 for completeness. We obtain:

$$\Delta \overline{I}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}} = K_{\mu}^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{left}}\right)} g_{\mathrm{s}}^{2} C_{F} \left[(-\mathrm{i}) g_{\gamma d \bar{d}} \right] K_{ij}^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{right}}\right)} \int \frac{dk}{(2\pi)^{4}} \overline{I}^{\mu}(k,Q)$$
$$= \frac{\alpha_{s}}{\pi} I^{(\mathrm{LO})} \left[\frac{1}{4} C_{F} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} - 2 + \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}} \right) \right], \qquad (6.6)$$

where we defined $\log_{M_{\rm UV}} := \log \frac{\mu^2}{-M_{\rm UV}^2}$ and the *d*-dimensional measure $\int \tilde{d}k := \left(\frac{\mu^2}{4\pi e^{-\gamma}}\right)^{\epsilon} \int \frac{d^{4-2\epsilon}k}{(2\pi)^{-2\epsilon}}$, with the additional factor $\left(\frac{1}{4\pi e^{-\gamma}}\right)^{\epsilon}$ designed so as to automatically reabsorb all the terms normally removed by the finite part of the renormalisation counterterms in the $\overline{\rm MS}$ scheme into a redefinition of the renormalisation scale. This integrated UV counterterm then needs to be combined with the $\overline{\rm MS}$ vertex renormalisation constant $\delta Z_{\Gamma_{\gamma d\bar{d}}}^{(\overline{\rm MS})}$:

$$\delta Z_{\Gamma_{\gamma d\bar{d}}} = Z_{\alpha_{\text{QED}}} \left(Z_q^{(\overline{\text{MS}})} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(Z_{\bar{q}}^{(\overline{\text{MS}})} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} - 1 = \delta \alpha_{\text{QED}} + \frac{1}{2} \delta Z_q^{(\overline{\text{MS}})} + \frac{1}{2} \delta Z_{\bar{q}}^{(\overline{\text{MS}})} + o(\alpha_s^2) \,. \tag{6.7}$$

Traditionally, the wavefunction counterterms are provided in the on-shell scheme (see, e.g. eq. (6.8) of ref. [131]) and the renormalisation of the strong coupling in the mixed scheme where massless quarks are renormalised in $\overline{\text{MS}}$ and massive ones at zero momentum (see, e.g. ref. [167] or eq. B.5 of [13]). The renormalisation constant $\delta \alpha_{\text{QED}}$ of the QED charge from QCD correction is of course zero. In order to convert the massless quark renormalisation constant from the on-shell scheme to the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ one, it is important to separately keep track of the dimensional regularisation pole of UV and IR origin in order obtain:

$$\delta Z_q^{(OS)} = \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right) C_F \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon_{\rm IR}} - \frac{1}{\epsilon_{\rm UV}}\right] \rightarrow \delta Z_q^{(\overline{\rm MS})} = -\frac{1}{\epsilon_{\rm UV}} \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right) C_F \tag{6.8}$$

$$\delta \alpha_{\rm QED} = 0 \tag{6.9}$$

$$\rightarrow \delta Z_{\Gamma_{\gamma d\bar{d}}} = -\frac{1}{\epsilon_{\rm UV}} \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right) C_F \,. \tag{6.10}$$

We then find that the combination of the integrated local UV counterterm $\Delta \bar{I}_{s_1^{\nu}}$ in eq. (6.6) and of the renormalisation contribution $\delta I_{(\gamma d\bar{d})^{(\text{left})}}$ is finite, as expected:

$$\Delta \overline{I}_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathrm{v}}} + \delta I_{(\gamma d\bar{d})^{(\mathrm{left})}} = \frac{\alpha_s}{\pi} I^{(\mathrm{LO})} \frac{1}{4} C_F \left(\log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}} -2 \right) \,. \tag{6.11}$$

6.1.2 Double-triangle supergraph integrand visualisation

In order to visualise the important features of the double-triangle supergraph integrands, we must choose a different projection than that of section 3.2.2 so as to allow the approach of the soft and collinear configurations of the gluon. We choose here again $Q^{\mu} = p_1^{\mu} + p_2^{\mu} = (1,0,0,1) + (1,0,0,-1)$ with the momentum routing of figure 3 and set

$$(\vec{k}, \vec{l}) = \left(\left(0, k_y, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \right), \left(0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, l_z \right) \right) .$$
(6.12)

Moreover, we consider the integrand for the semi-inclusive cross-section defined by the following phase-space cut:

$$0.4 < p_{t,j_1} < 0.8 \tag{6.13}$$

applied to the p_t -leading jet reconstructed according to the anti-kt algorithm [168, 169] with cone radius parameter ΔR set to 0.4. It is clear that this observable is not phenomenologically relevant for lepton collider experiments but it serves as case-study of a non-trivial observables. We start by showing in figures 13 various combinations of the integrands of the interference diagrams produced by α LOOP when turning off the complex contour deformation. Except when showing results for multi-channelling, the Jacobians from the loop momentum parameterisations is not included.

The first figure 13a shows the contribution stemming solely from the Cutkosky cut $c_{s_1^v}$. A first observation is the linear bands that correspond to the selection cuts of eq. (6.13). The observable function for this cut reads $\mathcal{O}(\vec{l}, \vec{l} - \vec{Q})$ so that the jet p_t is dependent on l_z only for our projection and the selection bands appear vertical. It may appear counter-intuitive at first that the transverse momentum depends on the z-component of the \vec{l} loop momentum. This is however expected because the space presented in the figures corresponds to the dependency of the Local Unitarity integrand *before* the change of variables of eq. (3.7)(i.e. the sampling space probed by the Monte-Carlo integration). This change of variables results in a l_z -dependent rescaling of the fixed component $l_y = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ which in turn induces an indirect dependence of p_{t,j_1} on l_z . The situation is opposite for the contribution of the cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\mathrm{v}}}$, shown in figure 13b, since in that case the observable reads $\mathcal{O}(\vec{k}, \vec{k} - \vec{Q})$ so that the jet p_t depends only k_y , thus yielding an horizontal band. The boundaries of the phase-space cuts are more complicated for the real-emission contribution, as expected from its complicated three-body observable dependence $\mathcal{O}(\vec{l}, \vec{l} - \vec{k}, \vec{k} - \vec{Q})$. It is interesting to note however that the central region is only populated by the real-emission kinematics, making it effectively LO accurate. This feature bears resemblance with that of other more common differential quantities in lepton collisions, such as for example the C jet-shape parameter [170, 171] which only receives contributions at C = 0 from $e^+e^- \rightarrow jj$ and for $C < \frac{3}{4}$ from $e^+e^- \rightarrow jjj$.

Another important feature from the set of figures 13 is the behaviour of the integrands around the non-pinched E-surface located at $k_y = l_z$, since Soper's rescaling will simultaneously bring both norms $|\vec{k}|$ and $|\vec{l}|$ to $Q^0/2 = 1$, thus placing the configuration on both the E-surface of the triangle loop and the Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathsf{v}}}$ or $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\mathsf{v}}}$ (see figure 7). In the absence of a deformation, the singularity along the E-surface is left unregulated and this is reflected by the bright diagonal lines in figures 13a and 13b. The *local* cancellation of these *non-pinched* E-surfaces is then made apparent in figure 13c where the areas accessible to both Cutkosky cuts $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathsf{v}}}$ and $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\mathsf{v}}}$ is devoid of any particular features along the diagonal (point labelled "B"). However, the E-surface cancellation breaks down on points labelled "A" and "D" where the observable function (i.e. phase-space cut in our present case) retains only one of the two cancelling terms. This shows that *fully*⁹ inclusive cross-sections can be computed without a contour deformation.

⁹"Fully" in this context implies that *all* possible Cutkosky cuts of each contributing supergraph is considered in the entirety of the phase-space available to it. By definition, this therefore excludes any $1 \rightarrow N$, N > 2 process in the Standard Model.

We now consider the soft and collinear gluon kinematic configuration. Due to Soper's rescaling, the collinear subspace does not only lie at the soft end-point $k_y = l_z$ but instead lies along an arc denoted by "Coll" in the upper-left portion of figures 13. Each of the two virtual Cuktkosky cuts covers only "half" of the collinear space since our particular choice of signs for the fixed spatial components of \vec{k} and \vec{l} only allows one of the two pinched E-surfaces of the loop triangle to be reached (either the qg or the $\bar{q}g$ collinear one). Together however, the virtual contributions of figure 13c reproduce the complete collinear singularity to be locally cancelled by the sum of real-emission contributions shown in figure 13d. The overall sum in figure 13e presents no particular feature close to collinear regions any longer.

The soft singularity in figure 13e appears dampened but is still unbounded, as expected from the power counting arguments of section 3.2.7. This integrable singularity is particularly harmful for a numerical implementation since for the choice of momentum routing of figure 2, the soft singularity lies at $\vec{k} - \vec{l} = \vec{0}$ which spans a full three-dimensional volume of the phase-space parameterised with (\vec{k}, \vec{l}) . In our particular example, this can be remedied simply by adopting a different loop momentum basis containing the gluon propagator as a defining edge. This solution is not generic, since for a triple gluon vertex it is not possible to consider all three connected gluons to have an independent momentum. The general solution then involves combining multiple parameterisations using a *multi-channeling* technique discussed in section 5.4.1 and analogous to the one we already presented in section 5.2 of ref. [89]. Figure 13f showcases the suppression of the soft-singularity from multi-channeling. Notice that in all figures not involving multi-channeling, the integrand weight considered did not include the parameterisation Jacobian, since the objective was to focus on the behaviour of the integrand only. For our default choice of momentum routing, the Jacobian is anyway relatively shallow within our chosen sampling space projection. For multi-channeling, the combination of the three non-degenerate loop momentum bases of the supergraph results in a parameterisation Jacobian which is precisely the quantity responsible for achieving the dampening of the integrable singularities and it is therefore crucial that it be included in the weights displayed by the multi-channeling density plot. Furthermore, the multi-channelling figures are generated using the exact α Loop integrand function exposed to the integrator, which implies that it includes the numerical stability estimate and rescue system described in section 5.3.3 which exclaims the sparse spots in the density plot where the integrand is sent to zero as it failed the numerical stability requirement threshold. We find the expected suppression of the soft integrable singularity in figure 13f, but also see a complicated mangling resulting from the combined contributions of our input \vec{k} and \vec{l} re-interpreted for all three relevant loop momentum bases of the double-triangle supergraph. We stress that the visual complexity of the integrand can be deceptive since in practice highly discontinuous bounded functions with a lot of structures often converge significantly faster than smoother integrands that have integrable singularities, especially when considering adaptive Monte-Carlo sampling. We note however that, as shown in figure 16c, the multi-channeling strategy renders the integrand bounded only in the absence of a deformation. When a deformation is enabled, there remains an integrable singularity along the non-pinched E-surface cancelation diagonal line, which is however much less severe. The local UV counterterm discussed in section 6.1.1 is active as part of the integrands shown, but has no visible impact for our chosen value of $M_{\rm UV}^2 = 2Q^2$ and kinematic range (k_y, l_z) considered.

In figures 14 we visualise the double-triangle integrands with the dynamic deformation of section 5.3.4 enabled. The integrand visualised corresponds to the integrand $I_{\Gamma}(\vec{k})$ introduced in eq. (5.3). When multi-channeling is considered, the resulting integrand $I_{\Gamma}^{(MC)}(\vec{k})$ is defined to be $\sum_{\mathbf{b}_a \in \mathcal{B}_{\Gamma}} I_{\Gamma}^{(a)}(\vec{\Psi}_{\vec{k}}^{(b)})$ (see eq. (5.7)), with \mathbf{b}_b being the loop momentum basis shown in figure 2d. We remind the reader that the contour deformation is not the one constructed for the entire double-triangle supergraph (see vector field of figure 9), but it is constructed *independently* for each loop integral remaining in each Cutkosky cut contribution, so as to have real-valued momenta in the observable function and allow to separately accommodate the complex-conjugated causal prescription applying to loops appearing on the right-hand side of the Cutkosky cut. This implies that in the case of the cuts s_1^v and $\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathbf{y}}$ the remaining loops are triangles and their contour deformation must be constructed dynamically for each three-point external kinematics induced by the particular sampling point considered. The general solution for this problem discussed in section 5.3.4 is greatly simplified in the case of the double-triangle supergraph as one can show that the maximal overlap structure (see ref. [89]) contains only a single E-surface (the only one present) which moreover always admits the origin in its interior. Thus a radial deformation field with the origin as a source is a valid deformation. The integrands of figures 14 share most of the features already seen in figures 13 with the main difference being the expected regularisation of the E-surfaces, for example at the points labelled "A" and "D".

When following the collinear arc, we find blue regions (i.e. values approaching zero) in the density plots of $\text{Im}[I_{s_1^v}]$ (figure 14d) and $\text{Im}[I_{s_2^v}]$ (figure 14e) resulting from our dampening of the deformation on infrared singularities so as to retain the cancellation with their real-emission counterpart. This results in a non-trivial structure of the complex phase of the complete integrand (figure 14g) close to the integrable soft singularity. The multi-channeling procedure successfully dampens that soft singularity and yields an integrand whose real part (figure 14i) is now bounded and suitable for numerical integration. Note that the many discontinuities of the integrand are now not only related to the phase-space cuts but also stem from the Jacobian of our contour deformation, which is discontinuous due to the presence of a min function in the functional form of the dynamic normalisation of our deformation (see eq. 3.33 of ref. [89]).

Despite the introduction of a contour deformation, the differential cross-section is guaranteed to be real-valued as it eventually corresponds to the norm of an overall complexvalued amplitude. In the particular case of LU, this reality condition is realised through the existence of a complex-conjugated partner of each loop present in each Cutkosky cut contribution of each supergraph. The cancellation of the imaginary component of the cross-section only holds at the integrated level since in general it even involves terms belonging to different supergraphs (contrary to the accidentally symmetric double-triangle case where the two complex-conjugated triangle-loop partners happen to belong to the same supergraph). We use this fact to our advantage as a strong cross-check of the correctness of the LU implementation in α LOOP as well as an independent assessment of the reliability of the numerical accuracy reported by the Monte-Carlo integrator.

The series of figures 14 capture the core features of the LU integrand that we want to highlight, but it does not reveal more detailed aspects such as the complex phase of the argument since we always considered absolute value of its real and imaginary component. We therefore complement our visualisation with figures 15, where the colouring reveals the phase of the integrand and its shading marks isolines reveals the logarithmic progression of its magnitude across the plane. We find the expected phase-shift of $\pi/2$ of the virtual integrands when crossing the soft singularity along the collinear line as the deformation infrared dampening kicks in. When comparing the phase of $I_{s_2^v}$ in figure 15a and $I_{s_1^v}$ in figure 13b on their respective side of the collinear singularity where their deformation is active, we find a phase-shift of π stemming from the complex-conjugation of the causal prescription of the triangle loop placed on the left-hand side of the Cutkosky cut, which flips the sign of the deformation vector $\vec{\kappa}$. The combination of the virtual contribution shown in figure 15c has a constant phase along the collinear singularity since the real part is divergent and negative. Once the positive divergent real-emission contribution of figure 15d is added, we find in figure 15e that the cancellation of this large negative real part leaves off a remnant with a complicated phase structure. We observe in figure 15f that the multi-channeling procedure dampens the integrable singularity without disrupting much of the phase-structure of the overall integrand I_{Σ} around that region, as one expects since the multi-channeling Jacobian responsible for the dampening is purely real.

Finally, the interesting detailed structure around the soft configuration is hard to resolve within the selected range. For this reason, we also present alternative visualisations homing in on the region of interest in figs 16. This reveals many discontinuity lines that result from the interplay of the various competing constraints on the deformation normalisation realised through the different functional forms of the scaling factors λ_i of eq. 3.33 of ref. [89] which eventually send the deformation to zero on the soft point. The clipped regions of the 3D visualisation stem from discontinuities of I_{Σ} while the few "spots" on the multi-channeling plots come from evaluations deemed unstable by our strict precision requirements and consequently sent to zero. Comparing the normalisation of the z-axis scale between figures 16b and 16c highlights the impact of the multi-channeling on the integrable soft singularity. We note however that when a deformation is enabled (and only then), the multi-channeling treatment still leaves the integrand unbounded when approaching the soft singularity from the diagonal E-surface cancelling direction. This remaining integrable singularity does not severely increase the variance of the integrand for the double-triangle supergraph.



JHEP04 (2021) 104

Figure 13. Absolute value of the Local Unitarity integrand from α LOOP evaluated at $(\vec{k}, \vec{l}) = ((0, k_y, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}), (0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, l_z))$ for the semi-inclusive cross-section of the DT supergraph and various combination of Cutkoksy cuts and with no contour deformation. The log scale has been capped within the range $[10^{-3}, 10^5]$.



Figure 14. Similar visualisations as in figures 13 but for the absolute value of the real and imaginary parts of the Local Unitarity integrands of the double-triangle supergraph when enabling the contour deformation discussed in section 5.3.4. The contribution from the real-emission $2I_{\mathbf{s}_1^r}$ is not shown since it is not subject to a contour deformation and it is therefore identical to that of figure 13d. For the same reason, we have that $\text{Im}[I_{\Sigma}]$ is not shown since it is equal to $\text{Im}[I_{\mathbf{s}_1^v} + I_{\mathbf{s}_2^v}]$ of figure 14f.



JHEP04 (2021) 104

(e) I_{Σ} (all Cutkosky cut contributions) (f) $I_{\Sigma}^{(MC)}$ (multi-channeling and incl. param. jac.)

Figure 15. Complex 2D plots of the Local Unitarity double-triangle supergraph integrand from α LOOP evaluated at $(\vec{k}, \vec{l}) = ((0, k_y, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}), (0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, l_z))$ with a contour deformation enabled. The colour shading denotes logarithmic isolines of the norm of the integrand while the colour indicate the value of its complex phase.





various ranges of the input values (k_y, l_z) . The colour shading denotes logarithmic isolines of the norm of the integrand while the colour indicates Figure 16. Various 2D and 3D visualisations of the Local Unitarity double-triangle supergraph contour-deformed integrand from α Loop for the value of its complex phase.

 $I_{\Sigma}^{\rm (MC)}$ within $\left[0.65, 0.75\right]$ \times

(f) Close-up of [0.65, 0.75]

 I_{Σ} within [0.65, 0.75] \times

(e) Close-up of [0.65, 0.75]

(d) Zoom-in of I_{Σ} within $[0.5, 0.9] \times [0.5, 0.9]$

6.1.3 The self-energy supergraph

We now consider the self-energy supergraph. The main novelty for the self-energy supergraph compared to the double-triangle supergraph is the presence of a repeated propagator, which requires special treatment since both of them are put on-shell by the Cutkosky cut. We describe our general treatment of the self-energy renormalisation in section 4.1 which addresses this problem by considering a combination of the on-shell scheme renormalisation conditions together with a Taylor expansion of the self-energy around its on-shell point. We observe that the self-energy insertion does not require a complex contour deformation, since the pairwise cancellation of *all* E-surfaces of the self-energy corrections present on either side of the Cutkosky cut in $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_1^v}$ (figure 2a) and $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_2^v}$ (figure 2b) can never be spoiled by the observable function since it has the same kinematic dependence for both cuts. That is:

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathsf{v}}}(\{q_{e}\}_{e\in\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathsf{v}}}}) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathsf{v}}}(\{q_{e}\}_{e\in\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathsf{v}}}}) \ \forall (\vec{k},\vec{l}).$$
(6.14)

This property holds for all self-energy corrections at any order whose external propagators are cut by a Cutskosky cut.

In this section, we explicitly derive the local and integrated UV counterterm of the selfenergy routed as in figure 2a together with the corresponding renormalisation contribution. Similarly to our treatment of the triangle loop of the double-triangle supergraph in 6.2, we start by writing the factorising of the *bare* self-energy contribution from the rest of the self-energy supergraph as follows:

$$I_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}}^{(\mathrm{bare})} = K_{i}^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathrm{left}\right)} \frac{\mathrm{i}k_{ix}}{k^{2}} \Sigma_{xj} K_{j}^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}, \mathrm{right}\right)}$$
(6.15)

$$\Sigma(k,l) = (-\mathrm{i}g_s)(\mathrm{i})(-\mathrm{i}g_s)(-\mathrm{i})C_F\gamma^{\mu} \left[\frac{l}{l^2(l-k)^2}\right]\gamma^{\mu}.$$
(6.16)

The propagator $\frac{k_{ix}}{k^2}$ is put exactly on-shell by the Cutkosky cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\vee}}$ and we show in section 4.1 that as a result the treatment of the bare self-energy $I_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\vee}}^{(\text{bare})}$ and its corresponding mass renormalisation counterterm $I_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\vee}}^{(\delta m)}$, we obtain the following integrand:

$$I_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathbf{v}}} := I_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathbf{v}}}^{(\text{bare})} + I_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathbf{v}}}^{(\delta m)}$$

$$I_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathbf{v}}} = K^{(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathbf{v}}, \text{left})} \frac{\mathbf{i} \not{k}}{k^{0} + \|\vec{k}\|} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial k^{0}} \Sigma(k, l) \right] K^{(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathbf{v}}, \text{right})}$$

$$(6.17)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial k^{0}} \Sigma(k,l) = (-i)g_{s}^{2}C_{F}\gamma^{\mu}I^{se}\gamma^{\mu}$$

$$I^{(se)} = \frac{\partial}{\partial k^{0}}\frac{l}{l^{2}(l-k)^{2}} = \frac{2l(l^{0}-k^{0})}{l^{2}\left[(l-k)^{2}\right]^{2}},$$
(6.18)

which completes the description of the integrand $I_{\mathbf{s}_1^v}$ of the Local Unitarity representation for the cut \mathbf{s}_1^v of the SE supergraph. A key aspect of our construction is to perform the on-shell expansion around $k^0 - \|\vec{k}\|$ in eq. (6.17) of *only* the factorised self-energy energy $\sum_{ij}(k,l)$ and *not* the complete integrand, as it would then include the observable function which depends on the external momentum of the self-energy.
The expression derived here is different from the one considered in ref. [79] where the dispersive representation of the self-energy was used in order to *locally* extract its k^2 dependence necessary for regulating the on-shell propagator. We find the Taylor expansion approach preferable as it is better suited to manifestly accommodate on-shell renormalisation conditions while at the same time being systematic and suitable for automation.

The local UV counterterm is easily obtained from eq. (6.18), since its superficial degree of divergence of zero implies that only the leading term of the UV expansion needs to be retained while keeping the original numerator unexpanded:

$$\overline{I}^{(\text{se})} = \frac{2l'(l^0 - k^0)}{(l^2 - M_{\text{UV}}^2)^3}.$$
(6.19)

It is important to build the UV counterterm only after the on-shell Taylor expansion has been constructed, since it does not commute with the UV expansion.

In appendix A.2 we provide the details of the computation of the integrated counterpart of the local UV counterterm of eq. (6.19). In order to write the result with the LO contribution factorised, we sum the two integrated UV counterterms contributions arising from *both* self-energy loops to the left (\mathbf{c}_{s_1}) and right (\mathbf{c}_{s_2}) of the Cutkosky cuts:

$$\Delta \overline{I}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{(se)}}}^{(\mathrm{se)}} + \Delta \overline{I}_{\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}}}^{(\mathrm{se)}} = \frac{\alpha_{s}}{\pi} \left(\frac{C_{F}}{4} \left[-\frac{1}{\epsilon} + 1 - \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}} + \mathrm{o}(\epsilon) \right] \right) I^{(\mathrm{LO})} .$$
(6.20)

We then add the renormalisation contribution $\delta \overline{I}_q^{(se)}$ stemming from the same wavefunction renormalisation constant $Z_q^{(\overline{\text{MS}})}$ already given in (6.8):

$$\Delta \overline{I}_{s_1^{v}}^{(se)} + \Delta \overline{I}_{s_2^{v}}^{(se)} + \delta \overline{I}_q^{(se)} = \frac{\alpha_s}{\pi} \left(\frac{C_F}{4} \left[-\frac{1}{\epsilon} + 1 - \log_{M_{\rm UV}} \right] - \delta Z_q^{(\overline{\rm MS})} \right) I^{(\rm LO)}$$
$$= I^{(\rm LO)} \frac{\alpha_s}{\pi} C_F \left(\frac{1}{4} \left[-\frac{1}{\epsilon} + 1 - \log_{M_{\rm UV}} \right] + \frac{1}{4} \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} \right] \right) = \frac{\alpha_s}{\pi} I^{(\rm LO)} \frac{1}{4} C_F \left(-\log_{M_{\rm UV}} + 1 \right). \quad (6.21)$$

We stress that we must consider the wavefunction renormalisation in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme and *not* in the on-shell scheme. Our procedure still realises renormalisation in the on-shell scheme, in virtue of our particular choice for the self-energy on-shell expansion given in eq. (4.7).

When combining the integrated UV counterterms and renormalisation of eq. (6.11) for the triangle loop appearing in each of the *two* virtual Cutkosky cuts of the double-triangle supergraph as well as eq. (6.21) for *both* isomorphic self-energy supergraphs, we find the overall contribution from the UV regularisation to be $\left(-\frac{1}{2}\right) C_F \frac{\alpha_s}{\pi} I^{(\text{LO})}$.

The cancellation of the logarithmic contributions $\log_{M_{\rm UV}}$ results directly from the gauge cancellation between the vertex and quark wavefunction corrections. It also implies that the corresponding NLO QCD correction to $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$ has no residual dependency in the renormalisation scale as expected, since its Born contribution does not depend on $\alpha_s(\mu_r^2)$.

6.1.4 Results for the differential cross-section

For all numerical results and visualisations presented in this section, we choose $Q^{\mu} = p_1^{\mu} + p_2^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 1) + (1, 0, 0, -1), Q_d = -\frac{1}{3}, Q_e = -1, g_{EW} = 0.307954$ and $g_s = 1.21772$.

Contrib.	C.D.	$N_{\rm p} \ [10^6]$	$t/p \ [\mu s]$		MG54MC [pb]	aLOOP [pb]	$\Lambda [\sigma]$	٨ [%]			
			\min	avg	moonine [pb]	anoot [bb]	Δ [0]	ப [70]			
Inclusive cross-section											
LO	No	1035	0.06	6	7741.102(5)	7741.133(32)	1.0	0.04			
SE	No	2485	34	240	N/A	-91.7966(95)	N/A	0.01			
DT	Yes	780	72	658	N/A	474.34(11)	N/A	0.02			
DT	No	780	37	202	N/A	474.303(30)	N/A	0.006			
$2 \times \text{SE+DT}$	No	1035	108	752	290.768(6)	290.732(28)	1.3	0.01			
$2 \times \text{SE+DT}$	Yes	1035	124	1290	290.768(6)	290.78(11)	0.1	0.04			
$0.4 < p_t(j_1) < 0.8$											
LO	No	1035	0.06	20	2909.53(14)	2909.520(30)	0.07	0.005			
SE	No	780	25	304	N/A	3.624(11)	N/A	0.3			
DT	Yes	300	19	632	N/A	552.25(18)	N/A	0.03			
$2 \times SE + DT$	Yes	1035	48	830	559.41(72)	559.38(21)	0.04	0.13			

Table 1. Numerical results for the NLOQCD accurate (semi-)inclusive cross-section for the process $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma^* \rightarrow d\bar{d}$. The second column entitled "C.D." stands for "Contour Deformation".

The choice of the renormalisation scale is irrelevant for the process $e^-e^+ \rightarrow \gamma^* \rightarrow d\bar{d}$ studied in this section, but matters for the contribution of the individual self-energy and double-triangle supergraph which we report here as well. We therefore specify that we set μ_r equal to our choice of $M_{\rm UV} = \frac{Q^0}{2} = 1$, such that the integrated UV counterterms in eq. (6.11) and eq. (6.21) feature no logarithmic terms.

We present our results in table 1 for the inclusive and semi-inclusive cross-section within the acceptance cuts of eq. (6.13). When a deformation is enabled, we keep the defaults for the deformation of ref. [89] with an overall maximal deformation magnitude scaling $\lambda_{\text{max}} = 1$, together with its dampening on infrared singularities described in section 5.3.4.

The timing indicated by t/p min corresponds to the single-core time spent in the C routine for the double-precision evaluation of each numerator involved per sampling point. In this sense, this is the minimal time that one evaluation could possibly take. The timing indicated by **avg** corresponds to the effective actual timing per sampling point, including the overhead from the integrator, observable functions, the deformation construction, and most importantly additional processing in α LooP such as the stability tests that necessitate additional evaluations in double and sometimes quadruple precision arithmetic (see sect 5.3.3). At LO, the timing is dominated by the overhead in α LooP, which explains the significant increase when enabling the phase-space cut selection code. Both timings reported are for one sampling point *including the multi-channeling treatment*, which in the case of the process $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma^* \rightarrow d\bar{d}g$ implies three independent evaluation of the integrated cross-section is not reported but was found to always be compatible with zero given the Monte-Carlo uncertainty. The comparison of the result with and without a contour deformation enabled (only when the latter is possible) shows a moderate impact of

a factor of about three in the variance of the integrand. The increase in the runtime per sample when enabling the deformation is mostly due to the increase in fraction of unstable point that require a quadruple precision rescue. Note that since the heuristics described in section 5.3.4 for the computation of the deformation centres always apply for this simple process, there is no need for numerically solving a second-order cone program at run-time and therefore not a lot of time is spent in constructing the deformation. As can be seen in table 1, the infamous NLO K-factor of α_s/π (for entry 2×SE+DT) is very well reproduced by our implementation of numerical Local Unitarity.

We complement the (semi-)inclusive results of table 1 with the binned distribution of the transverse momentum of the leading reconstructed jet in figure 17. This observable is of little interest in the case of lepton collisions but was chosen to demonstrate the applicability of Local Unitarity to arbitrary observables. To the best of our knowledge, this result of humble appearance stands as the first NLOQCD accurate differential binned distribution ever computed without relying on IR counterterm and/or dimensional regulator.

Overall, we find excellent agreement between α LOOP and MADGRAPH5_AMC@NLO in both table 1 and figure 17. In particular, discrepancies are always within a couple of Monte Carlo standard deviations, with a *relative* accuracy of the NLO correction always below the percent mark, except for the region $0.2 < p_t(j_1) < 0.4$ where the distribution changes sign and therefore neighbours zero. These results and especially the reliability of the Monte Carlo accuracy reported, are indicative of the predictive power of our numerical implementation of Local Unitarity.

6.2 Individual scalar supergraphs

An important verification of the local properties of the LU representation is by testing whether the IR cancellation pattern is realised in practice in a Monte Carlo integration. The most direct test consists of integrating the overall contributions obtained by summing together all the interference diagrams corresponding to a fixed, higher-loop scalar supergraph Γ in the LU representation, $\sigma_{\Gamma} = d\sigma_{\Gamma}/d\mathcal{O}$ with constant observable. Scalar graphs do not have a numerator that could improve the IR behaviour and are not helped by gauge invariance or any property specific to physical theories in order to realise IR cancellations.

In table 2, we enumerate the massless scalar supergraphs whose LU representation can be numerically integrated using a Monte Carlo procedure. We divide these scalar supergraphs in three series: the diagrams labelled by a correspond to all of the three-loop supergraphs whose σ_{Γ} is non-zero and has no self-energy insertions; the diagrams labelled by b correspond to all of the four-loop supergraphs whose σ_{Γ} is finite, non-zero and has no self-energy insertions; and we selected three five-loop supergraphs, labelled by c.

The integration results, obtained via our implementation named α LOOP, are exhibited in table 3, along with the analytic result obtained through FORCER [48]. We also report the total number of sample points used for the integration, N_p, the minimum evaluation time per sample and per core (that is, the time for one single evaluation of the integrand in double precision on one Intel(R) Xeon(R) Gold 6136 CPU @ 3.00GH core) and the average evaluation time per sample, which includes the sum over all integration channels, the numerical stability checks and the dynamic stability rescue mechanisms. We also report



Figure 17. Comparison of the differential prediction for NLOQCD correction to the observable $p_t(j_1)$ for the process $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma^* \rightarrow d\bar{d}$ as obtained from MADGRAPH5_AMC@NLO and α LOOP. The Monte-Carlo sampling for this run with α LOOP is $5 \cdot 10^9$ points. The dashed pattern indicates when a contribution is negative.



Table 2. List of scalar supergraphs whose corresponding cross-section contribution is computed in 3. They are divided in three series: a) 3-loop supergraphs, b) 4-loop supergraphs, c) 5-loop supergraphs. Grey edges and black edges do not intersect each other, but overlap due to the planar embedding.

the number of integration channels N_{ch} and the ratio $\Delta [\sigma]$ of the discrepancy w.r.t. the exact result with the Monte Carlo error, and the relative size $\Delta [\%]$ of this discrepancy.

We find that all numerical integrations yield results that are within three sigma of the analytic result with Monte Carlo errors at the percent level or better. Overall, the results undoubtedly confirm that the integrands are stable and well-behaved. We observe that the b.16 supergraph requires double the sampling points to achieve a relative error below 2%.

The differences in the evaluation time across the topologies considered, both minimal and average, is related to a variety of factors, including the number of interference diagrams arising from the supergraph and the number of integration channels. Another determining factor is the overall numerical stability of the integrand: indeed, a worse stability implies that a larger fraction of sampling points trigger the numerical stability rescue mechanism, which significantly slows does the evaluation of the integrand which is then performed using quadruple precision arithmetics.

7 Conclusion

In this paper, we have presented a general and systematic way to construct a representation of differential cross-sections that is locally free of IR divergences. Given an observable and scattering process, the procedure yields an integrand free of (non-integrable) singularities and whose integral reproduces physical differential cross-sections. We call the new expression of the differential cross-section its *Local Unitarity* (LU) representation. Our framework ultimately achieves two objectives: first, it shows that the appearance of infrared singularities is a feature of traditional calculation methods and not a fundamental attribute of physical theories (a statement already implicitly contained in the KLN theorem) and second, it provides a concrete method well-suited for an automated and fully numerical computation of physical observables.

CI
E.
ΪTΪ
Ю
\bigcirc
Þ
\frown
\mathbb{N}
\bigcirc
\mathbb{N}
\vdash
\smile
\vdash
\bigcirc

Г	$\rm N_p \ [10^6]$	t/p [µs]		N ,	EQPCEP $[C_0 V^2]$	$\alpha LOOP [CoV^2]$	ovp	Λ [σ]	∧ [%]		
		\min	avg	Nch	FORCER [Gev]		exp.		⊔ [/0]		
Inclusive cross-section per supergraph											
a.1	1	5	450	16	5.75396	5.7530(46)	-6	0.21	0.00017		
a.2	1	10	690	16	-5.75396	-5.763(11)	-6	0.82	0.0016		
a.3	1	25	1400	16	-5.75396	-5.771(23)	-6	0.74	0.0039		
b.1	1	150	6600	45	-1.04773	-1.0459(23)	-7	0.79	0.0017		
b.2	1	270	39000	45	-1.04773	-1.0457(21)	-7	0.97	0.0029		
b.3	1	320	52000	81	-1.04773	-1.0448(21)	-7	1.4	0.0028		
b.4	1	740	96000	75	-1.04773	-1.0455(22)	-7	1.0	0.0021		
b.5	1	340	20000	45	-1.04773	-1.0441(23)	-7	1.6	0.0035		
b.6	1	350	12000	45	-1.04773	-1.0434(26)	-7	1.7	0.0042		
b.7	1	1800	180000	81	-1.04773	-1.0563(51)	-7	1.7	0.0081		
b.8	1	1400	120000	75	-1.04773	-1.0526(42)	-7	1.2	0.0046		
b.9	1	1200	36000	45	-1.04773	-1.0439(27)	-7	1.4	0.0037		
b.10	1	1100	32000	45	-1.04773	-1.0488(29)	-7	0.37	0.0010		
b.11	1	1100	54000	45	-1.04773	-1.0516(35)	-7	1.1	0.0037		
b.12	1	1100	30000	45	-1.04773	-1.0473(30)	-7	0.14	0.00041		
b.13	1	2700	83000	45	-1.04773	-1.040(15)	-7	0.51	0.0074		
b.14	1	3100	110000	75	-2.09546	-2.123(12)	-7	2.3	0.0130		
b.15	1	3100	210000	81	-2.09546	-2.1045(67)	-7	1.3	0.0043		
b.16	2	1800	120000	75	-5.23865	-5.312(65)	-8	1.1	0.014		
c.1	1	1100	49000	128	1.66419	1.6691(79)	-9	0.62	0.0029		
c.2	1	900	46000	130	1.77832	1.7752(71)	-9	0.44	0.0018		
c.3	1	1600	69000	130	1.77832	1.7797(33)	-9	0.42	0.00077		

Table 3. Values of σ_{Γ} (that is, the integrated sum of all interference diagrams arising from Γ , or inclusive cross-section per supergraph) for the supergraphs listed in 2 computed with α LOOP for $Q^{\mu} = (1, \vec{0})$ and compared with benchmark results from FORCER [48]. The table includes the total number of samples used for each integration, N_p, the number of integration channels N_{ch} (see section 5.4.1), the minimum and average per sample evaluation time of the integrand t/p, and the relative discrepancy with respect to the standard deviation Δ [σ] and numerical result Δ [%].

Achieving both of these objectives inherently requires an in-depth study of the singular structure of Feynman integrals, of phase space integrals and their relationship. We use the Loop-Tree Duality (LTD framework) to express loop integration on the same footing as phase space integration. Once amplitudes are re-expressed using their LTD representation, a clear picture emerges: all the interference diagrams that correspond to a particular Cutkosky cut of the same forward scattering topology (i.e. supergraph) can be collected under the same integral sign, and their sum is finite. This principle effectively establishes how to collect and group interference diagrams into classes that are infrared finite. We even identify that cancellations between IR singularities happens pairwise. More specifically, if an interference diagram has an IR singularity, there exists a unique distinct other interference diagram which exhibits the exact same IR singularity so that they sum up to an integrable quantity on the location of said singularity. One of the core issues in constructing an integrand that realises IR cancellation locally while simultaneously yielding differential cross-sections once integrated, is that of aligning the phase space measures. Part of this task is performed through the LTD formalism, along with the choice of a consistent loop momentum across all interference diagrams corresponding to the same supergraph. The other fundamental component allows one to solve simultaneously all of the Dirac delta functions imposing the energy conservation of on-shell external particles: the causal flow. The simplest form of this flow amounts to a trivial rescaling of all loop variables, but its most generic solution naturally follows from the general solution to a contour deformation encoding the Feynman prescription associated to each propagator. The causal flow is an essential ingredient to the construction of the function whose integral yields the physical cross-section, and is used for the all-order proof of local cancellations of final-state IR divergences in the LU representation.

Aligning the integration measures also provides a solution to the problem of automating the calculation of differential cross-sections, as it allows for the systematic construction of an integrand especially well-suited for Monte Carlo integration. In order to corroborate and demonstrate the workings of the LU representation in practical cases, we provided the results of the numerical integration of the LU representation for a variety of example scalar supergraphs. Furthermore, we explicitly unfolded our theoretical construction for the NLO correction to the differential cross-section of the physical process $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$.

This paper opens up new horizons both in the understanding of the analytical properties of observable quantities calculated perturbatively in QFTs and in the ambitious goal of achieving the complete automation of the calculation of physical cross-sections for collider experiments beyond NLO accuracy. It goes without saying that, ultimately, these two goals are inextricable, and can potentially lead to a radically different understanding of QFTs as we know them.

We expect the foundational work laid out in this paper to serve as a stepping stone for its many implications, both regarding the theoretical understanding of initial and final state infrared singularities and its concrete applications to the computation of higher-order perturbative corrections for collider phenomenology.

Acknowledgments

We thank Armin Schweitzer for useful input and exchanges regarding the UV treatment in Local Unitarity. We also thank Charalampos Anastasiou, Stefano Frixione and Dario Kermanschah for fruitful discussions. We are grateful to Davison Soper for his attentive reading of our work and insightful comments. This project has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under grant agreement No 694712 (PertQCD) and SNSF grant No 179016.

A Integrated UV counterterms for the NLO correction to $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$

A.1 Double-triangle supergraph

In this section, we explicitly derive the result given in (6.6). We first drop the term linear in k that integrates to zero and arrive at:

$$\Delta \bar{I}^{\mu} = \int \frac{\tilde{d}k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{(d-2) \left(k^2 \gamma^{\mu} - 2k^{\mu} k\right)}{\left(k^2 - M_{\rm UV}^2\right)^3} = \left[2\gamma^{\mu} g^{\rho_1 \rho_2} - 4\gamma^{\rho_2} g^{\mu \rho_1}\right] (d-2) \int \frac{\tilde{d}k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{k_{\rho_1} k_{\rho_2}}{\left(k^2 - M_{\rm UV}^2\right)^3}.$$
 (A.1)

The tadpole tensor integral in (A.1) can be evaluated using the usual decomposition in the only manifestly Lorentz invariant structure $g^{\rho_1 \rho_2}$:

$$\int \frac{\tilde{d}k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{k^{\rho_1} k^{\rho_2}}{\left(k^2 - M_{\rm UV}^2\right)^3} = Ag^{\rho_1 \rho_2}, \ A = \frac{1}{d} \int \frac{\tilde{d}k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{k^2}{\left(k^2 - M_{\rm UV}^2\right)^3},\tag{A.2}$$

followed by an elementary reduction step:

$$A = \frac{1}{d} \int \frac{\tilde{d}k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{k^2}{\left[k^2 - M_{\rm UV}^2\right]^3} = \frac{1}{d} \left[\int \frac{\tilde{d}k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\left[k^2 - M_{\rm UV}^2\right]^2} - (-M_{\rm UV}^2) \int \frac{\tilde{d}k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\left[k^2 - M_{\rm UV}^2\right]^3} \right],$$
(A.3)

together with the general expression for a scalar tadpole integral (see for instance eq. (3) of ref. [172]):

$$V_a^{(d)} := \int \frac{d^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{1}{[k^2 + M^2]^a} = \frac{(M^2)^{\frac{d}{2} - a}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma(a - \frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(a)},$$
(A.4)

eventually yielding:

$$A = \frac{1}{4 - 2\epsilon} \left(\frac{\mu^2}{4\pi e^{-\gamma}}\right)^{\epsilon} \frac{(-M_{\rm UV}^2)^{\frac{4-2\epsilon}{2}-2}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \left[\frac{\Gamma(2 - \frac{4-2\epsilon}{2})}{\Gamma(2)} - \frac{\Gamma(3 - \frac{4-2\epsilon}{2})}{\Gamma(3)}\right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{4 - 2\epsilon} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\frac{\mu^2}{-M_{\rm UV}^2 e^{-\gamma}}\right)^{\epsilon} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\epsilon)}{\Gamma(2)} - \frac{\Gamma(1+\epsilon)}{\Gamma(3)}\right]$$
(A.5)

which we can expand to order $o(\epsilon)$, arriving at:

$$A = \frac{1}{64\pi^2} \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \underbrace{\log \frac{\mu^2}{-M_{\rm UV}^2}}_{:=\log_{M_{\rm UV}}} + o(\epsilon) \right],\tag{A.6}$$

where we introduced the shorthand notation $\log_{M_{\rm UV}}$ for the omnipresent logarithm involving the UV mass regulator $M_{\rm UV}^2$ since the tadpole nature of all integrated counterterms is such that it will always appear together with μ_r^2 and never any other scale.

The presence of the negative sign in $-M_{\rm UV}^2$ calls for a regulator in order to set the sign of the imaginary part of the logarithm. The local UV counterterm of (6.5) will be

cast into its (c)LTD representation while assuming a causal Feynman prescription $+i\delta$ in the denominator of the UV propagator. This choice dictates what is the correct branch to select for the evaluation of $\log_{M_{\rm UV}}$. For this process at NLO we note that the particular sign of this imaginary part is irrelevant as it would always cancel between the two integrated counterterms arising from the loop integrals sitting to the left and right of the Cutkosky cut, since in the latter case the complex conjugation flips the sign of the causal prescription.

Substituting (A.6) in (A.2) gives:

$$\Delta \bar{I}^{\mu}(l,Q) = \left[\gamma^{\mu}g^{\rho_{1}\rho_{2}} - 2\gamma^{\rho_{2}}g^{\mu\rho_{1}}\right]g_{\rho_{1}\rho_{2}}(d-2)\left[\frac{1}{64\pi^{2}}\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon\right)\right)\right]$$
$$= \gamma^{\mu}\frac{1}{64\pi^{2}}\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}}\right)(d-2)^{2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon\right) = \gamma^{\mu}\frac{1}{16\pi^{2}}\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} - 2 + \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon\right)\right).$$
(A.7)

We can then insert (A.7) in (6.3) and (6.2) in order to obtain the final expression of the integrated UV counterterm $\Delta \overline{I}_{s_1^v}$ of the complete DT supergraph:

$$\Delta \overline{I}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}} = K_{\mu}^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{left}}\right)} \left(g_{\mathrm{s}}^{2} C_{F}\left[\left(-\mathrm{i}\right) g_{\gamma d \bar{d}}\right] \gamma_{i j}^{\mu} \frac{1}{16\pi^{2}} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} - 2 + \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}}\right)\right) K_{i j}^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{right}}\right)}$$

$$= \underbrace{\frac{\alpha_{s}}{\pi}}_{\mathrm{K-factor}} \left[K_{\mu}^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{left}}\right)} \underbrace{\left(-\mathrm{i}\right) g_{\gamma d \bar{d}} \gamma^{\mu}}_{\mathrm{LO \ form-factor}} K^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{right}}\right)}\right] \frac{1}{4} C_{F} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} - 2 + \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}}\right)$$

$$= \frac{\alpha_{s}}{\pi} I^{(\mathrm{LO})} \left[\frac{1}{4} C_{F} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} - 2 + \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}}\right)\right]. \tag{A.8}$$

A.2 Self-energy supergraph

We provide here a detailed computation of the integrated counterpart of the local UV counterterms given in (6.19) for the self-energy supergraph appearing in the NLO QCD correction of the process $e^+e^- \rightarrow d\bar{d}$. To this end, it is useful to write it in a manifesly Lorentz invariant fashion by introducing the reference vector $\eta^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 0, ...)$, where the dots denote the (d-4)-dimensional orthogonal subspace. We find

$$\Delta \overline{I}^{(\text{se})} = \int \frac{\tilde{d}k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{2ll \cdot \eta}{(l^2 - M_{\text{UV}}^2)^3} = \gamma^{\mu} \eta^{\nu} \int \frac{\tilde{d}k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{2l^{\mu}l^{\nu}}{(l^2 - M_{\text{UV}}^2)^3} = \# \frac{1}{32\pi^2} \Big[\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log_{M_{\text{UV}}} + o(\epsilon) \Big],$$
(A.9)

where we have immediately removed the linear contribution from the numerator since it integrates to zero and recycled the expression for the tensor integral found in A.2. In order to obtain the complete integrated UV counterterm, we must re-insert $\Delta \overline{I}^{(se)}$ into (6.18) and (6.17):

$$\Delta \overline{I}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{(se)}}}^{(\mathrm{se)}} = K^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{left}}\right)} \frac{\mathbf{i} \not{k}}{k^{0} + \|\vec{k}\|} \left[\left(-\mathbf{i}\right) g_{s}^{2} C_{F} \gamma^{\mu} \left(\not{\eta} \frac{1}{32\pi^{2}} \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}} + \mathbf{o}(\epsilon)\right] \right) \gamma^{\mu} \right] K^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{right}}\right)}$$
$$= K^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{left}}\right)} \frac{\not{k} \not{\eta}}{k^{0} + \|\vec{k}\|} \left(\frac{\left(2 - d\right) g_{s}^{2} C_{F}}{32\pi^{2}} \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}} + \mathbf{o}(\epsilon)\right] \right) K^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{right}}\right)}$$
$$= K_{i}^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{left}}\right)} \frac{\not{k} \not{\eta}}{k^{0} + \|\vec{k}\|} \frac{\alpha_{s}}{\pi} \left(\frac{C_{F}}{4} \left[-\frac{1}{\epsilon} + 1 - \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}} + \mathbf{o}(\epsilon)\right] \right) K^{\left(\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v},\mathrm{right}}\right)}$$
(A.10)

JHEP04 (2021) 104

where we used the identity $\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}\gamma^{\mu} = (2-d)\gamma^{\nu}$. In order to demonstrate the factorisation of the LO supergraph, we must consider the sum of the contributions from both Cutkosky cuts $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\nu}}$ and $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\nu}}$. The cut $\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\nu}}$ yields a derivation fully analogous to the one carried out in this section, with the exception that the on-shell propagator being regulated is sitting to the right of self-energy, so that one naturally arrives at the same expression as (A.10) but with the Lorentz structure ηk in place of $k \eta$. We then observe that:

$$\frac{\not k \eta + \eta \not k}{k^0 + \|\vec{k}\|} = \frac{2k \cdot \eta}{k^0 + \|\vec{k}\|} = \frac{2k^0}{k^0 + \|\vec{k}\|} = 1, \tag{A.11}$$

where we used the fact that both Cutkosky cuts of the SE supergraph force the on-shell condition $k^0 = \|\vec{k}\|$. Using the fact that that $K_i^{(\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathsf{v}}, \mathrm{left})} K_i^{(\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathsf{v}}, \mathrm{right})} = K_i^{(\mathbf{s}_2^{\mathsf{v}}, \mathrm{left})} K_i^{(\mathbf{s}_2^{\mathsf{v}}, \mathrm{right})} = I^{(\mathrm{LO})}$, we can finally rewrite $\Delta \overline{I}_{\mathbf{s}_1^{\mathsf{v}}}^{(\mathrm{se})} + \Delta \overline{I}_{\mathbf{s}_2^{\mathsf{v}}}^{(\mathrm{se})}$ as follows:

$$\Delta \overline{I}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}^{\mathrm{v}}}^{(\mathrm{se})} + \Delta \overline{I}_{\mathbf{s}_{2}^{\mathrm{v}}}^{(\mathrm{se})} = \frac{\alpha_{s}}{\pi} \left(\frac{C_{F}}{4} \left[-\frac{1}{\epsilon} + 1 - \log_{M_{\mathrm{UV}}} + \mathrm{o}(\epsilon) \right] \right) I^{(\mathrm{LO})}.$$
(A.12)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- G.J. van Oldenborgh and J.A.M. Vermaseren, New Algorithms for One Loop Integrals, Z. Phys. C 46 (1990) 425 [INSPIRE].
- [2] J.A.M. Vermaseren, New features of FORM, math-ph/0010025 [INSPIRE].
- [3] H. Tanaka, T. Kaneko and Y. Shimizu, Numerical calculation of Feynman amplitudes for electroweak theories and an application to e⁺e⁻toW⁺W⁻ gamma, Comput. Phys. Commun. 64 (1991) 149 [INSPIRE].
- [4] J. Fujimoto et al., GRACE/SUSY automatic generation of tree amplitudes in the minimal supersymmetric standard model, Comput. Phys. Commun. 153 (2003) 106
 [hep-ph/0208036] [INSPIRE].
- [5] J. Kublbeck, M. Böhm and A. Denner, Feyn Arts: Computer Algebraic Generation of Feynman Graphs and Amplitudes, Comput. Phys. Commun. 60 (1990) 165 [INSPIRE].
- [6] T. Stelzer and W.F. Long, Automatic generation of tree level helicity amplitudes, Comput. Phys. Commun. 81 (1994) 357 [hep-ph/9401258] [INSPIRE].
- [7] A. Pukhov et al., CompHEP: A Package for evaluation of Feynman diagrams and integration over multiparticle phase space, hep-ph/9908288 [INSPIRE].
- [8] F. Krauss, R. Kuhn and G. Soff, AMEGIC++ 1.0: A Matrix element generator in C++, JHEP 02 (2002) 044 [hep-ph/0109036] [INSPIRE].
- [9] T. Ohl, O'Mega & WHIZARD: Monte Carlo event generator generation for future colliders, AIP Conf. Proc. 578 (2001) 638 [hep-ph/0011287] [INSPIRE].
- [10] F. Maltoni and T. Stelzer, MadEvent: Automatic event generation with MadGraph, JHEP
 02 (2003) 027 [hep-ph/0208156] [INSPIRE].

- T. Gleisberg, S. Hoeche, F. Krauss, A. Schalicke, S. Schumann and J.-C. Winter, SHERPA 1. alpha: A Proof of concept version, JHEP 02 (2004) 056 [hep-ph/0311263] [INSPIRE].
- [12] A. Pukhov, CalcHEP 2.3: MSSM, structure functions, event generation, batchs, and generation of matrix elements for other packages, hep-ph/0412191 [INSPIRE].
- [13] V. Hirschi, R. Frederix, S. Frixione, M.V. Garzelli, F. Maltoni and R. Pittau, Automation of one-loop QCD corrections, JHEP 05 (2011) 044 [arXiv:1103.0621] [INSPIRE].
- [14] J. Alwall et al., The automated computation of tree-level and next-to-leading order differential cross sections, and their matching to parton shower simulations, JHEP 07 (2014) 079 [arXiv:1405.0301] [INSPIRE].
- [15] F. Cascioli, P. Maierhofer and S. Pozzorini, Scattering Amplitudes with Open Loops, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 111601 [arXiv:1111.5206] [INSPIRE].
- [16] Z. Bern et al., The BlackHat Library for One-Loop Amplitudes, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 523 (2014) 012051 [arXiv:1310.2808] [INSPIRE].
- [17] G. Cullen et al., Automated One-Loop Calculations with GoSam, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 1889 [arXiv:1111.2034] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Actis, A. Denner, L. Hofer, J.-N. Lang, A. Scharf and S. Uccirati, *RECOLA: REcursive Computation of One-Loop Amplitudes*, *Comput. Phys. Commun.* 214 (2017) 140 [arXiv:1605.01090] [INSPIRE].
- [19] S. Frixione, Z. Kunszt and A. Signer, Three jet cross-sections to next-to-leading order, Nucl. Phys. B 467 (1996) 399 [hep-ph/9512328] [INSPIRE].
- [20] S. Catani and M.H. Seymour, A General algorithm for calculating jet cross-sections in NLO QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 485 (1997) 291 [Erratum ibid. 510 (1998) 503] [hep-ph/9605323]
 [INSPIRE].
- [21] G. Somogyi, Subtraction with hadronic initial states at NLO: An NNLO-compatible scheme, JHEP 05 (2009) 016 [arXiv:0903.1218] [INSPIRE].
- [22] J. Currie, E.W.N. Glover and J. Pires, Next-to-Next-to Leading Order QCD Predictions for Single Jet Inclusive Production at the LHC, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 072002 [arXiv:1611.01460] [INSPIRE].
- [23] M. Czakon, A novel subtraction scheme for double-real radiation at NNLO, Phys. Lett. B 693 (2010) 259 [arXiv:1005.0274] [INSPIRE].
- [24] R. Boughezal, F. Caola, K. Melnikov, F. Petriello and M. Schulze, *Higgs boson production in association with a jet at next-to-next-to-leading order*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **115** (2015) 082003 [arXiv:1504.07922] [INSPIRE].
- [25] G. Somogyi, Z. Trócsányi and V. Del Duca, Matching of singly- and doubly-unresolved limits of tree-level QCD squared matrix elements, JHEP 06 (2005) 024 [hep-ph/0502226] [INSPIRE].
- [26] V. Del Duca et al., Jet production in the CoLoRFulNNLO method: event shapes in electron-positron collisions, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 074019 [arXiv:1606.03453] [INSPIRE].
- [27] M. Grazzini, S. Kallweit and M. Wiesemann, Fully differential NNLO computations with MATRIX, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 537 [arXiv:1711.06631] [INSPIRE].
- [28] L. Cieri, X. Chen, T. Gehrmann, E.W.N. Glover and A. Huss, *Higgs boson production at the LHC using the* q_T *subtraction formalism at* N^3LO *QCD*, *JHEP* **02** (2019) 096 [arXiv:1807.11501] [INSPIRE].

- [29] R. Boughezal et al., Color singlet production at NNLO in MCFM, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 7 [arXiv:1605.08011] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M. Cacciari, F.A. Dreyer, A. Karlberg, G.P. Salam and G. Zanderighi, Fully Differential Vector-Boson-Fusion Higgs Production at Next-to-Next-to-Leading Order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 082002 [Erratum ibid. 120 (2018) 139901] [arXiv:1506.02660] [INSPIRE].
- [31] F. Caola, K. Melnikov and R. Röntsch, Nested soft-collinear subtractions in NNLO QCD computations, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 248 [arXiv:1702.01352] [INSPIRE].
- [32] F. Herzog, Geometric IR subtraction for final state real radiation, JHEP 08 (2018) 006 [arXiv:1804.07949] [INSPIRE].
- [33] L. Magnea, E. Maina, G. Pelliccioli, C. Signorile-Signorile, P. Torrielli and S. Uccirati, Local analytic sector subtraction at NNLO, JHEP 12 (2018) 107 [Erratum ibid. 06 (2019) 013] [arXiv:1806.09570] [INSPIRE].
- [34] F.V. Tkachov, A Theorem on Analytical Calculability of Four Loop Renormalization Group Functions, Phys. Lett. B 100 (1981) 65 [INSPIRE].
- [35] K.G. Chetyrkin and F.V. Tkachov, Integration by Parts: The Algorithm to Calculate β -functions in 4 Loops, Nucl. Phys. B **192** (1981) 159 [INSPIRE].
- [36] P.A. Baikov, Explicit solutions of the multiloop integral recurrence relations and its application, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 389 (1997) 347 [hep-ph/9611449] [INSPIRE].
- [37] V.A. Smirnov and O.L. Veretin, Analytical results for dimensionally regularized massless on-shell double boxes with arbitrary indices and numerators, Nucl. Phys. B 566 (2000) 469 [hep-ph/9907385] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S. Larin, F. Tkachov and J. Vermaseren, The FORM version of MINCER, https://github.com/benruijl/forcer, https://www.nikhef.nl/ form/maindir/packages/mincer/mincer.html.
- [39] C. Anastasiou, T. Gehrmann, C. Oleari, E. Remiddi and J.B. Tausk, The Tensor reduction and master integrals of the two loop massless crossed box with lightlike legs, Nucl. Phys. B 580 (2000) 577 [hep-ph/0003261] [INSPIRE].
- [40] S. Laporta, High precision calculation of multiloop Feynman integrals by difference equations, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15 (2000) 5087 [hep-ph/0102033] [INSPIRE].
- [41] C. Anastasiou and A. Lazopoulos, Automatic integral reduction for higher order perturbative calculations, JHEP 07 (2004) 046 [hep-ph/0404258] [INSPIRE].
- [42] A.V. Smirnov and V.A. Smirnov, Applying Grobner bases to solve reduction problems for Feynman integrals, JHEP 01 (2006) 001 [hep-lat/0509187] [INSPIRE].
- [43] R.N. Lee, Group structure of the integration-by-part identities and its application to the reduction of multiloop integrals, JHEP 07 (2008) 031 [arXiv:0804.3008] [INSPIRE].
- [44] P. Kant, Finding Linear Dependencies in Integration-By-Parts Equations: A Monte Carlo Approach, Comput. Phys. Commun. 185 (2014) 1473 [arXiv:1309.7287] [INSPIRE].
- [45] A. von Manteuffel and R.M. Schabinger, A novel approach to integration by parts reduction, Phys. Lett. B 744 (2015) 101 [arXiv:1406.4513] [INSPIRE].
- [46] P. Mastrolia, T. Peraro and A. Primo, Adaptive Integrand Decomposition in parallel and orthogonal space, JHEP 08 (2016) 164 [arXiv:1605.03157] [INSPIRE].

- [47] A.V. Smirnov, FIRE5: a C++ implementation of Feynman Integral REduction, Comput. Phys. Commun. 189 (2015) 182 [arXiv:1408.2372] [INSPIRE].
- [48] B. Ruijl, T. Ueda and J.A.M. Vermaseren, Forcer, a FORM program for the parametric reduction of four-loop massless propagator diagrams, Comput. Phys. Commun. 253 (2020) 107198 [arXiv:1704.06650] [INSPIRE].
- [49] P. Maierhöfer, J. Usovitsch and P. Uwer, Kira—A Feynman integral reduction program, Comput. Phys. Commun. 230 (2018) 99 [arXiv:1705.05610] [INSPIRE].
- [50] A.V. Smirnov and F.S. Chuharev, FIRE6: Feynman Integral REduction with Modular Arithmetic, Comput. Phys. Commun. 247 (2020) 106877 [arXiv:1901.07808] [INSPIRE].
- [51] T. Peraro, FiniteFlow: multivariate functional reconstruction using finite fields and dataflow graphs, JHEP 07 (2019) 031 [arXiv:1905.08019] [INSPIRE].
- [52] H. Frellesvig, F. Gasparotto, M.K. Mandal, P. Mastrolia, L. Mattiazzi and S. Mizera, Vector Space of Feynman Integrals and Multivariate Intersection Numbers, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 201602 [arXiv:1907.02000] [INSPIRE].
- [53] T. Peraro, Scattering amplitudes over finite fields and multivariate functional reconstruction, JHEP 12 (2016) 030 [arXiv:1608.01902] [INSPIRE].
- [54] J. Böhm, A. Georgoudis, K.J. Larsen, M. Schulze and Y. Zhang, Complete sets of logarithmic vector fields for integration-by-parts identities of Feynman integrals, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 025023 [arXiv:1712.09737] [INSPIRE].
- [55] D.A. Kosower, Direct Solution of Integration-by-Parts Systems, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 025008 [arXiv:1804.00131] [INSPIRE].
- [56] T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, Differential equations for two loop four point functions, Nucl. Phys. B 580 (2000) 485 [hep-ph/9912329] [INSPIRE].
- [57] A.V. Kotikov, Differential equations method: New technique for massive Feynman diagrams calculation, Phys. Lett. B 254 (1991) 158 [INSPIRE].
- [58] C.G. Papadopoulos, D. Tommasini and C. Wever, Two-loop Master Integrals with the Simplified Differential Equations approach, JHEP 01 (2015) 072 [arXiv:1409.6114] [INSPIRE].
- [59] R. Bonciani et al., Evaluating a family of two-loop non-planar master integrals for Higgs + jet production with full heavy-quark mass dependence, JHEP 01 (2020) 132
 [arXiv:1907.13156] [INSPIRE].
- [60] F. Moriello, Generalised power series expansions for the elliptic planar families of Higgs + jet production at two loops, JHEP 01 (2020) 150 [arXiv:1907.13234] [INSPIRE].
- [61] M.L. Czakon and M. Niggetiedt, Exact quark-mass dependence of the Higgs-gluon form factor at three loops in QCD, JHEP 05 (2020) 149 [arXiv:2001.03008] [INSPIRE].
- [62] E. Remiddi and J.A.M. Vermaseren, Harmonic polylogarithms, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15 (2000) 725 [hep-ph/9905237] [INSPIRE].
- [63] A.B. Goncharov, Multiple polylogarithms, cyclotomy and modular complexes, Math. Res. Lett. 5 (1998) 497 [arXiv:1105.2076] [INSPIRE].
- [64] F.C.S. Brown, Polylogarithmes multiples uniformes en une variable, Compt. Rend. Math.
 338 (2004) 527 [INSPIRE].

- [65] C. Duhr, Hopf algebras, coproducts and symbols: an application to Higgs boson amplitudes, JHEP 08 (2012) 043 [arXiv:1203.0454] [INSPIRE].
- [66] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat and L. Tancredi, Elliptic polylogarithms and iterated integrals on elliptic curves II: an application to the sunrise integral, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 116009 [arXiv:1712.07095] [INSPIRE].
- [67] G. Passarino, Elliptic Polylogarithms and Basic Hypergeometric Functions, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 77 [arXiv:1610.06207] [INSPIRE].
- [68] J. Ablinger Raab et al., Iterated Elliptic and Hypergeometric Integrals for Feynman Diagrams, J. Math. Phys. 59 (2018) 062305 [arXiv:1706.01299] [INSPIRE].
- [69] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, B. Penante and L. Tancredi, *Elliptic polylogarithms and Feynman parameter integrals*, *JHEP* **05** (2019) 120 [arXiv:1902.09971] [INSPIRE].
- [70] E. Remiddi and L. Tancredi, An Elliptic Generalization of Multiple Polylogarithms, Nucl. Phys. B 925 (2017) 212 [arXiv:1709.03622] [INSPIRE].
- [71] C. Anastasiou and K. Melnikov, Higgs boson production at hadron colliders in NNLO QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 646 (2002) 220 [hep-ph/0207004] [INSPIRE].
- [72] C. Anastasiou and K. Melnikov, Pseudoscalar Higgs boson production at hadron colliders in NNLO QCD, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 037501 [hep-ph/0208115] [INSPIRE].
- [73] C. Anastasiou, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, F. Herzog and B. Mistlberger, *Higgs Boson Gluon-Fusion Production in QCD at Three Loops*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **114** (2015) 212001 [arXiv:1503.06056] [INSPIRE].
- [74] C. Anastasiou et al., High precision determination of the gluon fusion Higgs boson cross-section at the LHC, JHEP 05 (2016) 058 [arXiv:1602.00695] [INSPIRE].
- [75] C. Duhr, F. Dulat and B. Mistlberger, Higgs Boson Production in Bottom-Quark Fusion to Third Order in the Strong Coupling, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 051804
 [arXiv:1904.09990] [INSPIRE].
- [76] L.-B. Chen, H.T. Li, H.-S. Shao and J. Wang, Higgs boson pair production via gluon fusion at N³LO in QCD, Phys. Lett. B 803 (2020) 135292 [arXiv:1909.06808] [INSPIRE].
- [77] F. Dulat, B. Mistlberger and A. Pelloni, Precision predictions at N³LO for the Higgs boson rapidity distribution at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 034004 [arXiv:1810.09462]
 [INSPIRE].
- [78] F. Herzog, B. Ruijl, T. Ueda, J.A.M. Vermaseren and A. Vogt, On Higgs decays to hadrons and the R-ratio at N⁴LO, JHEP 08 (2017) 113 [arXiv:1707.01044] [INSPIRE].
- [79] D.E. Soper, Techniques for QCD calculations by numerical integration, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 014009 [hep-ph/9910292] [INSPIRE].
- [80] D.E. Soper, Choosing integration points for QCD calculations by numerical integration, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 034018 [hep-ph/0103262] [INSPIRE].
- [81] M. Krämer and D.E. Soper, Next-to-leading order numerical calculations in Coulomb gauge, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 054017 [hep-ph/0204113] [INSPIRE].
- [82] M. Krämer and D.E. Soper, Next-to-leading order QCD calculations with parton showers. 1. Collinear singularities, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 054019 [hep-ph/0306222] [INSPIRE].
- [83] D.E. Soper, Next-to-leading order QCD calculations with parton showers. 2. Soft singularities, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 054020 [hep-ph/0306268] [INSPIRE].

- [84] D.E. Soper, BEOWULF documentation and distribution, https://pages.uoregon.edu/soper/beowulf.
- [85] S. Catani, T. Gleisberg, F. Krauss, G. Rodrigo and J.-C. Winter, From loops to trees by-passing Feynman's theorem, JHEP 09 (2008) 065 [arXiv:0804.3170] [INSPIRE].
- [86] I. Bierenbaum, S. Catani, P. Draggiotis and G. Rodrigo, A Tree-Loop Duality Relation at Two Loops and Beyond, JHEP 10 (2010) 073 [arXiv:1007.0194] [INSPIRE].
- [87] R. Runkel, Z. Szőr, J.P. Vesga and S. Weinzierl, Causality and loop-tree duality at higher loops, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122** (2019) 111603 [Erratum ibid. **123** (2019) 059902]
 [arXiv:1902.02135] [INSPIRE].
- [88] Z. Capatti, V. Hirschi, D. Kermanschah and B. Ruijl, Loop-Tree Duality for Multiloop Numerical Integration, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 151602 [arXiv:1906.06138] [INSPIRE].
- [89] Z. Capatti, V. Hirschi, D. Kermanschah, A. Pelloni and B. Ruijl, Numerical Loop-Tree Duality: contour deformation and subtraction, JHEP 04 (2020) 096 [arXiv:1912.09291] [INSPIRE].
- [90] F. Driencourt-Mangin, G. Rodrigo, G.F.R. Sborlini and W.J. Torres Bobadilla, Universal four-dimensional representation of $H \to \gamma \gamma$ at two loops through the Loop-Tree Duality, JHEP **02** (2019) 143 [arXiv:1901.09853] [INSPIRE].
- [91] J.J. Aguilera-Verdugo et al., Open Loop Amplitudes and Causality to All Orders and Powers from the Loop-Tree Duality, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 211602
 [arXiv:2001.03564] [INSPIRE].
- [92] J.J. Aguilera-Verdugo, R.J. Hernandez-Pinto, G. Rodrigo, G.F.R. Sborlini and W.J. Torres Bobadilla, *Causal representation of multi-loop Feynman integrands within the loop-tree duality*, *JHEP* **01** (2021) 069 [arXiv:2006.11217] [INSPIRE].
- [93] Z. Capatti, V. Hirschi, D. Kermanschah, A. Pelloni and B. Ruijl, Manifestly Causal Loop-Tree Duality, arXiv:2009.05509 [INSPIRE].
- [94] J.C. Collins, D.E. Soper and G.F. Sterman, Transverse Momentum Distribution in Drell-Yan Pair and W and Z Boson Production, Nucl. Phys. B 250 (1985) 199 [INSPIRE].
- [95] J.C. Collins, D.E. Soper and G.F. Sterman, Soft Gluons and Factorization, Nucl. Phys. B 308 (1988) 833 [INSPIRE].
- [96] J.C. Collins, D.E. Soper and G.F. Sterman, Factorization of Hard Processes in QCD, Adv. Ser. Direct. High Energy Phys. 5 (1989) 1 [hep-ph/0409313] [INSPIRE].
- [97] R. Akhoury, Mass Divergences of Wide Angle Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 19 (1979) 1250 [INSPIRE].
- [98] S. Catani, The Singular behavior of QCD amplitudes at two loop order, Phys. Lett. B 427 (1998) 161 [hep-ph/9802439] [INSPIRE].
- [99] G.F. Sterman and M.E. Tejeda-Yeomans, Multiloop amplitudes and resummation, Phys. Lett. B 552 (2003) 48 [hep-ph/0210130] [INSPIRE].
- [100] G.F. Sterman, Partons, factorization and resummation, TASI 95, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics (TASI 95): QCD and Beyond, 6, 1995, hep-ph/9606312 [INSPIRE].
- [101] L.J. Dixon, L. Magnea and G.F. Sterman, Universal structure of subleading infrared poles in gauge theory amplitudes, JHEP 08 (2008) 022 [arXiv:0805.3515] [INSPIRE].

- [102] E. Gardi and L. Magnea, Infrared singularities in QCD amplitudes, Nuovo Cim. C 32N5-6 (2009) 137 [arXiv:0908.3273] [INSPIRE].
- T. Becher and M. Neubert, Infrared singularities of scattering amplitudes in perturbative QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 162001 [Erratum ibid. 111 (2013) 199905]
 [arXiv:0901.0722] [INSPIRE].
- [104] I. Feige and M.D. Schwartz, Hard-Soft-Collinear Factorization to All Orders, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 105020 [arXiv:1403.6472] [INSPIRE].
- [105] C. Anastasiou and G. Sterman, Removing infrared divergences from two-loop integrals, JHEP 07 (2019) 056 [arXiv:1812.03753] [INSPIRE].
- [106] T. Becher and M. Neubert, Infrared singularities of scattering amplitudes and N³LL resummation for n-jet processes, JHEP 01 (2020) 025 [arXiv:1908.11379] [INSPIRE].
- [107] C. Anastasiou, R. Haindl, G. Sterman, Z. Yang and M. Zeng, Locally finite two-loop amplitudes for off-shell multi-photon production in electron-positron annihilation, arXiv:2008.12293 [INSPIRE].
- [108] F. Bloch and A. Nordsieck, Note on the Radiation Field of the electron, Phys. Rev. 52 (1937) 54 [INSPIRE].
- [109] T. Kinoshita, Mass singularities of Feynman amplitudes, J. Math. Phys. 3 (1962) 650 [INSPIRE].
- [110] T.D. Lee and M. Nauenberg, Degenerate Systems and Mass Singularities, Phys. Rev. 133 (1964) B1549 [INSPIRE].
- [111] G. 't Hooft and M.J.G. Veltman, Regularization and Renormalization of Gauge Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 44 (1972) 189 [INSPIRE].
- [112] C.G. Bollini and J.J. Giambiagi, Dimensional Renormalization: The Number of Dimensions as a Regularizing Parameter, Nuovo Cim. B 12 (1972) 20 [INSPIRE].
- [113] J.F. Ashmore, A Method of Gauge Invariant Regularization, Lett. Nuovo Cim. 4 (1972) 289 [INSPIRE].
- [114] G.F.R. Sborlini, F. Driencourt-Mangin, R. Hernandez-Pinto and G. Rodrigo, Four-dimensional unsubtraction from the loop-tree duality, JHEP 08 (2016) 160 [arXiv:1604.06699] [INSPIRE].
- [115] G.F.R. Sborlini, F. Driencourt-Mangin and G. Rodrigo, Four-dimensional unsubtraction with massive particles, JHEP 10 (2016) 162 [arXiv:1608.01584] [INSPIRE].
- [116] R.J. Hernandez-Pinto, G.F.R. Sborlini and G. Rodrigo, Towards gauge theories in four dimensions, JHEP 02 (2016) 044 [arXiv:1506.04617] [INSPIRE].
- [117] J.J. Aguilera-Verdugo et al., Causality, unitarity thresholds, anomalous thresholds and infrared singularities from the loop-tree duality at higher orders, JHEP 12 (2019) 163
 [arXiv:1904.08389] [INSPIRE].
- [118] S. Ramírez-Uribe, R.J. Hernández-Pinto, G. Rodrigo, G.F.R. Sborlini and W.J. Torres Bobadilla, Universal opening of four-loop scattering amplitudes to trees, arXiv:2006.13818 [INSPIRE].
- [119] W. Gong, Z. Nagy and D.E. Soper, Direct numerical integration of one-loop Feynman diagrams for N-photon amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 033005 [arXiv:0812.3686]
 [INSPIRE].

- [120] J. Collins, A new and complete proof of the Landau condition for pinch singularities of Feynman graphs and other integrals, arXiv:2007.04085 [INSPIRE].
- [121] G.F. Sterman, An Introduction to quantum field theory, Cambridge University Press, U.K. (1993).
- [122] K. Melnikov and V.G. Serbo, Processes with the T channel singularity in the physical region: Finite beam sizes make cross-sections finite, Nucl. Phys. B 483 (1997) 67 [Erratum ibid. 662 (2003) 409] [hep-ph/9601290] [INSPIRE].
- [123] R.E. Cutkosky, Singularities and discontinuities of Feynman amplitudes, J. Math. Phys. 1 (1960) 429 [INSPIRE].
- [124] G.F. Sterman, Mass Divergences in Annihilation Processes. 1. Origin and Nature of Divergences in Cut Vacuum Polarization Diagrams, Phys. Rev. D 17 (1978) 2773 [INSPIRE].
- [125] N.N. Bogoliubov and O.S. Parasiuk, On the Multiplication of the causal function in the quantum theory of fields, Acta Math. 97 (1957) 227 [INSPIRE].
- [126] K. Hepp, Proof of the Bogolyubov-Parasiuk theorem on renormalization, Commun. Math. Phys. 2 (1966) 301 [INSPIRE].
- [127] W. Zimmermann, Convergence of Bogolyubov's method of renormalization in momentum space, Commun. Math. Phys. 15 (1969) 208 [INSPIRE].
- [128] Z. Kunszt, A. Signer and Z. Trócsányi, One loop helicity amplitudes for all 2 → 2 processes in QCD and N = 1 supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 411 (1994) 397 [hep-ph/9305239] [INSPIRE].
- [129] I. Jack, D.R.T. Jones and K.L. Roberts, Equivalence of dimensional reduction and dimensional regularization, Z. Phys. C 63 (1994) 151 [hep-ph/9401349] [INSPIRE].
- [130] W.B. Kilgore, Regularization Schemes and Higher Order Corrections, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 114005 [arXiv:1102.5353] [INSPIRE].
- [131] C. Gnendiger et al., To d, or not to d: recent developments and comparisons of regularization schemes, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 471 [arXiv:1705.01827] [INSPIRE].
- [132] Z.-G. Xiao, G. Yang and C.-J. Zhu, The rational parts of one-loop QCD amplitudes I: The general formalism, Nucl. Phys. B 758 (2006) 1 [hep-ph/0607015] [INSPIRE].
- P. Draggiotis, M.V. Garzelli, C.G. Papadopoulos and R. Pittau, Feynman Rules for the Rational Part of the QCD 1-loop amplitudes, JHEP 04 (2009) 072 [arXiv:0903.0356]
 [INSPIRE].
- [134] S. Pozzorini, H. Zhang and M.F. Zoller, Rational terms in two-loop calculations, PoS RADCOR2019 (2019) 081 [arXiv:2006.02852] [INSPIRE].
- [135] S. Pozzorini, H. Zhang and M.F. Zoller, Rational Terms of UV Origin at Two Loops, JHEP 05 (2020) 077 [arXiv:2001.11388] [INSPIRE].
- [136] J.-N. Lang, S. Pozzorini, H. Zhang and M.F. Zoller, Two-Loop Rational Terms in Yang-Mills Theories, JHEP 10 (2020) 016 [arXiv:2007.03713] [INSPIRE].
- [137] C. Degrande, C. Duhr, B. Fuks, D. Grellscheid, O. Mattelaer and T. Reiter, UFO The Universal FeynRules Output, Comput. Phys. Commun. 183 (2012) 1201 [arXiv:1108.2040]
 [INSPIRE].
- [138] P. Nogueira, Automatic Feynman graph generation, J. Comput. Phys. 105 (1993) 279
 [INSPIRE].

- [139] B. Ruijl, T. Ueda and J. Vermaseren, FORM version 4.2, arXiv:1707.06453 [INSPIRE].
- [140] J. Kuipers, T. Ueda and J.A.M. Vermaseren, Code Optimization in FORM, Comput. Phys. Commun. 189 (2015) 1 [arXiv:1310.7007] [INSPIRE].
- [141] B. Ruijl, A. Plaat, J. Vermaseren and J. van den Herik, Why Local Search Excels in Expression Simplification, arXiv:1409.5223 [INSPIRE].
- [142] A. Domahidi, E. Chu and S. Boyd, ECOS: An SOCP solver for embedded systems, in European Control Conference (ECC) (2013) pp. 3071–3076.
- [143] R. Runkel, Z. Szőr, J.P. Vesga and S. Weinzierl, Integrands of loop amplitudes within loop-tree duality, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 116014 [arXiv:1906.02218] [INSPIRE].
- [144] A. Denner, S. Dittmaier, M. Roth and D. Wackeroth, RACOONWW1.3: A Monte Carlo program for four fermion production at e⁺e⁻ colliders, Comput. Phys. Commun. 153 (2003) 462 [hep-ph/0209330] [INSPIRE].
- [145] S. Becker, C. Reuschle and S. Weinzierl, Efficiency Improvements for the Numerical Computation of NLO Corrections, JHEP 07 (2012) 090 [arXiv:1205.2096] [INSPIRE].
- [146] S. Plätzer, RAMBO on diet, arXiv:1308.2922 [INSPIRE].
- [147] G.P. Lepage, VEGAS: An adaptive multidimensional integration program.
- [148] T. Hahn, The CUBA library, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 559 (2006) 273 [hep-ph/0509016]
 [INSPIRE].
- [149] G.P. Lepage, Adaptive Multidimensional Integration: VEGAS Enhanced, arXiv:2009.05112 [INSPIRE].
- [150] R. Kleiss and R. Pittau, Weight optimization in multichannel Monte Carlo, Comput. Phys. Commun. 83 (1994) 141 [hep-ph/9405257] [INSPIRE].
- [151] J. Bendavid, Efficient Monte Carlo Integration Using Boosted Decision Trees and Generative Deep Neural Networks, arXiv:1707.00028 [INSPIRE].
- [152] M.D. Klimek and M. Perelstein, Neural Network-Based Approach to Phase Space Integration, SciPost Phys. 9 (2020) 053 [arXiv:1810.11509] [INSPIRE].
- [153] S. Otten et al., Event Generation and Statistical Sampling for Physics with Deep Generative Models and a Density Information Buffer, arXiv:1901.00875 [INSPIRE].
- [154] I.-K. Chen, M.D. Klimek and M. Perelstein, Improved Neural Network Monte Carlo Simulation, SciPost Phys. 10 (2021) 023 [arXiv:2009.07819] [INSPIRE].
- [155] T. Müller, B. McWilliams, F. Rousselle, M. Gross and J. Novák, Neural importance sampling, CoRR (2018), arXiv:1808.03856.
- [156] D.J. Rezende and S. Mohamed, Variational inference with normalizing flows, arXiv:1505.05770.
- [157] G. Papamakarios, E. Nalisnick, D.J. Rezende, S. Mohamed and B. Lakshminarayanan, Normalizing flows for probabilistic modeling and inference, arXiv:1912.02762.
- [158] C. Gao, S. Höche, J. Isaacson, C. Krause and H. Schulz, Event Generation with Normalizing Flows, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 076002 [arXiv:2001.10028] [INSPIRE].
- [159] C. Gao, J. Isaacson and C. Krause, *i-flow: High-dimensional Integration and Sampling with Normalizing Flows*, Mach. Learn. Sci. Tech. 1 (2020) 045023 [arXiv:2001.05486]
 [INSPIRE].

- [160] E. Bothmann, T. Janßen, M. Knobbe, T. Schmale and S. Schumann, Exploring phase space with Neural Importance Sampling, SciPost Phys. 8 (2020) 069 [arXiv:2001.05478]
 [INSPIRE].
- [161] N. Deutschmann and N. Gotz, Automated Neural Importance Sampling with the ZuNIS library, to appear.
- [162] S. Carrazza and J.M. Cruz-Martinez, VegasFlow: accelerating Monte Carlo simulation across multiple hardware platforms, Comput. Phys. Commun. 254 (2020) 107376 [arXiv:2002.12921] [INSPIRE].
- [163] A. Denner, S. Dittmaier, M. Roth and D. Wackeroth, *Predictions for all processes* $e^+e^- \rightarrow 4 \ fermions + gamma, Nucl. Phys. B 560 (1999) 33 [hep-ph/9904472] [INSPIRE].$
- [164] A. Denner, S. Dittmaier, M. Roth and L.H. Wieders, *Electroweak corrections to charged-current* e⁺e⁻ → 4 *fermion processes: Technical details and further results*, *Nucl. Phys. B* **724** (2005) 247 [*Erratum ibid.* **854** (2012) 504] [hep-ph/0505042] [INSPIRE].
- [165] R. Frederix, S. Frixione, V. Hirschi, D. Pagani, H.S. Shao and M. Zaro, The automation of next-to-leading order electroweak calculations, JHEP 07 (2018) 185 [arXiv:1804.10017]
 [INSPIRE].
- [166] S. Becker and S. Weinzierl, Direct numerical integration for multi-loop integrals, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2321 [arXiv:1211.0509] [INSPIRE].
- [167] W. Beenakker, S. Dittmaier, M. Krämer, B. Plumper, M. Spira and P.M. Zerwas, NLO QCD corrections to tt
 H production in hadron collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 653 (2003) 151
 [hep-ph/0211352] [INSPIRE].
- [168] S.D. Ellis and D.E. Soper, Successive combination jet algorithm for hadron collisions, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) 3160 [hep-ph/9305266] [INSPIRE].
- [169] M. Cacciari, FastJet: A Code for fast k_t clustering, and more, in 41st Rencontres de Moriond: QCD and Hadronic Interactions, 7, 2006, hep-ph/0607071 [INSPIRE].
- [170] R.K. Ellis, D.A. Ross and A.E. Terrano, Calculation of Event Shape Parameters in e⁺e⁻ Annihilation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 45 (1980) 1226 [INSPIRE].
- [171] E. Gardi and L. Magnea, The C parameter distribution in e⁺e⁻ annihilation, JHEP 08 (2003) 030 [hep-ph/0306094] [INSPIRE].
- [172] M. Steinhauser, MATAD: A Program package for the computation of MAssive TADpoles, Comput. Phys. Commun. 134 (2001) 335 [hep-ph/0009029] [INSPIRE].